
 
 

 
 

 

AGENDA FOR THE EXECUTIVE 
 

 
Date: Monday, 11 October 2021 
  
Time: 6.00 pm 
  
Venue: Collingwood Room - Civic Offices 

 
 
Executive Members: 
 
 
 
 
 
Councillor S D T Woodward, Policy and Resources (Executive Leader) 

Councillor T M Cartwright, MBE, Health and Public Protection (Deputy Executive 
Leader) 

Councillor I Bastable, Streetscene 

Councillor F Birkett, Housing 

Councillor S D Martin, Planning and Development 

Councillor Mrs S M Walker, Leisure and Community 

 

 
 

 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 

 

1. Apologies for Absence  

2. Minutes (Pages 5 - 8) 

 To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the Executive held on 
30 September 2021. 
 

3. Executive Leader's Announcements  

4. Declarations of Interest  

 To receive any declarations of interest from members in accordance with Standing 
Orders and the Council’s Code of Conduct. 
 

5. Petitions  

6. Deputations  

 To receive any deputations, of which notice has been lodged. 
 

7. References from Other Committees  

 To receive any references from the committees or panels held. 
 

Matters for Decision in Public 
 

Note: Where an urgent item of business is raised in accordance with Part 3 of the 
Constitution, it will be considered with the relevant service decisions as appropriate. 

8. Housing  

Key Decision 
 

(1) Local Authority Delivery Phase 2 (LAD2) Funding scheme for energy 
efficiency measures to Council homes (Pages 9 - 12) 

 A report by the Deputy Chief Executive Officer. 
 

Non-Key Decision 
 

(2) Draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy - Consultation (Pages 
13 - 190) 

 A report by the Deputy Chief Executive Officer.  
 

9. Streetscene  

Key Decision 
 

(1) Sustainable In-Bloom and Floral Displays (Pages 191 - 200) 

 A report by the Head of Streescene. 
 

10. Policy and Resources  

Page 2



 

 

Key Decision 
 

(1) Agency Staff Recruitment (Pages 201 - 208) 

 A report by the Director of Support Services.  
 

Non-Key Decision 
 

(2) Proposal for a new way of working (Pages 209 - 230) 

 A report by the Deputy Chief Executive Officer. 
 

(3) The Council's Approach to the Pandemic - A Review (Pages 231 - 246) 

 A report by the Chief Executive Officer.  
 

 
P GRIMWOOD 
Chief Executive Officer 
 
www.fareham.gov.uk  
30 September 2021 

 
 
 

For further information please contact: 
Democratic Services, Civic Offices, Fareham, PO16 7AZ 

Tel: 01329 236100 
democraticservices@fareham.gov.uk  

Page 3

http://www.fareham.gov.uk/
mailto:democraticservices@fareham.gov.uk




 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Minutes of the 
Executive 

 

(to be confirmed at the next meeting) 

 
Date: Thursday, 30 September 2021 
  
Venue: Council Chamber - Civic Offices 

 
 
Present:  
 S D T Woodward, Policy and Resources (Executive Leader) 

T M Cartwright, MBE, Health and Public Protection (Deputy 
Executive Leader) 
I Bastable, Streetscene 
F Birkett, Housing 
Mrs S M Walker, Leisure and Community 

 
Also in attendance: 
 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



Executive  30 September 2021 
 

 
 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
An apology for absence was received from Councillor S D Martin. 
 

2. MINUTES  
 
The minutes of the meeting of the Executive held on Tuesday 21 September 
2021 were tabled at the meeting for consideration. 
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Executive held on 21 
September 2021 be confirmed and signed as a correct record.  
 

3. EXECUTIVE LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
There were no Executive Leader announcements. 
 

4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest made at this meeting.  
 

5. PETITIONS  
 
There were no petitions submitted at this meeting. 
 

6. DEPUTATIONS  
 
There were no deputations made at this meeting.  
 

7. REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES  
 
Leisure & Community Scrutiny Panel – 29 September 2021 
 
Item 6 – Restarting of the remodelling of Fareham Live project 
 
The Panel received a report from the Director of Leisure and Community which 
provided an opportunity for Members to pre-scrutinise the Executive report on 
restarting the remodelling of the Fareham Live Project.  
 
RESOLVED that the Leisure and Community Scrutiny Panel:- 
 

a) notes the contents of the Executive report at Appendix 1; and  
 

b) passes the following comments to the Executive for consideration at 
their meeting on the 30 September 2021. Members of the Leisure and 
Community Scrutiny Panel agreed that: -  

 
i) the Fareham Live project is a key part of the regeneration of 

Fareham Town Centre and without support would have a 
detrimental effect on the Council’s Town Centre Vision; 
 

Page 6



Executive  30 September 2021 
 

ii) the Panel recognise the importance of the venue for many 
community organisations, and the need for such a facility to serve 
the existing and growing population in the Borough; 

 
iii) the risk profile for the project has changed but on balance are 

minded to support the project at this time; and  
 

iv) Officers and Members of the Ferneham Hall Working Group be 
thanked for their work to move the project forward, particularly 
during these challenging times.  

 
This item was considered at item 8(1) on the agenda.  
 

8. LEISURE AND COMMUNITY  
 
(1) Restarting the remodelling of the Fareham Live Project  
 
The comments of the Leisure and Community Scrutiny Panel were taken into 
account in considering this item. 
 
RESOLVED that the Executive: 
 

(a) approves the recommencement of work on the Fareham Live project; 
 

(b) approves the updated contractual principles and programme with B H 
Live; 

 
(c) approves the updated budget of £13.35m for construction works; and 

 
(d) notes the potential cost saving opportunities presented and agrees to 

remain with the original vision.   
 

(The meeting started at 5.00 pm 
and ended at 5.12 pm). 

 
 

Page 7





 
 

Report to the Executive for Decision 
11 October 2021 

 

Portfolio: Housing 

Subject:   
Local Authority Delivery Phase 2 (LAD2) funding scheme 
for energy efficiency measures to Council homes 

Report of: The Deputy Chief Executive Officer 

Corporate Priorities: Providing Housing Choices 

  

Purpose:  
To provide an overview of the LAD2 funding opportunity which will improve the 
energy efficiency of many Council homes.  
 

 

Executive summary: 
The second phase of the Local Authority Delivery scheme (LAD) was launched in 
spring 2021 and is now open for applications.  This funding is aimed at improving 
the energy efficiency of homes for low-income households.  This would typically 
consist of improvements to insulation or, in some instances, installation of solar 
panels. The scheme in Fareham is being co-ordinated by the SW Energy Hub and 
will be delivered by City Energy. 
 
The Council would be required to fund up to £5,000 or 1/3 of the works, per 
property; LAD2 funding will typically cover the remaining 2/3 of the costs of the 
improvement measures. A total budget of £150,000 will be incorporated into the 
HRA capital programme over the next 2-3 financial years to ensure this funding 
opportunity can be utilised.  
 
This report seeks approval to enter into an appropriate contract with City Energy for 
works to the Council’s social housing stock.  Approval is also sought for the funding 
arrangements, incorporated into the HRA capital programme over the next 2-3 
financial years. 

 

Recommendation: 
It is recommended that the Executive agrees: 
 

(a) that entering into a contract for the works which facilitate the use of LAD2 
funding be delegated to the Deputy Chief Executive Officer; and 
 

(b) the funding mechanisms to meet the Council’s contribution toward the costs 
of the works. 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 8(1)



 

Reason: 
To meet the commitments in the Housing Greener Policy and the Fareham Borough 
Council Climate Change Action Plan. 
 

 

Cost of proposals: 
The Council is required to fund up to £5,000 or 1/3 of the works, per property.  A 
total budget of £150,000 will be incorporated into the HRA capital programme over 
the next 2-3 financial years in line with the required spend profile to qualify for LAD2 
funding. 
 

 
Appendices:  None 

 
 
Background papers: The Fareham Housing Greener Policy 
 

The Fareham Borough Council Climate Change Action Plan. 
  
    
Reference papers: None

Page 10



 

 
 

 

 
 

Executive Briefing Paper 
 

Date:   11 October 2021 

Subject:   Local Authority Delivery Phase 2 (LAD2) funding scheme for energy 
efficiency measures to Council homes 

Briefing by:   The Deputy Chief Executive Officer 

Portfolio:   Housing 

 
 

INTRODUCTION 

1. Phase 2 of the Local Authority Delivery scheme (LAD) was launched in spring 2021 with 
funding of £300m being allocated to Local Energy Hubs.  The Hubs would then appoint 
delivery organisations to undertake the works in partnership with Local Authorities.  The 
aim of the scheme is to improve the energy efficiency of homes of low-income 
households.   

2. On 16 December 2019 the Executive approved the Fareham Housing Greener Policy.  
On the 7 June the Executive approved the Fareham Borough Council Climate Change 
Action Plan.  Both documents set out actions to invest in the energy efficiency of our 
social housing stock, with the aim of ensuring our tenants can afford warm homes and 
maximise grant funding opportunities.  The LAD2 funding provides the perfect 
opportunity to deliver on these commitments. 

THE LOCAL AUTHORITY DELIVERY PHASE 2 (LAD2) SCHEME 

3. LAD2 is the second phase of the Government Local Authority Delivery scheme. The 
intention of LAD is to improve the household energy efficiency for those on low income.  
The scheme is open until the end of the year and is aimed at properties with poor 
energy efficiency.  These have been stipulated as homes with an Energy Performance 
Certificate (EPC) of D or lower.  A cap of £30,000 combined income per household has 
also been set to ensure the works target those who need help the most. 

4. The delivery of LAD2 differs to the first phase. In this wave the Local Energy Hub (the 
SW Energy Hub in the Solent region) appoints a managing agent to co-ordinate and 
undertake the improvement works.  This is in contrast to previous waves where the local 
authority would apply for funding directly.  This means that LAD2 is a simpler process; 
the managing agent is responsible for confirming works, overseeing delivery, arranging 
procurement, and submitting audit information.  Therefore, officers can focus just on 
tenant engagement rather than the usual intensive requirements of a bid process.   

5. LAD2 is open to both private and social households. The scope of this report is limited 
to the Council’s own residential properties.  The remit for this type of funding for private 
households falls elsewhere in the Council. 

Page 11



6. The requirements of LAD2 stipulate that properties should have an EPC of D or lower to 
be considered for the scheme, and also that the household income should not exceed 
£30,000.  City Energy, the agent appointed by the SW Energy Hub, has been able to 
confirm that 47 properties have been identified for further detailed surveys and works.    
There is potential for more properties to be incorporated into future waves of the LAD2 
scheme, should this become available. 

7. The purpose of the LAD2 scheme is to improve energy efficiency and best practice is to 
target the thermal insulation. This means that wall and roof insulation will likely be the 
first measure implemented.  Modelling will be undertaken by City Energy to look at the 
energy efficiency measures currently in place and where potential improvements could 
be made.  Then site surveys will confirm the works and identify whether any other 
enhancements, such as solar panels, could be fitted.  The nature of the works means 
that although there will be some disruption, it is not likely that tenants will need to move. 

8. It is likely that the majority of LAD2 funding will be used towards improvements to 
Council houses rather than flats. Flats are far more complex in terms of energy 
efficiency improvements. A separate piece of work is already underway (also grant 
funded) to help the Council understand the best and most cost-effective solution for 
Council flatted stock. 

FUNDING ARRANGEMENTS 

9. As with all the LAD schemes, the Council will be required to contribute towards 
improvement costs.  This contribution will typically be up to £5,000 or 1/3 of the works, 
per property.  However, in the unlikely event that the total cost went over £5,000, the 
Council would need to contribute the net difference.  

10. A total budget of £150,000 will be incorporated into the HRA capital programme over 
the next 2-3 financial years to ensure this funding opportunity can be utilised. This also 
allows for a small contingency / flexibility to best use the grant opportunity available.  
This cost to the HRA will utilise existing budgets for improvements to Council stock 
rather than any new budgetary provision. In many instances it will allow us to access 
grant funding toward work that would have already fallen within our planned 
maintenance programme. 

CONCLUSION 

11. The LAD2 scheme provides an excellent opportunity to improve the energy efficiency of 
our stock.  This will deliver on the principles of our Fareham Housing Greener Policy 
and the Fareham Borough Council Climate Change Action Plan.  More energy efficient 
homes will also help to drive down energy costs for our Council tenants. 

 

 
 

Enquiries: 

For further information on this report please contact Fleur Allaway (Ext 4304)  

Page 12



 
 

Report to the Executive for Decision 
11 October 2021 

 

Portfolio: Housing 

Subject:   
Draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy - 
Consultation 

Report of: Deputy Chief Executive Officer 

Corporate Priorities: Providing Housing Choices 

  

Purpose:  
To approve the draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy for an eight-week 
period of public consultation. 
 

 

Executive summary: 
The Homelessness Act 2002 requires all housing authorities to review 
homelessness in their area and produce a new homelessness strategy, based on 
the review findings, every five years. Following a comprehensive review of 
homelessness in Fareham, a new Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy is 
now proposed. 
 
The draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2022 – 2025 can be found at 
Appendix A and a draft Delivery Plan can be found at Appendix B. 
 
The review of homelessness in Fareham, undertaken by Neil Morland & Co Housing 
Consultants, considered all the activities being carried out to tackle homelessness in 
the Borough and assessed whether the activities are reflective of good practice, 
deliver good outcomes for people experiencing homelessness, and are of value for 
money.   
 
The Strategy has been drafted using the results of research, data analysis and 
benchmarking. It has also been developed through consultation with key partners, 
staff, service users and elected Members.  Full details can be found in The Review 
of Homelessness in Fareham at Appendix C. 
 
The Strategy builds on the successes of the previous strategy and has been 
developed in the context of the new provisions and duties of the Homelessness 
Reduction Act 2017 which came into force in April 2018 and the Government’s 
Rough Sleeping Strategy 2018-27. 
 
This draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy is recommended for 
publication for an eight-week period of public consultation. This will provide the local 
community and other interested parties the opportunity to comment on the content 

Page 13

Agenda Item 8(2)



of the Strategy and accompanying Delivery Plan. Following this period, and once 
any necessary amendments are incorporated, it is intended that the Homelessness 
and Rough Sleeping Strategy will be presented to the Executive for adoption. 
 
An Equality Impact Assessment of the Strategy will be undertaken before it is 
recommended for adoption. 
 

 

Recommendation/Recommended Option: 
It is recommended that the Executives agrees that: 
 

(a) the draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy, as provided in 
Appendix A to the report, and accompanying Delivery Plan, as provided in 
Appendix B to the report, are published for an eight-week period of public 
consultation; and 
 

(b) the Deputy Chief Executive Officer, following consultation with the Executive 
Member for Housing, is authorised to make any necessary minor 
amendments to the draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy and 
accompanying Delivery Plan, prior to publication, provided these do not 
change the overall direction or emphasis. 

 

 

Reason: 
To undertake a period of public consultation as part of the on-going progression of 
the Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy.  
 
 

 

Cost of proposals: 
The costs of publication and consultation are covered in existing operational 
budgets. 
 

 
Appendices: A:  Draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 

B:  Draft Delivery Plan 
C:  Review of Homelessness in Fareham  

 
Background papers: Corporate Strategy 2017-2023 
 Optimising Social Housing - Applications and Allocations 

Policy    
  
    
Reference papers: Homelessness Act 2002, Sections 1-3 

Homelessness Code of Guidance 2018, MHCLG 
Making Homelessness Strategies Happen 2019, LGA 

Page 14



 

 
 

 

 
 

Executive Briefing Paper 
 

Date:   11 October 2021 

Subject:   Draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy - Consultation 

Briefing by:   Deputy Chief Executive Officer 

Portfolio:   Housing 

 
 

INTRODUCTION 

1. The Homelessness Act 2002 requires all housing authorities to carry out a review of 
homelessness for their area and develop and publish a homelessness strategy based 
on the results of that review. 

2. The strategy must set out the authority’s plans for the prevention of homelessness and 
for securing sufficient accommodation, and support is, or will be, available for people 
who become homeless or are at risk of becoming so.  

3. The draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2022–2025 builds on the 
successes of the previous strategy and has been developed in the context of the new 
provisions and duties of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 and the Government’s 
Rough Sleeping Strategy 2018-2027.  

THE REVIEW OF HOMELESSNESS IN FAREHAM 

4. In accordance with legislative requirements, to inform the development of the draft 
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy and the accompanying Delivery Plan, a 
review of homelessness services was undertaken. The Council appointed Neil Morland 
& Co Housing Consultants to undertake the review, which was completed in May 2021, 
and considered: 

 The Council’s achievements during the lifetime of the previous 
Homelessness Strategy, 

 Current and future likely levels of homelessness, 

 Activities to prevent homelessness, 

 Activities to secure accommodation for people who are homeless or 
threatened with homelessness, 

 Activities to provide support for people who are homeless, threatened with 
homelessness, or have previously experienced homelessness, and   

 The resources available to deliver the above activities. 
 

Page 15



5. The Review of Homelessness in Fareham can be found at Appendix C. 

THE DRAFT HOMELESSNESS AND ROUGH SLEEPING STRATEGY 

6. The findings of the review have informed the draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping 
Strategy 2022-2025 which can be found at Appendix A. Four key priorities have been 
identified: 

 Meeting demand – The nature of homelessness in Fareham is changing. 
More single people, often needing more complex assistance to resolve 
their homelessness are approaching us for help. There is also a changing 
age profile, with increased numbers of younger households. There are 
problems accessing the private rented sector and home ownership 
remains out of reach for many. We believe that the first step in meeting 
these demands is the provision of high quality, consistent housing advice, 
tailored to the individual and delivered in a sensitive and supporting 
manner. This is our first and overriding commitment. We will continue to 
invest in our staff and their training to ensure they keep up to date with 
best practice and we will continue to invest in our relationships with key 
partners. 

 Providing solutions – Whilst the provision of high-quality advice and 
information is an essential foundation and necessary to empower those 
who can help themselves and support those who cannot, it must be 
backed up by effective solutions. It is also clear that not everyone who 
wants a social housing tenancy can have one, and that this is often not a 
realistic solution to homelessness or the threat of homelessness. The 
private rented sector will continue to play an important role in tackling 
homelessness therefore we will explore ways to increase our offers to 
private landlords as part of our Farelets scheme. 

 Preventing homelessness and supporting tenancies – Many of the 
above actions will also help to deliver on our third priority, to prevent 
homelessness from occurring in the first place. Key to this is the provision 
of high-quality support for those who need it to maintain their tenancies. 
We will also strengthen our mediation capability to reduce family/friend 
evictions. We will explore how we can further develop our working 
relationships with key agencies by formalising joint working protocols. 

 Ending rough sleeping – Street homelessness is the most visible form of 
homelessness and, perhaps, the most challenging to deal with. Significant 
progress has already been made and we will continue our efforts in 
support of the Government’s commitment to end rough sleeping by 2027. 

 
7. To deliver these priorities, a comprehensive Delivery Plan has been developed which 

can be found at Appendix B.  

CONSULTATION 

8. The draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2022-2025 and accompanying 
Delivery Plan have been carefully developed through considerable evidence, research 
and analysis. The Review of Homelessness has considered the views of service users, 
key stakeholders and staff and it now appropriate for the draft strategy to be published 
for a period of consultation which is open to all for comment. 

9. The draft strategy and delivery plan will be available online for a period of eight weeks. 
The most appropriate methods to notify and publicise the consultation will be discussed 

Page 16



and developed with the Council’s Communications Team. 

NEXT STEPS 

10. Following the consultation period, it is intended that any necessary changes will be 
incorporated into the documents before they are returned to the Executive with a 
recommendation to adopt.  

 
 
 
 
 

Enquiries: 

For further information on this report please contact Caroline Newman (Ext 4645) 
  

Page 17





 

 

 
APPENDIX A 

 

Homelessness and 

Rough Sleeping 

Strategy  

 

2022 to 2025 

 

 
 

 

Page 19



 

 

Contents 
Forward ...................................................................................................................... 3 

Introduction ................................................................................................................ 4 

Our Vision .................................................................................................................. 5 

Summary Findings from the Homelessness Review .................................................. 6 

Strategic Priorities 2022-2025 .................................................................................... 7 

Monitoring our performance ..................................................................................... 10 

 

  

Page 20



 

 

Forward 
Executive Member for Housing Cllr F Birkett 

 

The impacts of homelessness can be devastating for individuals and families. It can affect 

both physical and mental health, educational and employment opportunities and has long 

term consequences for those affected. For these reasons, preventing homelessness and 

rough sleeping is a priority for the Council. 

This strategy aims to build on Fareham’s positive track record of investing in front line 

housing services, and its positive approach to preventing and relieving homelessness 

effectively. It will support the aims of the Corporate Strategy 2017-2023 to “ensure that 

Fareham remains a prosperous, safe and attractive place to live and work” and has been 

developed with due regard to both the Council’s Allocation of Social Housing Policy and 

Affordable Housing Strategy. 

It is our intention that this Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Strategy will provide: 

 Better support to vulnerable families, individuals, and communities 

 Improved help for people who are homeless or threatened with homelessness 

 Effective collaboration with partner agencies, public bodies, voluntary organisations, 

community groups and others 

Preventing and relieving homelessness is a high priority for us. I am very pleased to endorse 

this strategy on behalf of Fareham Borough Council  

Page 21



 

 

Introduction 
 

Homelessness can be defined as not having a legal right to occupy a home that you 

call your own, or your home is unsuitable to live in. People become homeless for lots 

of different reasons and can be at risk of homelessness at different stages in their 

lives. 

Homelessness is about more than just rough sleeping, people can be homeless for a 

variety of reasons including if they are staying with friends or family, ‘sofa-surfing’, 

squatting, living in unsuitable conditions or at risk of losing their home due to the end 

of a private tenancy, domestic abuse, financial circumstances, or other challenges.  

Homelessness is closely linked to poverty and has a negative impact on a range of 

outcomes including health and education. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This is our first homelessness strategy to be informed by the new ways of working 

outlined in the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 and measured by the new method 

of collecting statutory homelessness statistics. 

  

The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 placed new legal duties on 

councils to ensure that everyone who is homeless or at risk of 

homelessness has access to meaningful help, irrespective of their 

priority need status, as long as they are eligible for assistance. 

If an applicant is threatened with homelessness, the council must take 

reasonable steps to help them avoid becoming homeless. This is 

known as the ‘Prevention Duty’. 

If an applicant is homeless, the council must take reasonable steps to 

help them secure accommodation for at least six months. This is 

known as the ‘Relief Duty’ and once triggered will also continue for 56 

days  

Page 22



 

 

Our Vision 
 

Our Corporate Strategy (2017 to 2023) sets out the Council’s six priorities to ensure 

Fareham remains a prosperous, safe and attractive place to live and work. 

This Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Strategy will support Corporate Priority 1 

“Providing Housing Choices” 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ensuring everyone has somewhere to live is a vital role for the Council but we know 

that for people who are homeless this ambition can feel like a long way off. Our 

Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Strategy provides a road map to support people to 

achieve this. 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Providing Housing Choices by working with our key partners to enable 

and support a diverse housing market so that residents have access to 

good quality housing that is affordable and offers a choice of tenures. 

We will take positive steps to prevent homelessness and assist 

individuals and families in finding good quality accommodation 

Page 23



 

 

Summary Findings from the Homelessness Review 
We appointed an independent Housing Consultant (Neil Morland & Co) to undertake 

a comprehensive, impartial, and transparent review of homelessness in Fareham. 

The full body of evidence can be downloaded from the Council’s website at 

www.fareham.gov.uk. 

The key headlines arising from the review include: 

  

The number of people 

approaching the Council for housing 

advice and assistance increases each 

year 

 

Parents, other relatives, 

or friends no longer willing or able to 

accommodate continues to be the 

main reason why a person loses their 

home 

 

The number of homeless 

households with physical or mental 

health problems has doubled 

 

Most people approaching 

the Council for housing advice and 

assistance are aged 25 to 44, however 

we are seeing an increase in those 

aged under 24 

 

 

10 people were estimated 

to sleeping rough in 2019. The 

estimate for 2020 followed the 

“Everyone In’ initiative and 3 people 

were still sleeping rough, having 

refused offers of accommodation    

1000 applicants in 

housing need requiring social housing 

are currently on Fareham Borough 

Council’s Housing Register 

 

Fareham’s higher than 

average house price to earnings ratio 

means that many people struggle to 

pay their housing costs  

 

Households which include 

a dependent child are more likely to be 

owed a main housing duty  

 

Page 24

http://www.fareham.gov.uk/


 

 

Strategic Priorities 2022-2025 
The review of homelessness has found our approach and provision of homelessness 
services has delivered effective results in the face of growing demand.  
 
We therefore plan to retain our core focus on early intervention and the prevention of 
homelessness, backed up by high quality joined up support to get people back on 
their feet when things do go wrong.   
 
To bring about significant change within our communities, this Homelessness and 

Rough Sleeping Strategy focuses on four key priorities. More detail on the actions 

against each priority is included in the accompanying Delivery Plan. 

 

 

 

Our vision and key priorities are in keeping with the increased emphasis on early 

intervention and prevention in the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 and the 

Government’s Rough Sleeping Strategy 2018.   

 

Early 
Intervention 
& Prevention 

of 
Homelessness

1. Meeting 
Demand

2. Providing 
Solutions

3. Preventing 
homelessness 
& Supporting 

Tenancies

4. Ending 
Rough 

Sleeping

Page 25



 

 

 

 

Meeting demand 

 

 Provision of high quality, consistent 
housing advice, tailored to the 
individual and delivered in a 
sensitive and supportive manner 

 
 

 Improve the capacity and capability 
(of the Housing Options Team) to 
better inform what we do and place 
ourselves in a position whereby we 
can respond more quickly and 
more effectively to changing 
demands in the future 

 
 

 Improve the range and quality of 
information to ensure they remain 
relevant to our changing customer 
base 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Providing solutions 

 

 Improve access to the private 
rented sector as this will 
continue to play an important 
part in tackling homelessness  

 

 

 Update and improve the offer to 
private sector landlords as part 
of our FareLets scheme 

 
 

 Continue to provide good 
quality and a diverse range of 
temporary accommodation to 
meet the needs of people 
experiencing homelessness  

 
 

 Ensure bed and breakfast 
accommodation is used only as 
a last resort 

 

Page 26



 

 

 

 

 

 

Preventing 

homelessness & 

supporting tenancies 

 Strengthen our mediation 
capability to reduce family/friend 
evictions and return young 
people to their family home 
where it is appropriate and safe 
to do so  

 

 

 Continue to improve our 
working relationships with key 
agencies such as Social 
Services and Mental Health 
Teams, domestic violence 
agencies, probation, and 
substance misuse services  
 

  

 Strengthen early planning for 
those people leaving care or 
institutions to ensure they don’t 
become homeless 

 
 

 Continue to provide people 
affected by welfare reforms with 
access to advice services  
 

 

 Continue to provide high quality 
tenancy support to help 
vulnerable households sustain 
their tenancies 

 

Ending rough 

sleeping 

 

 

 Ensure there continues to be 
effective outreach services to 
deliver intensive support and 
encourage people who are 
sleeping rough into services 
and accommodation 

 

 

 Explore new ways of creating 
additional emergency bed 
spaces  

 

 

 Continue to expand the 
supported accommodation 
options for those sleeping rough 
or ready for move-on from the 
hostels 

 

 Embed the ‘Housing First’ 
model to provide supported 
accommodation for rough 
sleepers with multiple and 
complex needs  

 

Page 27



 

 

Monitoring our performance 
This strategy sets out our plans for the next three years. It has been developed 

following a comprehensive review of homelessness in the Borough so we are 

confident that the strategic aims will stand the test of time during the life of the 

strategy.  

New priorities may however emerge over the next three years. The strategy will 

therefore remain under review to ensure it is kept up to date and the Delivery Plan 

will be updated annually to enable a flexible response to any emerging needs, 

trends, and policy or legislative changes. 

The accompanying Delivery Plan sets out the main areas of work over the period of 

this strategy and progress against each action will be monitored through: 

 Annual reports to the Council’s Housing Scrutiny Panel 

 Updated Delivery Plan published annually on the Council’s website 

 Key Partnership Forums 

 Mandatory statistical returns to the Ministry of Housing, Communities and 

Local Government (MHCLG)  

 

Page 28



 

 

APPENDIX B 

 

 

Homelessness & Rough 

Sleeping Strategy 

Delivery Plan 

2022 to 2025 

Page 29



 

 

Fareham Borough Council’s Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Strategy sets out the 

aims and objectives of the Council and its partners to address homelessness. 

We will achieve these aims and objectives by concentrating our efforts and 

resources on four priorities to ensure we deliver services which focus on early 

intervention and the prevention of homelessness, backed up by high quality joined 

up support to get people back on their feet when things do go wrong. 

 

 

1. Meeting Demand 

 

 

 

 

2. Providing Solutions 

 

 

 

 

3. Preventing Homelessness & Supporting 

Tenancies  

 

 

 

 

4. Ending Rough Sleeping 

 

 

Page 30



 

 

 

Meeting Demand 
 

 What we will do Lead Officer When we will do 
it 
 

Resources 
needed 

Intended outcomes 
 

1 Use local and national data and benchmarking 
information to determine service development and 
delivery.  
 

Head of Housing & 
Benefits 

April 2023 Staff time Understanding of positive practice and policy.  
 

2 Monitor demand across all sets of indicators Head of Housing & 
Benefits 
 
Housing Options 
Support Officer 
 
Housing Scrutiny 
Panel 

April 2023  Staff time Understand the pressures and demands 
affecting Housing Options Team. 
 
Allocate resources effectively to meet demand. 
 

3 Conduct regular casework reviews to ensure 
consistency of decisions and compliance with legal 
framework and to identify potential areas for 
training and improvement.  
 

Housing Manager 
(Options & Advice) 
 
Housing Manager 
(Allocations and 
Accommodation) 
 

Quarterly from April 
2022 

Staff time All staff working consistently. 
 
All staff working in a procedurally compliant 
way. 
 
Performance issued addressed. 
 
Training needs addressed. 
 

4 All staff to receive training to ensure they have the 
skills to deliver excellent customer service. 
 
Ensure staff can identify and assist customers who 
have specific needs and/or protected 
characteristics    

Housing Manager 
(Options & Advice) 
 
Housing Manager 
(Allocations and 
Accommodation) 
 

April 2022 ongoing Staff time 
and training 
budget 

Delivery of training resulting in a fully skilled 
Housing Options Team. 
 
Officers are skilled in negotiation, confidence 
building, motivating, and supporting 
customers. 
 

P
age 31



 

 

5 Review and improve the range and quality of online 
housing advice with consideration given to “off the 
shelf” self-help IT packages  
 

Housing Options 
Support Officer 

July 2022 Staff time 
 
 
C. £5k PA 
for external 
IT package  
 

Improved range and quality of online housing 
advice. 
 
Increased ‘self-serve’ opportunities. 
 

6 Collect and analyse statistics on hidden 
homelessness   

Housing Options 
Support Officer 

October 2022 Staff time Inform bespoke interventions to help those 
who are sofa surfing 
 

7 Analyse quarterly, the rate of major decisions and 
acceptances, looking at what action was taken to 
prevent and/or relieve homelessness and whether 
anything more might have been done 
  

Housing Manager 
(Options & Advice) 

January 2023  Staff time Improved outcomes for customers 
 
 

8 Continue to work with the Hampshire-wide 
Strategic Housing Officers Group (SHOG) to 
collaborate on performance, benchmarking and 
joint commissioning  
 

Head of Housing & 
Benefits 

Ongoing Staff time Development and continuous improvement of 
joint work arrangements, sharing of positive 
practice and policy.  
 

9 Explore the reasons why we lose contact with 
people we are working with 
 

Housing Options 
Support Officer 

October 2022 Staff time Fewer households lose contact with the 
service without any clear understanding of why 
they have disengaged. 
 
Prevention and relief of homelessness for 
those customers who disengage. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 32



 

 

 

Providing Solutions 

 

 Action Lead Officer Timescale Resources 
Needed 
 

Intended Outcomes 
 

1 Formulate and publish a Temporary 
Accommodation Procurement Policy and a 
Temporary Accommodation Allocation Policy  
 

Housing Manager 
(Allocations & 
Accommodation) 

January 2023 Staff time 
 
 

The Council meets all requirements set out in 
legislation and due regard to statutory 
guidance 
  

2 In conjunction with the Council’s private sector 
housing service, consult with private rented sector 
landlords to understand what could be done to 
prevent the end of an assured shorthold tenancies  

Housing Manager 
(Allocations & 
Accommodation) 
 
Principle 
Environmental 
Health Officer 
 

July 2023  Staff time 
 
Consultation 
costs 
(existing 
budget) 

Reduction in the number of people 
approaching the Housing Options Team for 
assistance as their private rented sector 
tenancy is ending 
 

3 Use data held by the Council about occupants of 
TA, about household formation, needs of children 
and last settled address to inform future 
procurement of temporary accommodation  
  

Housing Options 
Support Officer 

July 2022 Staff time A portfolio of suitable and affordable 
temporary accommodation that meets the 
needs of customers  
 

4 Increase the number of households whose main 
duty is ended by an offer of suitable private rented 
housing, HMO or lodgings 
 

Housing Manager 
(Allocations & 
Accommodation) 
 
Benefits 
Assessment 
Manager 
 

September 2024 Staff time 
 
Discretionary 
Housing 
Payments 
 
Further 
revenue 
expenditure 
£tbc to fund 
private 

Increased move-on from temporary 
accommodation into the private rented sector  

P
age 33



 

 

sector 
access 
initiatives 
 

5 Continue to promote the FareLets scheme and 
ensure it is adequately resourced 
 

Housing Manager 
(Allocations & 
Accommodation) 
 
Housing Options 
Support Officer 
 

Ongoing Staff time 
 
Advertising 
costs 
(existing 
budget) 

A successful scheme that supports both 
landlords and tenants. 
 
Increased options for customers in the 
privately rented sector. 
 

6 Formulate a new Tenancy Strategy 
  

Head of Housing & 
Benefits 
 
Head of Housing 
Delivery 
 

October 2023 Existing To support the delivery of the priorities within 
the Council’s Allocations Policy and 
Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Strategy 
   

7 Explore consultation opportunities to learn from 
people with lived experience of homelessness  

Housing Manager 
(Options & Advice) 
 
Housing Manager 
(Allocations & 
Accommodation) 
 

September 2023 
 

Staff time Service users’ experiences and views shape 
and inform policy and practice for tackling 
homelessness 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 34



 

 

 

 

Preventing Homelessness & Supporting Tenancies 
 

 Action Lead Officer Timescale Resources 
needed 
 

Intended Outcomes 
 

1 Monitor annually the reasons for loss of last settled 
home outcomes of households  

Housing Options 
Support Officer 

April 2023 
 

Staff time Track long-term trends to inform future 
prevention and relief activities    
 

2 Gather intelligence on child poverty rate at a ward 
level  
 

Housing Options 
Support Officer 

July 2024 
 

Staff time Identify which areas might be targeted for early 
interventions to prevent homelessness  
 

3 Continue to monitor employment circumstances of 
people seeking homeless assistance from the 
Council  

Housing Options 
Support Officer 

October 2023 
 

Staff time Inform plans for early interventions to prevent 
homelessness  
 

4 Review the range, effectiveness and quality of 
initiatives being used to prevent and relieve 
homelessness   

Housing Manager 
(Options & Advice) 
 

October 2023 Staff time Identify areas for improvement  
 

5 Improve how the Council works with other public 
organisations to fulfil the Duty to Refer, such as: 

 Agreeing joint working protocols 

 Providing training 

 Encouraging other bodies not subject to 
the DtR to voluntarily comply with it 

 Distribute more widely housing advise 
information 

 Encouraging housing associations that 
have not already signed up to the 
commitment to refer to do so 

 Adding a DtR button on the homepage of 
the Council’s website   

Housing Manager 
(Options & Advice) 
 
Housing Options 
Support Officer 
 
Hampshire 
Strategic Housing 
Officers 
Group/Hampshire 
Housing Officers 
Group 

October 2022 Staff time Earlier identification of people who are at risk 
of homelessness. 
 
Instances of homelessness arising when 
people are discharged from institutions are 
absolutely minimised 
 

P
age 35



 

 

6 Ensure there continues to be funding for 
independent housing rights assistance (currently 
provided by Citizens Advice Fareham)  
 

Head of Housing & 
Benefits 
 
Leisure & 
Community 
Manager 
 

On-going Existing 
budgets 

Provision of independent and impartial advice  
 

7 Improve joint working with other public bodies by 
adopting protocols and shared working 
relationships: 
 

 Prison/young offender releases 

 Care Leavers 

 Ex-service Personnel 

 Hospital discharges 

 Adult Social Care  

Housing Manager 
(Options & Advice) 
 
Housing Manager 
(Allocations & 
Accommodation) 
 
Housing Options 
Support Officer 
 

January 2023 Staff time 
 
External 
agency staff 
time and 
commitment 
 

Positive working relationships with agencies. 
 
Identification of specific professionals to 
maintain contact with each agency. 
 
Partner agencies liaise positively to enable 
customers to access appropriate services. 
 

8 Investigate further as to why levels of prevention 
activity have fallen since the introduction of the 
HRA17  
  

Housing Options 
Support Officer 

April 2024 Staff time Identify areas for improvement  
 

9 Adopt a pre-eviction protocol with all local housing 
associations  

Housing Options 
Support Officer 
 
Housing 
Association 
partners 

July 2022 Staff time 
 
Housing 
Associations 
time and 
commitment 

Housing Associations are contacting the 
Housing Options Team at an early stage to 
prevent problems accumulating and enabling 
tenants to sustain their tenancy and prevent 
future evictions. 
 
Reduced numbers of Housing Association 
tenants triggering a prevention or relief duty as 
a result of being served notice by their 
landlord. 
 
Housing Association tenants know where and 
when to seek help to ensure their tenancies 
are not at risk. 

P
age 36



 

 

    

10 Explore opportunities with the Tenancy Services 
Team, Private Sector Housing Team and other 
neighbourhood-based services, to identify at an 
early stage those at risk of losing their 
accommodation and to develop new ways to help 
people remain in their existing home.  
 

Housing Manager 
(Options & Advice) 
 
Neighbourhood 
Manager 
 
Private Sector 
Housing Team 
 
Community Safety 
Team 
 

October 2023 Staff time More targeted prevention work with 
households to prevent homelessness 

11 Improve recording of main reasons for loss of 
settled home 
 

Housing Options 
Support Officer 
 

April 2024 Staff time Identify areas for improvement  
 
 

12 Share data collected on support needs with key 
stakeholders  

Housing Manager 
(Options & Advice)  

April 2023 Staff time Inform discussions about future joint working 
arrangements and commissioning of suitable 
support services for those at risk of 
homelessness  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 37



 

 

 

Ending Rough Sleeping 
 

 Action Lead Officer Timescale Resources 
needed 
 

Intended Outcomes 
 

1 Increase the parameter of matters monitored via 
the annual rough sleeping count,  

Housing Options 
Support Officer 

November 2022 
 

Staff time To better understand how many people have 
newly flowed onto the streets, how many are 
stuck sleeping rough and how many are 
experiencing a repeat occurrence of street 
homelessness 
 

2 Build on the existing success of tackling street 
homelessness through the delivery of additional 
move-on accommodation and embed the Housing 
First model 
 
 

Housing Manager 
(Allocations & 
Accommodation) 
 
Housing Manager 
(Options & Advice)  
 
Housing First 
Delivery Group 
 
 

July 2022 Staff time 
 
Rough 
Sleeping 
Initiative 
Funding  

The most vulnerable and complex rough 
sleepers are brought inside and do not return 
to the street. 
 
  

3 Work with Hampshire County Council Adult 
Services with regard to the commissioning of 
homelessness services  

Head of Housing & 
Benefits 
 
Two Saints 
 
Hampshire County 
Council Adult 
Services  

September 2022 
ongoing 

Staff time New/revised County funded homelessness 
service provision and accommodation in 
Fareham from April 2023 (end of current 
contract) 
 

4 Ensure there continues to be adequate Outreach 
and Complex Needs provision to include: 

 Access to accommodation 

Housing Manager 
(Options & Advice) 
 

April 2022 Staff time 
 

Effective pathways for rough sleepers to 
enable them to move from the street to 
independent and sustainable accommodation. 

P
age 38



 

 

 Access to primary health care 

 Access to substance misuse treatment 
services 

 Access to employment and training 
opportunities 

 Provision of personalisation budgets to 
address financial and material hardships 

 Coordination of and support to voluntary 
and faith organisations   

Two Saints Homeless 
Prevention 
Grant 
 
Rough 
Sleeping 
Initiative 
Funding 

 

 

P
age 39





 

 

         APPENDIX C 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A review of homelessness in the Fareham 

Borough Council local authority area 
 

June 2021 

Page 41



 

3 
 

 

 
Neil Morland & Co 

Neil Morland & Co are housing consultants, working throughout England, Scotland 

and Wales. Formed in 2011, we provide advice and assistance to national and local 

government, housing associations, voluntary organisations and others. We believe 

there should be adequate housing for everyone. Using authoritative evidence and 

our unique expertise, we improve the quality and potential of landlord, 

communitywide and specialist housing services. 

 

Acknowledgement: This Homelessness Review was commissioned and funded by 

Fareham Borough Council. Thanks go to Caroline Newman, Jon Goddard and Fleur 

Allaway from Fareham Borough Council for providing invaluable assistance. The 

time and materials that numerous people and organisations have generously 

contributed to help produce this Homelessness Review, especially those persons 

with lived experience of homelessness, is very much appreciated. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Disclaimer: All views and any errors contained in this Homelessness Review are the responsibility of the authors. 

The views expressed should not be assumed to be those of Fareham Borough Council or any of the persons who 

contributed to this Homelessness Review. The information contained in this Homelessness Review is accurate at 

the date of publication. The information in this Homelessness Review should not be considered legal advice. 

Fareham Borough Council, nor Neil Morland & Co, are not authorised to provide legal advice. No responsibility 

can be taken by the commissioners or the authors of this Homelessness Review for any loss or damage incurred, 

by any persons or organisation acting or refraining from action as result of any statement in this Homelessness 

Review.

Page 42



 

4 
 

  
 

 

Contents 
Executive Summary ................................................................................................. 3 

1.0 Introduction .................................................................................................... 5 

1.1 Preamble ......................................................................................................... 5 

1.2 Definition of homelessness ........................................................................... 6 

1.3 Methodology ................................................................................................... 7 

1.4 National homelessness context .................................................................. 18 

2.0  Levels of homelessness .............................................................................. 29 

2.1 Current levels of homelessness .................................................................. 30 

2.2 Future levels of homelessness .................................................................... 46 

2.3 Conclusions about the levels of homelessness ........................................ 51 

3.0 Preventing homelessness ........................................................................... 53 

3.1 Early Homelessness Prevention Activities ................................................ 61 

3.1.1 Universal advice and information ............................................................ 62 

3.2 Pre-crisis homelessness prevention activities .......................................... 69 

3.3 Preventing the reoccurrence of homelessness ......................................... 76 

3.4 Conclusions about activities to prevent homelessness ........................... 76 

4.0 Securing accommodation ............................................................................ 79 

4.1 Temporary accommodation ......................................................................... 79 

4.2 Other accommodation .................................................................................. 84 

4.2.1 Activities to relieve homelessness .......................................................... 85 

4.2.2 Housing Support ........................................................................................ 88 

4.2.3 Private Rented Sector ............................................................................... 89 

4.2.4 Social Rented Housing .............................................................................. 91 

4.3 Conclusion about activities to secure accommodation .......................... 100 

5.0 Providing Support ...................................................................................... 102 

5.1 Support needs of people experiencing homelessness ........................... 102 

Page 43



 

5 
 

5.2 Housing Support ......................................................................................... 108 

5.3 Other support .............................................................................................. 109 

5.4 Conclusions about activities to provide support ..................................... 111 

6.0 Resources for tackling homelessness ..................................................... 113 

6.1 Money .......................................................................................................... 113 

6.2 People .......................................................................................................... 116 

6.3 I.T. ................................................................................................................ 118 

6.4 Conclusions about resources for tackling homelessness...................... 118 

7.0 Consultation ............................................................................................... 119 

7.1 Service user consultation .......................................................................... 119 

7.2 Stakeholder consultation ........................................................................... 125 

7.3 Staff consultation ....................................................................................... 130 

7.3 Conclusions about consultation ............................................................... 136 

8.0 Findings ...................................................................................................... 138 

8.1 Conclusions ................................................................................................ 138 

8.2 Recommendations ...................................................................................... 143 

 

Page 44



 

3 
 

Executive Summary 
 

Levels of Homelessness 

More people are approaching the Council for homelessness assistance.  However, 

relative rates remain lower than that for Hampshire, the South East and the whole of 

England. Young people are more likely to experience homelessness. The majority of 

households include dependent children. Single people are more often experiencing 

physical and or mental health problems.  

The main reasons for homelessness are due to parents, other relatives or friends no 

longer willing or able to accommodate or due to the end of a private rented sector 

tenancy. An allocation of social rented housing is the most common way of helping 

someone to obtain suitable accommodation.  

There has been a significant reduction in the numbers of people experiencing street 

homelessness following the introduction of various initiatives by the Council, which 

were in place prior to the pandemic but have accelerated over the past year. 

Static child poverty rates, high levels of unemployment amongst younger people and 

higher than an average house prices will all contribute to future increases in the level 

of homelessness. 

Preventing homelessness 

Homelessness is typically prevented by having someone find alternative 

accommodation. However, many people are provided with temporary 

accommodation until somewhere settled can be found for them.  

The Council has worked successfully with neighbouring local authorities to better 

facilitate referrals from other agencies. However, there is still potential to improve on 

the existing provision of housing advice.  

There are already joint working arrangements in place between the Council and 

many other public authorities, but there is much scope for further improvement. 

Although there has been a recent reduction in the levels of prevention action, people 

are still frequently being helped to secure private sector housing and resolving 

housing benefit problems.  

Securing accommodation 

The Council has been successful in procuring a range of temporary accommodation 

(TA). The number of households occupying TA is lower than other areas.  

The Council’s FareLets scheme has been working successfully with private sector 

landlords to make the best of private sector housing despite the restrictive Local 

Housing Allowance (LHA) rates.  

The number of people on the Council’s housing register continues to increase while 

at the same time the number of new properties available to let continues to reduce.  

Page 45



 

4 
 

Support 

Support to help sustain accommodation is key to preventing homelessness. Mental 

health problems, physical ill-health, disability, experienced domestic abuse and a 

history of offending are all commonly identified support needs. 

There is already some good work being done around the issues of youth 

homelessness however, more could be done to put in place a clear pathway into 

settled and sustainable housing, for both young people and vulnerable adults.  

Resources for tackling homelessness 

The Council’s decision to increase spending on homelessness services 

demonstrates its commitment to tackling the issue. The Council have been 

successful in winning additional funding from the Government for tackling 

homelessness, however its annual grant remains lower than average.  

The Council has a dedicated and hard-working team of officers to help people with 

their housing needs. The team would benefit from having some additional posts to 

help cope with the increased workload. 

IT software has been used to help drive efficiencies in the service with further 

significant investment over the coming months.  

Consultation 

People who have had a lived experience of homelessness have stated a preference 

to be provided with advice and support at the point of crisis and afterwards, rather 

than in advance. 

A range of stakeholders have demonstrated a keen willingness to work with the 

Council to tackle homelessness.  

Staff view everyone being equally important for being provided with support and 

believe in utilising all tools to help someone remain in existing accommodation or 

obtain alternative accommodation. 

Recommendations 

There are opportunities to improve the monitoring of current and future levels of 

homelessness, and how this intelligence is used to inform future decision-making. 

Efforts to prevent homelessness must be redoubled, with more help being available 

at an earlier stage. 

The range of housing options available must be increased so that people can be 

more quickly helped to secure accommodation. 

More support is needed at an early stage and over a longer period so that people 

don’t experience a repeat occurrence of homelessness 

Additional resources will be needed to tackle the increasing number of people who 

are expected to face homelessness and the growing complexity of their needs. 

Page 46



 

5 
 

1.0 Introduction 
 

1.1 Preamble 
The Homelessness Act 2002 places a duty on English local housing authorities, to 

formulate a homelessness strategy at least every five years. A review of 

homelessness in a local housing authority area must take place prior to a 

homelessness strategy being formulated and published. The legislation requires 

local housing authorities to take strategic responsibility for tackling and preventing 

homelessness in their local authority area. This duty complements other duties local 

housing authorities have to advise and assist persons who are homeless or 

threatened with homelessness.  

The law requires that a homelessness review concentrate on: 

 current and future likely levels of homelessness,  

 activities to prevent homelessness, 

 activities to secure accommodation for people who are homeless or 

threatened with homelessness, 

 activities to provide support for people who are homeless, threatened with 

homelessness, or have previously experienced homelessness, and 

 the resources available to deliver the above activities. 

 

This Homelessness Review considers all of the activities being carried out to tackle 

homelessness in the local authority area of Fareham. This encompasses the public 

law homelessness functions that Fareham Borough Council (The Council) is 

responsible for, plus those also provided by various public authorities, housing 

associations, voluntary organisations, community groups and others.  

The decision by the Council to appoint Neil Morland & Co Housing Consultants to 

complete this homelessness review, ensured impartiality and transparency in the 

findings. 

The aim of this Homelessness Review was to assess if the activities for tackling 

homelessness in the Fareham local authority area, are reflective of good practice, 

delivering good outcomes for people experiencing homelessness, and are of value 

for money to the public purse.  

There are two important contextual factors that have influenced this Homelessness 

Review. The first of which is the commencement of important new homelessness 

legislation from April 2018. The enactment of the Homelessness Reduction Act 

2017, (HRA17), brought about the most significant change to homelessness law in 

the past 40 years. The improved rights of people who are at risk of homelessness, 

are equally matched with the additional responsibilities of local housing authorities. 

The emergence of the COVID-19 pandemic during 2020, has also had a significant 

impact, nationally and locally, on the strategies and services being delivered to 

Page 47



 

6 
 

households at risk of homelessness, especially people who are sleeping rough or 

are likely to do so.  

The ambition for this Homelessness Review is to identify key objectives and actions 

that should be pursued to tackle homelessness in the Fareham local authority area, 

which can be carried forward to form a new local Homelessness and Rough 

Sleeping Strategy.  

The structure of this Homelessness Review is shown below: 

 Chapter two reviews the current and future likely levels of homelessness 

 Chapter three reviews the activities for preventing homelessness 

 Chapter four reviews the activities for securing accommodation for people 

who are homeless 

 Chapter five reviews the activities for supporting people who have previously 

been, are presently, or might be in the future, homeless 

 Chapter six reviews the resources available to carry out the activities  

 Chapter seven sets out findings from consultation with service users and 

stakeholders 

 Chapter eight sets out the conclusions and recommendations from the review 

 

1.2 Definition of homelessness 
The law1 defines a person as being homeless or threatened with homelessness if 

they: 

 Have no accommodation (e.g. sleeping rough)  

 Have accommodation, but it is unavailable to them (e.g. due to an emergency 

or disaster) 

 Have accommodation, but no right to occupy it (e.g. squatting, or informal 

arrangements with family, friends or others) 

 Have accommodation, but it is unreasonable to occupy (e.g. due to it being 

unaffordable, unfit, overcrowded, being victim of domestic abuse, or another 

special reason) 

 Have accommodation, but it will not be available within 56 days (e.g. due to 

being asked to leave, by ether family, friends or others, or from a public 

authority institution) 

 Have accommodation, but have been served a valid notice of eviction by their 

landlord (e.g. Section 21 notice to bring an assured shorthold tenancy to an 

end) 

 Have accommodation, but it is not available for the whole household (e.g. due 

to a household member requiring an aid or adaptation to access and/or move 

around it) 

 

                                            
1 Housing Act 1996, Part 7, section 174 

Page 48



 

7 
 

Any usual household members of a person whose circumstances matches the above 

legal definition is also homeless or threatened with homelessness. 

There is considered to be four forms of homelessness2. A person might experience 

only one of these forms, but could encounter some or all of them: 

 statutory homelessness – persons owed the main duty of assistance by a 

local housing authority 

 single homelessness – persons living in supported housing (including hostels, 

refuges, and supported lodgings), usually commissioned by a local authority 

 street homelessness – persons sleeping rough in places not designed for 

habitation 

 hidden homelessness – persons accommodated in insecure arrangements 

often with relatives or friends, but just as often with people not previously 

known to them 

 

Rough sleeping 

The Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government (MHCLG) (the UK 

Government department responsible for homelessness policies and programmes), 

has defined street homelessness, as ‘people sleeping, or bedded down, in the open 

air (such as on the streets, or in doorways, parks or bus shelters); people in buildings 

or other places not designed for habitation (such as barns, sheds, car parks, cars, 

derelict boats, stations, or ‘bashes’)’3. 

 

1.3 Methodology 
This Homelessness Review has been carried out in accordance with the law4, 

statutory guidance5, national guidelines6 and national good practice7. 

This Homelessness Review provides an accurate portrayal of homelessness in the 

Fareham local authority area at the time of it being completed. This Homelessness 

Review contains all the evidence that has been assessed, the conclusions reached, 

and the resulting recommendations made.  

This Homelessness Review has clear findings about: 

 what is working well to tackle homelessness 

 what must be done better to tackle homelessness 

                                            
2 Fitzpatrick, S. (2005), ‘Explaining homelessness: a critical realistic perspective’, Housing & Society, 22(1): pp.1-
17 
3 Department for Communities & Local Government (2010), ‘Evaluating the extent of rough sleeping. 
4 Homelessness Act 2002, sections 1-3  
5 Homelessness code of guidance for local authorities, Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government, 
published 2018 and most recent updated 31 December 2020 (as of the date this Homelessness Review was 
carried out).  
6 Homelessness: applying All Our Health, Public Health England, November 2018 
7 Morland, Neil. 2019. Making homelessness strategies happen: ensuring accountability and deliverability. Local 
Government Association. London 

Page 49



 

8 
 

 what needs to be the future priorities for tackling homelessness.  

 

The following parties were invited to contribute to this Homelessness Review: 

 Fareham Borough Council’s housing services 

o homelessness 

o allocations and lettings 

o tenancy services 

o housing strategy 

 Fareham Borough Council’s Environmental Health housing service 

 Fareham Borough Council’s Community Safety service 

 Hampshire County Council’s Adult Social Care services 

 Hampshire County Council’s Children Services: 

o social care 

o leaving care 

o youth justice  

 housing associations 

 various local and national public authorities, such as: 

o prisons 

o youth offender institutions 

o National Probation Service 

o Jobcentre Plus 

o NHS Trusts and NHS Foundations Trusts 

o others 

 voluntary organisations, such as:  

o registered charities 

o community groups  

o faith organisations 

 any other interested person, such as: 

o persons who have lived experience of homelessness. 

 

Representation from these bodies were at a sufficiently senior level of responsibility 

that afforded decision making powers, especially in respect of policy and/or budgets.  

1.3.1 A review of the level of homelessness 

The first step was to analyse the current and future likely levels of homelessness in 

the Fareham local authority area. A comparison was be made to the Hampshire local 

housing authority areas of:  

 Basingstoke and Deane 

 East Hampshire 

 Eastleigh 

 Gosport 

 Harts 

Page 50



 

9 
 

 Havant 

 New Forest 

 Portsmouth 

 Rushmoor 

 Southampton 

 Test Valley 

 Winchester,  
 

Additionally, comparisons were also made with the collective total of local authorities 

from South East England, England excluding London and the whole of England. 

Data was sought from Fareham Borough Council, a wide range of public authorities, 

private registered providers of social housing (housing associations) and voluntary 

organisations.  

The implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017, with a greater 

emphasis on preventing and relieving homelessness, necessarily required a change 

in monitoring away from the P1E statistical return. The new annual and quarterly 

monitoring requirement is HCLIC (Homelessness Case Level Information Collection, 

which retains little of the exact detail of its predecessor P1E requirements and is not 

therefore always comparable.  

To fully understand homelessness in the Fareham local authority area, the analysis 

in this review covers the preceding five years (2015/16 to 2019/20), which requires 

collection and analysis of both the discontinued P1E and HCLIC data. Therefore, in 

some cases, only two years HCLIC data or three years P1E data is available, and 

not both. MHCLG update and amend HCLIC data as new information is acquired, as 

it remains an experimental system for MHCLG and local housing authorities, so for 

the time being data is subject to minor amendment. The HCLIC data collected for 

this review was last checked by the authors on 20th February 2021. 

An analysis of statistics from these data sets, was carried out to understand trends 

such as: 

 numbers of applications for assistance 

 number of decisions made by outcome 

 characteristics of people who are homeless or threatened with homelessness 

 household size 

 support needs assessed 

 reason for loss of accommodation  

 types of prevention activity 

 types of relief activity 

 types of decisions made 

 types of activities to end the main duty 

 assistance received by households with their support needs 

 local connection referrals made and received 

 number of households living in temporary accommodation (by type) 

Page 51



 

10 
 

 length of stay in temporary accommodation 

 number and types of reviews requested, and decisions made, and  

 nationality of applicants 

 

Authoritative sources, such as the Office for National Statistics, were used to 

forecast future levels of homelessness, by looking at child poverty rates, labour 

markets factors, housing market factors and any other relevant trends. 

1.3.2 A review of activities to prevent homelessness 

A review of the activities to prevent homelessness was divided into three strands, to 

inform the focus of the review:  

1. early prevention – information and advice to prevent homelessness or a threat 

of homelessness (including those being at more risk of homelessness) 

2. crisis prevention – assistance to help people remain in existing 

accommodation or secure alternative housing (including provision of 

temporary accommodation) 

3. reoccurrence prevention – support to sustain accommodation (both 

accommodation-based and communitywide) 

 

MHCLG issued findings from an external evaluation of its £20m Homelessness 

Prevention Trailblazer programme, in March 20198. The findings from this research 

were used to inform a local review of prevention activities.  

The review of early prevention activities looked at the duty to provide advisory 

services9. This focused on the advice offered by Fareham Borough Council and 

other providers of housing advice and concentrated on the quality, 

availability/accessibility, and accuracy of the advice provided. This encompassed 

arrangements for assistance to be available outside of usual working hours.  

Many early homelessness prevention activities focused on those most at risk of 

homelessness. Homelessness legislation10 recognises some characteristics and 

circumstances when a person has a heightened risk of homelessness, such as: 

 leaving prison or youth detention accommodation, 

 leaving care of a children services authority, 

 regular armed forces veterans, 

 victims of domestic abuse, 

 leaving hospital, and 

 experiencing mental illness.  

 

                                            
8 Knight, T., Purdon, S., Lloyd, R., Bryson, C. (2018) Evaluation of the Homelessness Prevention Trailblazers, 
Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government. London 
9 Housing Act 1996 (amended by the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017), Part7 section 179 
10 Housing Act 1996 (as amended) Part 7 section 179(2)  

Page 52



 

11 
 

The above list is not exhaustive, as many other persons have a heightened risk of 

homelessness.  For example, due to being a young adult, a victim of violence or 

sexual abuse, a victim of harassment, having a drug or alcohol addiction, being a 

victim of trafficking, or possessing any of the characteristics protected under the 

Equality Act 2010. This Homelessness Review looked at local arrangements to 

provide information, advice, and assistance to the above listed persons, to see 

whether these arrangements are fit for purpose. Identification and analysis of joint 

working protocols, pooled budgets, shared commissioning, and common service 

delivery arrangements were also carried out.  

Duty to refer 

In relation to early prevention activity, the impact of the ‘duty to refer’, which came 

into force from October 201811, for specified public authorities, was also reviewed, 

along with an analysis of the effectiveness of local arrangements. This has been 

carried out with reference to national good practice12. 

A review of crisis prevention activities focused on the duties to prevent or relieve 

homelessness13. This Homelessness Review seeks to understand how the new 

burdens arising from the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 have impacted on the 

how the local authority administers its duties. There has also been scrutiny of the 

outcomes for people who are homeless or threatened with homelessness. This 

extends to how assessments and personalised plans are being completed, plus the 

effectiveness of these. This Homelessness Review has probed how people are 

helped to remain in their existing accommodation, or when this is not safe or 

possible, assisted to secure alternative accommodation. The effectiveness of joint 

working arrangements with housing benefit administrators, debt advice services, 

private rented sector enforcement officers, sanctuary schemes, housing possession 

court desks and pre-eviction protocols with private registered providers of social 

housing have all been reviewed.  

A review of activities to prevent the reoccurrence of homelessness has focused on 

the support, advice, assistance and counselling people receive to be able to sustain 

their accommodation. This includes activities carried out by Fareham Borough 

Council, either via its own homelessness service, or as a commissioner of support 

services. Logically, a review of activities to prevent the reoccurrence of 

homelessness has also extended to those undertaken by numerous public 

authorities, voluntary organisations, housing associations and others. Both 

community-wide and accommodation-based support has been investigated for its 

quality, effectiveness, and impact.  

 

1.3.3 A review of activities to secure accommodation 

                                            
11 Homelessness (Review Procedure Etc.) Regulations 2018, Part 4 Duty to Refer 
12 Morland, Neil.  2018. Duty to refer: an opportunity to co-operate. Local Government Association. London.  
13 Housing Act 1996, Part 7, sections 195 - 196 

Page 53



 

12 
 

A review of activities to secure accommodation for people who are homeless or 

threatened with homelessness, has concentrated on:  

 temporary accommodation provision, 

 social rented housing allocations to persons who are homeless or owed a 

homelessness duty of assistance, and 

 private rented sector accessibility for persons who are homeless or owed a 

homelessness duty of assistance 

  

Temporary accommodation 

A review of temporary accommodation provision has covered arrangements for 

procuring, allocating and managing temporary accommodation, to ensure it is fit for 

purpose. An analysis of the types and suitability of temporary accommodation used 

(including use of bed and breakfast accommodation), length of stay, out-of-borough 

placement, characteristics of households placed in temporary accommodation 

(including those with children and/or a pregnant woman, 16/17-year-olds) has also 

been carried out with reference to national good practice14. 

A review of how Fareham Borough Council’s Housing Allocation Scheme helps 

people who are homeless or threatened with homelessness to secure social rented 

housing has been carried out. An analysis of data associated with applications from 

persons who are homeless, or owed a duty of assistance, plus lettings made to 

these groups of people was also carried out. This data was analysed over a period of 

five years in order to clearly understand the trends. The Government publishes data 

about the lettings and sales of social housing in England, via its CORE (Continuous 

Recording of Social Housing Lettings and Sales) website 

https://core.communities.gov.uk. This information is usually updated annually and is 

available on a local authority area basis. The statistics provided intelligence on 

trends in social lettings, characteristics of new tenants, the properties available, and 

more. Additionally, an analysis of MHCLG published tables showing numbers of 

households on local authorities’ waiting lists was also carried out. 

In regard to Fareham’s Housing Allocation Scheme, a review was carried out of:  

 the housing options available to persons who are homeless or owed a duty of 

assistance, who are not eligible for an allocation of social rented housing, 

 how grounds for disqualification from joining a housing allocation scheme 

might impact on persons who are homeless or owed a duty of assistance, 

 the advice, information, and assistance on making an application for social 

rented housing provided to persons who are homeless or owed a duty of 

assistance, 

 the choice and opportunities of persons who are homeless or owed a duty of 

assistance to express a preference of what social rented housing is allocated 

them, 

                                            
14 Gray, Tim., Messenger, Gary. 2018. Housing our homeless households. Local Government Association. 
London. 

Page 54

https://core.communities.gov.uk/


 

13 
 

 the degree of reasonable preference afforded to persons who are homeless 

or owed a duty of assistance, and 

 whether persons more at risk of homelessness (e.g. persons leaving prison, 

offenders, care leavers, persons leaving hospital, the armed forces, escaping 

domestic abuse, that are a vulnerable adult, or others) are regarded has 

having a reasonable preference for an allocation of social rented housing, or 

have been given additional preference.  

 

A review was carried out on the trends associated with the types of tenancy 

agreements issued to persons who were homeless or owed a duty of assistance by 

housing associations. The Government publishes data about the types of tenancy 

agreements, via its CORE website https://core.communities.gov.uk. This information 

is usually updated annually and is available on a local authority area basis. 

Having regard to the requirements of the tenancy strategy, a review was carried out 

of: 

 The type of tenancies granted to persons who were homeless or owed a duty 

of assistance, 

 The circumstances in which social landlords will grant persons, who were 

homeless or owed a duty of assistance, a tenancy of a particular kind, 

 where social landlords have granted persons, who were homeless or owed a 

duty of assistance, tenancies for a certain length of term, and  

 Circumstances where social landlords have granted persons, who were 

homeless or owed a duty of assistance, a further tenancy when an existing 

tenancy came to an end.   

 

A review of private rented sector access schemes for people who are homeless or 

threatened with homelessness has been carried out. This has focussed on the types 

and effectiveness of landlord incentives used. The use and impact of initiatives such 

as rent-in-advance, cash deposits, bonds, and other measures has also been 

probed. 

1.3.4 A review of activities to provide support 

A review of the support provided to people who are homeless, at risk of 

homelessness or have previously been homeless has looked at the activities carried 

out to stop households becoming homeless and avoiding a repeat occurrence of 

homelessness in the future. This has included: 

 the types and prevalence of support needs,  

 the types of accommodation-based support services and the outcomes they 
are achieving,  

 the types of non-accommodation-based support services and the outcomes 

they are achieving,  

 support provided by public authorities under public law duties, and 

Page 55

https://core.communities.gov.uk/


 

14 
 

 support provided by voluntary organisations, both commissioned and non-

commissioned.  

 

MHCLG with the Department for Work & Pensions (DWP) published independent 

research on the causes of homelessness and rough sleeping15 16 17, the findings of 

which have been used to inform a local analysis of support needs.  

A review of the types of accommodation-based support services (e.g., hostels, 

refuges) and the outcomes they are achieving has considered: 

 the accessibility of this provision,  

 the standard of accommodation,  

 the staffing arrangements and support philosophy,  

 the rules for exclusions and evictions,   

 move-on support, and 

 other matters.  

 

A review of the types of non-accommodation-based support services (e.g., floating 

support, Housing First provision) and the outcomes they are achieving, has 

considered matters such as: 

 whether the support being provided is sufficiently personalised,  

 the joint working arrangements between the support provider and the 

accommodation provider,  

 the efforts being made to help people feel part of their community and to take-

up employment,  

 whether the support is outcome focused and asset-based, and  

 how people are being helped to increase their personal income and improve 

their wellbeing. 

 

For both accommodation-based and non-accommodation-based support services, 

service users, staff and stakeholders have all been consulted. An analysis of 

performance results and outcomes has been carried out, where reliable data is 

available. 

 

 

                                            
15 Alma Economics (2019). Homelessness: causes of homelessness and rough sleeping rapid evidence 
assessment. Ministry of Housing Communities & Local Government and Department for Work & Pensions. 
London 
16 Alma Economics (2019). Homelessness: causes of homelessness and rough sleeping review of models of 
homelessness. Ministry of Housing Communities & Local Government and Department for Work & Pensions. 
London 
17 Alma Economics (2019). Homelessness: causes of homelessness and rough sleeping feasibility study. Ministry 
of Housing Communities & Local Government and Department for Work & Pensions. London 

Page 56



 

15 
 

Response to rough sleeping during the COVID 19 pandemic review 

We reviewed activities to house people who were rough sleeping and those at risk of 

rough sleeping, during the COVID-19 pandemic, referencing national good 

practice18.  

We focused on steps taken to source accommodation and support, whilst also 

looking at the funding and procurement arrangements that were put in place. 

Particular attention was paid to how the Council delivered its own homelessness 

services, involvement from health services, measures taken to safeguard people 

who were sleeping rough, and female specific issues when sleeping rough.  

 

 

A review of support provided by public authorities under public law duties, has 

looked at how the Council’s homelessness service is working with: 

 adult social care services to fulfil their duties owed to vulnerable homeless 

adults owed a duty under the Care Act 2014,  

 child social care services to fulfil their duties owed to homeless 16/17-year-

olds and other cases involving homeless households where dependent 

children reside under the Children Act 1989, 

 NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups, NHS Trusts and NHS Foundation 

Trusts to fulfil duties owed to adults who are mentally ill owed a duty under the 

Mental Health Act 1983, and 

 the Council’s private sector housing colleagues to fulfil public law housing 

duties to various persons in specified circumstances. 

 

When reviewing how vulnerable homeless adults are supported, there was scrutiny 

of joint working between the Council’s homelessness service and adult social care 

services in respect of19: 

 using powers and duties to provide accommodation, 

 carrying out assessments and care planning to meet support needs, 

 preventing homelessness and promoting wellbeing, and 

 supporting persons from abroad who are not eligible for homelessness 

assistance.  

 

When reviewing how 16/17-year-olds and other homeless households where 

dependent children reside are supported, there was scrutiny of joint working between 

the Council’s homelessness service and children services in respect of20:   

                                            
18 Coombs, Jenny., Gray, Tim. 2020. Lessons learnt from councils' response to rough sleeping during the 
COVID-19 pandemic. Local Government Association. London. 
19 Care and Support Statutory Guidance, Department of Health, June 2014 
20 Working together to safeguard children, Department for Education, March 2015  

Page 57



 

16 
 

 assessment of causes of homelessness, housing and support needs, and 

whether a child needs services to achieve or maintain their health and 

wellbeing, or avoid it being significantly impaired, 

 provision of services to meet a child’s identified needs, 

 support for children from abroad, 

 individual children who have no parents or carers, 

 young people who need care beyond the age of 18 years, and 

 generally performing obligations under the Children Act 1989.  

 

When reviewing how adults who are mentally ill are supported, there was scrutiny of 

joint working between the Council and NHS authorities in respect of21 those who are 

leaving hospital after having been unwell and need after-care.  

MHCLG published an independent evaluation of the Skills, Training, Innovation and 

Employment (STRIVE) pilot, in August 201822. This programme was targeted at 

single people experiencing homelessness in London, who were claiming 

unemployment welfare benefits. Together with the Department for Business, 

Innovation and Skills (now known as Department for Business, Energy, and 

Industrial Strategy) £297,000 of funding was provided. STRIVE was commissioned 

to pilot an alternative to the Work Programme, which had been identified as being 

unsuitable for the target cohort. The findings from this research were used to inform 

a local review of how support is provided to be people who are, or have, experienced 

homelessness to secure employment. 

1.3.5 A review of resources available to fund activities for tackling 

homelessness 

A review of the resources available to carry out activities to tackle homelessness 

covered money, people, and IT.  

A review of money looked at both a local housing authority’s own spending on 

homelessness activities and the grants received from MHCLG and other 

Government bodies.  

In terms of a local housing authority’s own spending, scrutiny of forecast and actual 

spend of the Council’s budget for its homelessness service was carried out. There 

was also consideration of spending by the Council on commissioning others to 

prevent homelessness, supply accommodation and provide support. Where 

available, spending by other public authorities on activities to tackle homelessness 

was also examined, as was funding available to housing association and voluntary 

organisations from philanthropic trusts, social enterprise trading, investment national 

bodies, non-governmental bodies and other public sector agencies.  

In terms of grants received from MHCLG, inquiries were made about whether the 

total amount allocated is used for its intended purpose, the success of bidding for 

                                            
21 Code of Practice: Mental Health Act 1983, Department of Health, 2015 
22 ICF Consulting. (2018). STRIVE Evaluation: Final report. Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local 
Government. London  

Page 58



 

17 
 

additional funding was also probed. Where possible, the money available to a local 

authority was benchmarked against that of other local authorities to ascertain if 

income and expenditure is satisfactory.  

The review also considered the potential of securing investment from the commercial 

sector, via a social impact bond, and using a payment by results arrangements with 

commissioned providers. MHCLG published an independent evaluation of its Fair 

Chance Fund programme, in April 201923. Together with the Cabinet Office and 

Department for Digital, Culture Media and Sport, funding was provided via Social 

Impact Bonds (SIB), using a payment by results (PBR) approach to improve 

accommodation, education and employment for people aged 18 to 24 years, who 

were experiencing homelessness. The findings from this research were used to 

inform a local review of how private sector resources are being secured for tackling 

homelessness. 

A review of staffing looked at the employees of the local housing authority. There 

was consideration of the staffing structure, the procedures and processes in force 

and whether there is enough staff to cope with caseload levels. Additionally, the 

training that staff receive, both in terms of the specifics of homelessness legislation 

(e.g., knowledge of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017, the Housing Act 1996, 

etc.) and the general skills (e.g., providing advice, carrying out assessments, etc.) to 

undertake their role was also assessed.  

A review of IT looked at the software and hardware available to help administer 

homelessness functions and assist people who are at risk of homelessness. This 

involved investigating the use and effectiveness of software for: 

 self-service housing advice,  

 receiving referrals for cases of homelessness 

 formulating personalised plans,  

 case management,  

 recording prevention activity, 

 data reporting (e.g., H-CLIC),  

 temporary accommodation property and void management, 

 controlling referrals and use of housing related support services, and 

 other modules to help enhance the administration of homelessness functions, 

such as online forms, applications, reports, information packs, letter 

templates.  

 

Connectivity of software for administering a housing register, mutual exchange 

schemes, and a potential social lettings agency was also reviewed. An appraisal of 

hardware available to deliver homelessness services was also undertaken, including 

looking at the use of self-service housing advice. 

                                            
23 ICF Consulting. (2019). Fair Chance Fund: Final Evaluation. Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local 
Government. London 

Page 59



 

18 
 

1.4 National homelessness context 
The UK Government is responsible for making decisions about homelessness law 

and strategy for England. The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 

Government (MHCLG) is charged with leading on policy formulation and programme 

delivery.  

The Homelessness Act 2002 places a duty on local authorities to formulate a 

homelessness strategy at least every five years. A review of homelessness in a local 

housing authority area must take place prior to a homelessness strategy being 

formulated and published. The legislation requires local authorities to take strategic 

responsibility for tackling and preventing homelessness in their area. This duty 

complements other duties local authorities must freely provide advice to anyone at 

risk of homelessness and assist persons in specified circumstances who are 

homeless or threatened with homelessness. 

1.4.1 Homelessness legislation 

The current legal framework setting out the rights of people who are experiencing 

homeless and the duties local authorities must administer, has been in force since 

197724, with significant amendments being made to it 198525, 199626, and 201727. 

The most recent adjustments have substantially increased the assistance local 

authorities must provide to people who are homeless and threatened with 

homelessness.  

The legal definition of homelessness is set out in section 1.2 of this Homelessness 

Review and is summarised again below. 

Definition of homelessness 

Households (single persons, couples, families with dependent children are all 

covered by the term) who are homeless or threatened with homelessness include 

those who: 

 are street homeless, 

 are hidden homeless, 

 have been illegally evicted, 

 are living in accommodation that is unaffordable, unfit, overcrowded, are 

experiencing domestic abuse or threats of domestic abuse, and other 

exceptional circumstances,  

 are at risk of becoming homeless due to parents/family/other no longer willing 

or able to accommodate, leaving care, prison the armed forces or escaping 

domestic abuse), and 

 have been served a valid notice to quit their tenancy by their landlord.  

 

                                            
24 Housing (Homeless Persons) Act 1977 
25 Housing Act 1985 
26 Housing Act 1996, Part 7 
27 Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 

Page 60



 

19 
 

All local authorities have a duty to ensure advice and information is available, free of 

charge to any household, about preventing homelessness, finding a home, rights 

when homeless, and help available locally.  

Any adult, or child aged 16/17, who believes they are homeless or threatened with 

homelessness, is entitled to make an application for assistance to any local 

authority. 

A household who usually lives in the UK and has a right to enter and remain in the 

country without any restrictions, is normally eligible for assistance. 

Local authority duties  

When a household is eligible for assistance, local authorities must:  

 Carry out an assessment of their housing and support needs and formulate a 

personal plan to meet these needs.  

 Arrange temporary accommodation, when a local authority believes they have 

a priority need for accommodation due to them having a specified 

vulnerability. 

 Attempt to prevent homelessness, if they are likely to become homeless 

within 56 days of them making their application for assistance. 

 Attempt to relieve homeless for up to 56 days, when they are already 

homeless, when making an application for assistance. 

 Arrange short-term accommodation when they are intentionally homeless and 

have a priority need. 

 Obtain permanent accommodation when they are unintentionally homeless 

and have a priority need. 

 

Local authorities have discretion to consider whether the household has a local 

connection with the local authority to which they have made an application for 

assistance.  

A household has a right to request review of certain decisions made about their 

application.  

When administering their public law homelessness duties, local authority housing 

services must co-operate with each other and can expect co-operation from housing 

associations and child social care services. Specified public authorities have a duty 

to refer a household who is at risk homelessness to a local authority. 

1.4.2 Causes of homelessness 

MHCLG with the DWP published independent research on the causes of 

homelessness and rough sleeping28.  

                                            
28 Alma Economics. 2019. Homelessness: Causes of homelessness and rough Sleeping: rapid assessment of 
evidence, London, Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government and Department for Work & Pensions 

Page 61



 

20 
 

An assessment of evidence concluded that structural factors were more likely to 

cause homelessness for families, whereas individual personal factors more often 

caused single persons to become homeless, and individual health related factors 

were a more common cause of street homelessness. For families there was strong 

evidence of domestic abuse, relationship breakdown, financial issues, poverty, and 

lack of social housing being the causes of homelessness. For single persons there 

was strong evidence that relationship breakdown, mental health and substance 

misuse were the causes. In terms of rough sleeping, the strongest cause identified 

was relationship breakdown.  

The researchers went on to conclude that a mixture of quantitative and qualitive 

methods need to be used to understand the current and future likely causes of 

homelessness, plus the impact policies are having, or might have, on preventing and 

reducing homelessness. It was recommended that MHCLG and DWP develop a 

range of sophisticated modelling tools, that produce detailed information to better 

understand the causes of homelessness, but which are easy to use and maintain by 

their in-house analysts.   

1.4.3 Homelessness statistics  

The latest annual official statistics published by the UK Government, for April 2019 – 

March 202029, showed: 

 Households with children are more likely to be owed a prevention duty at 

initial assessment than a relief duty.  

 Single adult households are the largest group of households owed a 

prevention or relief duty, representing 60.1% of all households who had a duty 

accepted.  

 57.6% of single adults are initially accepted under the relief duty.  

 Of the households that were owed a duty in 2019/20, those that were owed a 

prevention duty were more likely (58.5%) to have an accommodation secured 

outcome than households owed an initial relief duty (40.0%).  

 Accommodation secured under the prevention duty is more likely to be in self-

contained private rented sector accommodation at 36.3%, or in a social rented 

sector registered provider tenancy at 21.7%.  

 Accommodation secured at the relief stage is more likely to be a social rented 

supported housing or hostel offer at 26.6%. 

 Main duty acceptances have reduced by 29.3% over the past three years, due 

to the number of households who are prevented from becoming homeless or 

have homelessness relieved.  

Of all cases: 

 54.8% of households secured accommodation for 6+ months,  

 26.3% lost contact or withdrew their application for assistance,  

 12.5% were owed a main duty, and  

                                            
29 Statutory Homelessness Annual Report, 2019-20, England. Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local 
Government. 

Page 62



 

21 
 

 6.3% were deemed to be not homeless or not owed a main duty following 

relief.  

 A greater proportion of households with children were owed a main duty 

(21.9% versus 12.5%).  

 Fewer family households left the system for Other reasons (19.5% versus 

26.3%).  

 More single males aged 18-34 left the system for other reasons (36.0% 

versus 26.3% overall) 

 A greater proportion of single males were homeless and not owed a main duty 

following relief (11.4% versus 6.3% overall), most commonly as a result of 

having no priority need.  

 For applicants sleeping rough on approach, 48.5% of duties ended without 

accommodation secured outcome or main duty acceptance.  

 

Compared to before the introduction of HRA 17, between 2017/18 and 2019/20 (post 

the introduction of HRA17) the number of households owed the main duty of 

assistance (obtain permanent accommodation for households that are 

unintentionally homeless and have a priority need) has decreased 29.3%, from 

56,600 to 40,040. Despite more households being owed an initial prevention or relief 

duty, including priority needs groups such as households with children, there are 

fewer main duty acceptances as more households are receiving assistance at an 

earlier stage, through prevention and relief duties.  

There has been a 9.4% increase in the number of households in temporary 

accommodation from 85,040 on 31st March 2019 to 93,000 on 31st March 2020, the 

highest level in almost 15 years. This is largely driven by single households, which 

have increased 41.2% from 22,870 to 29,390 households, while the number of 

households with children in temporary accommodation has remained more stable (a 

3.3% increase from 62,170 to 63,610 households). The COVID-19 pandemic will 

inevitably, and adversely impact on the number of people experiencing 

homelessness, the number of households occupying temporary accommodation and 

the levels of rough sleeping.  

During 2019/20, 2,920 16/17-year-olds were owed a prevention or relief 
homelessness duty in England, 57% of whom were female, 42% male and 1% 
gender not known/other. In publishing these figures, MHCLG does clarify that 
households within age and gender breakdowns may also include other adults and 
children, and that female households are more likely to include children than male 
households30. In almost 69% of cases, the main reason for the loss of last settled 
home for 16/17-year-olds; male, female and gender unknown, was family no longer 
willing or able to accommodate. Other reasons for the loss of their last settled home 
for 16/17-year-olds included 5% due to friends no longer willing or able to 

                                            
30 Reason for loss of last settled home of 16-24 year-olds initially owed a prevention or relief 
homelessness duty in 2019-20, Ministry of Housing, Communities, and Local Government, October 
2020  

Page 63

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/reason-for-loss-of-last-settled-home-of-16-24-year-olds-initially-owed-a-prevention-or-relief-homelessness-duty-in-2019-20
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/reason-for-loss-of-last-settled-home-of-16-24-year-olds-initially-owed-a-prevention-or-relief-homelessness-duty-in-2019-20
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/reason-for-loss-of-last-settled-home-of-16-24-year-olds-initially-owed-a-prevention-or-relief-homelessness-duty-in-2019-20


 

22 
 

accommodate, 4.5% due to domestic abuse, and a further 4.5% due to eviction from 
supported housing. 
 
There were also 54,080 18-24-year-olds owed a prevention or relief homelessness 
duty in England during 2019/20, more than 60% of these were female, 39% male 
and 1% gender not known/other. 44% of 18-24-year-olds lost their last settled home 
due to family no longer willing or able to accommodate, 8.8% due to the end of an 
assured shorthold tenancy, 75% of which were due to the landlord wishing to sell the 
property. Other reasons for loss of last settled home for this age group included 8% 
due to domestic abuse, 5.8% due to friends no longer willing or able to 
accommodate and 5.8% evicted from supported housing.   

 

Chart 1: Households in temporary accommodation, England, annual snapshot taken on 

31st March each year from 2009 to 2020 

 

Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 

 

Demographics of homeless households 

During 2019/20 69.8% of homeless households had a White lead applicant. In 

England, 84.6% of individuals are White, suggesting White households are less likely 

to be homeless. Households containing an Asian lead applicant are also 

underrepresented as they account for just 6.3% of homeless applications and for 

8.1% of the population. Households with a Black lead applicant are the most 

disproportionately homeless as they account for 10.7% of those owed a duty while 

are estimated to comprise of only 3.6% of the population.  

In 2019/20, the most common age group of lead applicants in households owed a 

prevention or relief duty were aged between 25 and 34 years old, making up 87,990 

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

60,000

70,000

80,000

90,000

100,000

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

B&B Hostel LA/HA Stock PSL Other

Page 64



 

23 
 

households (0.115% of 25-34 years old in England31) or 30.5% of the homeless 

population. Households aged between 25-34 years make up 13.52% of the overall 

population of England and are therefore over-represented within the homeless 

population. 

The most common employment status for lead applicants of households owed a 

prevention or relief duty during 2019/20 was Registered Unemployed, totalling 

88,030 (5.05% of all unemployed people in England at November 202032) or 30.5% 

of the total homeless population.  During the same period, the unemployment rate in 

England was 5.1%, showing that homeless people were six times more likely to be 

unemployed.   

The latest rough sleeping snapshot statistics33 show that in 2020 there were 2,688 

individuals recorded as sleeping rough on a single night in England, down 37% from 

2019. This was largely due to the ‘Everyone In’ scheme helping to protect rough 

sleepers and others from the impact of Covid-19.  

 

Chart 2: Rough sleeping in England, England, annual snapshot taken Autumn each year 

from 2010 to 2020 

 

Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 

In 2019/20, 17.5% of the 306,187 total new social lettings went to households that 

were classed as statutory homeless and owed a main homelessness duty34.  

                                            
31 Estimates of the population for the UK, England and Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland, Office for National 

Statistics, April 2020  
32 Unemployed: UK: All: Aged 16+: 000s: SA: Annual = 4 Quarter Average, Office for National Statistics, 

November 2020 
33 Rough sleeping snapshot in England: autumn 2019. Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government.   
34 Social housing lettings: April 2019 to March 2020, England. Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local 
Government. 

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

4,000

4,500

5,000

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Page 65



 

24 
 

The latest data available confirms that in 2018/19, £144m was spent on prevention; 

£68m on support; £1bn on temporary accommodation (excluding non-housing 

revenue account accommodation)35.  

The latest figures from the Ministry of Justice, for 2019/20, show that 1,222 

individuals were classed as ‘Rough sleeping’ and 3,414 individuals were classed as 

‘other homeless’ in England and Wales at the start of a community sentence. These 

figures also show that 2,775 individuals were classed as ‘Rough sleeping’, and 8,744 

individuals were classed as ‘other homeless’ in England and Wales on release from 

custody36.  

The Ministry of Justice also publishes quarterly statistics on Mortgage and Landlord 

Possession in England and Wales. Figures for 2019/20, show 18,097 social landlord 

possessions, and 12,514 private landlord possessions, with 9,070 of all landlords 

using the accelerated procedure37. 

1.4.4 Homelessness Policy 

The UK Government has an ambition of ending street homelessness by 202438.  

From 2017 to 2019 the UK Government invested £1.2bn to tackle homelessness, 

which included £76m for an initiative to reduce street homelessness and £28m to 

pilot the Housing First approach. From April 2018 new legislation came into force 

ensuring more households got more help, at an earlier stage and over a longer 

period39. In August 2018, the MHCLG published a Rough Sleeping Strategy40. 

Housing First 

The Housing First Pilots in Greater Manchester, Liverpool City Region and West 

Midlands, have helped more than 200 rough sleepers to date. The Housing First 

approach supports vulnerable people into their own homes where they can rebuild 

their lives. The pilots are replicating the success seen across Europe, where 

Housing First projects have been successful in preventing repeat homelessness for 

at least eight out of 10 people in such projects.  

 

MHCLG has published two evaluation reports, carried out by independent 

researchers on the Housing First Pilots. The first report41, provides key learning and 

recommendations for both national and local government, regarding development, 

preparation, and early delivery. The second report42 focuses on the effects of the 

                                            
35 Local authority revenue expenditure and financing: 2018-19 final outturn, England. Ministry of Housing, 
Communities & Local Government.   
36 Community performance quarterly release to March 2020. Ministry of Justice.  
37 Mortgage and Landlord Possession statistics: October to December. Ministry of Justice.  
38 The Conservative and Unionist Party, Manifesto 2019.   
39 Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 
40 The rough sleeping strategy, 2018, Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 
41 ICF Consulting Services, Heriot Watt University, Homeless Link, BPSR and IER. 2020. Evaluation of the 
Housing First Pilots: interim process evaluation report. Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government. 
London 
42 ICF Consulting Services, Heriot Watt University, Homeless Link, BPSR and IER. 2020. Effects of the pandemic 
on the Housing First Pilots and service users. Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government. 

Page 66



 

25 
 

COVID-19 pandemic on the Housing First Pilots, reporting findings from weekly calls 

during the lockdown period during Spring 2020.  

Groundswell and the London Homeless Health Programme have produced ‘My Right 

to Healthcare’ cards for people experiencing homelessness which explain this 

population have a right to register with GP surgeries. NHS England have committed 

to rolling out the card nationally. 

The UK Government appointed an independent advisor to lead a review into the 

causes of street homelessness, that will provide advice on additional action required 

to end street homelessness by the end of 2024.  

The UK Government announced a £23 million funding for drug and alcohol treatment 

services. The aim of the funding is to ensure that engagement that people have had 

with drug and alcohol treatment services whilst in emergency accommodation, is 

maintained as they move into a longer term move on accommodation and support 

those who have not previously engaged with treatment services. This funding has 

been prioritised for the areas which have the highest numbers of people sleeping 

rough. 

Everyone In campaign  

The UK Government’s initial response to COVID-19 and rough sleeping in March 

2020 was to bring in those people experiencing street homelessness to protect their 

health and stop wider transmission, particularly in hot spot areas, and those in 

assessment centres and shelters that are unable to comply with social distancing 

advice. This approach sought to reduce the impact of COVID-19 on people facing 

homelessness and ultimately on preventing deaths during this public health 

emergency. MHCLG asked local authorities to lead a local programme of actions. 

The UK Government put in place an exemption for hotels, hostels and B&Bs to open 

so they could offer accommodation to key workers and support rough sleepers.  

This resulted in 5,400 people being helped off the streets by the end of April 2020. 

90% of people known to local authorities as being street homelessness at the 

beginning of the crisis were offered accommodation where they could self-isolate. By 

May 2020, a total of 15,000 people who were at risk of homelessness were reported 

as being helped to obtain accommodation. By September 2020, over 29,000 people 

were reported as being helped, with 10,000 into emergency accommodation and 

nearly 19,000 provided with settled accommodation or move-on support.  

Following this, a new taskforce was created by the UK Government, to lead the next 

phase of support for people experiencing street homelessness during the pandemic. 

Businesses, faith groups and local communities have been encouraged to help the 

new Rough Sleeping Taskforce.   

 

During summer 2020, the UK Government suspended for 12 weeks, rules that 

restricted the assistance local authorities could provide to EEA nationals who were 

                                            
London 

Page 67



 

26 
 

experiencing street homelessness, to find employment, accommodation and 

facilitate a reconnection.   

An eviction ban for six months was put into force, subsequently the law was changed 

to increase notice periods to 6 months. Bailiff enforcement action is not permitted 

during periods national restrictions.  

A new scheme, the Protect Programme, was launched late autumn 2020, to run 

alongside the Everyone In campaign, concentrating on areas with high levels of 

people experiencing street homelessness. All local authorities were asked to update 

action plans for tackling rough sleeping by the end of 2020, following which they 

have been expected to carry out a rapid assessment of need for everyone they 

assist who is experiencing street homelessness.  

As new restrictions came into force in January 2021, MHCLG asked local housing 

authorities to once again make sure people experiencing street homelessness were 

helped to obtain accommodation and register with a GP.  

A study published by the Lancet showed that the Everyone In campaign helped 

avoid 266 deaths during the first wave of the pandemic amongst England’s homeless 

population, plus thousands of infections and hospital admissions.  

An independent review of the HRA1743, commissioned by MHCLG, concluded that 

more people are getting help who previously would not.  The review also identified 

improvements which could be made to how the HRA17 is being administered, data 

collection and joint working.  

MHCLG and the Department of Education published good practice advice44 to 

support the development of joint protocols that can help local authorities meet the 

needs of care leavers, to prevent them from becoming homeless.  

Research45 carried out by MHCLG with over 500 people who had experienced street 

homelessness found that before sleeping rough most had not been in stable 

accommodation, had high levels of vulnerabilities, had experienced adverse 

childhood events, were not currently in employment, but were registered at a GP 

surgery and had previously sought help from a local authority. Half had been 

involved with the criminal justice system and had also experienced hidden 

homelessness before becoming street homeless. The research estimated the annual 

cost of a person who is experiencing street homelessness was £12.2k, compared to 

£3.1k people at risk of homelessness who were not having to sleep rough.  

1.4.5 Homelessness Funding 

                                            
43 Knight, Tim., Greenstock, Jane., Beadle, Shane., Charalambous, Steph., Fenton, Catherine. 2020. Evaluation 

of the implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act: Final Report. Ministry of Housing, Communities & 

Local Government. London.  
44 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/joint-housing-protocols-for-care-leavers/joint-housing-protocols-

for-care-leavers-good-practice-advice  
45 2020. Understanding the multiple vulnerabilities, support needs and experiences of people who sleep rough in 

England. Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government. London.  

Page 68

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/joint-housing-protocols-for-care-leavers/joint-housing-protocols-for-care-leavers-good-practice-advice
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/joint-housing-protocols-for-care-leavers/joint-housing-protocols-for-care-leavers-good-practice-advice


 

27 
 

Since December 2019, The UK Government has allocated over £700m to local 

homelessness services, with over 300 Councils across England receiving a share of 

funding to support people experiencing homelessness in their areas. Money 

distributed includes: 

 £200m (2020/21) for all local authorities to obtain accommodation for 

households who are homeless or threatened with homelessness. 

 £62.9m (2020/21) for all local authorities to prevent and relieve 

homelessness. 

 £23m Cold Weather Fund (£13m 2019/20, £10m 2020/21) for people 

experiencing street homelessness, to provide more emergency 

accommodation during the winter.  

 £3m to homelessness support funding for Jobcentres to help people 

experiencing street homelessness to claim benefits and find work.  

 £433m to offer accommodation for up to 6,000 people experiencing street 

homelessness and those at most immediate risk of having to sleep rough, 

with the intention of 3,300 homes becoming available by May 2021. To date, 

276 schemes have been approved across England, which will provide 904 

homes.  

 £6m for voluntary organisations that provide, advice, accommodation and 

support to households who are homeless or threatened with homelessness.  

 £700k for local authorities to support people leaving care at risk of 

homelessness. 

 £3.2m emergency funding to help people experiencing street homelessness 

self-isolate to prevent the spread of COVID-19.  

 £105m to support people experiencing street homelessness and people 

threatened with homelessness, to help them secure accommodation during 

the COVID-19 outbreak, which was allocated to 274 local authorities. 

 £75m (£23m 2020/21, £52m 2021/22) substance misuse funding allocated to 

43 areas, to help people experiencing street homelessness recover from 

alcohol or drug dependency.  

 £90k for St Basil’s Youth Voice Programme, to ensure the voices of people 

with lived experience of homelessness inform and influence national and 

local homelessness policy and strategy.  

 £2m Transformation Fund, administered by Homeless Link, for voluntary 

organisations to make more self-contained emergency accommodation 

available.  

 £15m allocated to 19 local authority areas with the highest levels of rough 

sleeping, to make sure they have accommodation, as new national 

restrictions start.  

 £310m homelessness prevention grant for all local authorities, to deliver local 

strategies and services for preventing homelessness. 

Page 69



 

28 
 

 £10m allocated to all local authorities to house people experiencing street 

homelessness and help them register with a GP, during the restrictions that 

came into force in early 2021.   

  

Page 70



 

29 
 

2.0  Levels of homelessness 
This chapter considers the current and future likely levels of homelessness in the 

Fareham local authority area, comparing these to countywide regional and national 

trends. 

The Council collects statistics on statutory homelessness, plus some intelligence on 

single and street homelessness. There is no coordinated collection of statistics on 

hidden homelessness from either public authorities or voluntary organisations, 

however, this is typical throughout the country. During 2018/19, 2% (541,000) of 

households in England reported having at least one adult ‘sofa surfing’ in their home 

who would otherwise be homeless. This was found to be more common in the South 

East and London, and 29% of these c541,000 sofa surfing adults had children living 

with them 46. As Chart 3 below shows, an adult sofa surfing in England is twice as 

likely to be doing so in an occupied property than other tenures. However, the 

number of people sofa surfing in private rented a social rented housing exceeds the 

size of these tenures, relative to the overall housing market.  

Chart 3: Percentage and likelihood of adults ‘sofa surfing’ by tenure in England during 

2018/19      

 

Source: Office of National Statistics 

Where data is available, the Council’s levels of homelessness have been compared 

with that of: 

 Hampshire local housing authorities:  

o Basingstoke and Deane   
o East Hampshire  
o Eastleigh  
o Gosport  
o Hart  

                                            
46 English Housing Survey 2018-19 ‘Sofa surfing’ and concealed households’, Ministry of Housing, Communities 

and Local Government, Office of National Statistics, 2019 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

Owner occupied Privately Rented Social Rented

% of Stock in England % of tenure type containing at least one sofa surfer

Page 71



 

30 
 

o Havant  
o New Forest  
o Portsmouth  
o Rushmoor 
o Southampton 
o Test Valley 
o Winchester   
o South East England 
o England excluding London 
o All of England. 

 

Collectively these areas are referred to throughout the report as the benchmarking 

group.  

Criminal justice agencies monitor the number of offenders who leave prison with no 

fixed abode. While this data is submitted to national governments, local authorities 

do not benefit from having this intelligence shared with them.  

2.1 Current levels of homelessness 
From 2018 an initial assessment must be carried out for each household 

approaching the Council in accordance with the new duty imposed by HRA1747, to 

establish their eligibility and homelessness status, as well as what, if any, duty is 

owed. The number of households in Fareham who were provided with an initial 

assessment increased by 53 (11.4%) between 2018/19 and 2019/20. 293 (79%) of 

those initially assessed in 2018/19, and 297 (70%) in 2019/20, were found to be 

owed a homelessness duty by the Council.  

Chart 4: Homelessness Initial Assessments, Fareham Borough Council, 2018/19 to 

2019/20 

 

Source: Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 

                                            
47 Housing Act 1996 s.189A(1) 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

2018/19 2019/20

Initial assessments of which owed a prevention duty of which owed a relief duty

Page 72



 

31 
 

 

The new HRA17 statistical recording is not yet mature enough to be fully analysed 

by itself and will require at least five years of data before trends will become clear. 

Additionally, the UK Government’s response to the Covid-19 pandemic, in placing 

rough sleepers in temporary accommodation and banning evictions for a period, will 

have impacted on the workloads of the homelessness service and the statistics, and 

this may continue for some time.   

When comparing the Council with the Benchmarking Group, the local authority 

completed fewer initial assessments than the Hampshire County local authorities, 

South East regional and nationally for both 2018/19 and 2019/20, at 5.03 and 4.46 

per thousand households lower than All England.  

Chart 5: Total Initial Assessments per thousand households, Benchmarking Group, 

2018/19 to 2019/20 

 

 Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 

The mean number of assessments per thousand households for 2018/19 and 

2019/20 for the Hampshire local housing authorities was 9.68 and 9.67 

consecutively. The Council, at 7.4 were 2.28 per thousand households below this 

average for 2018/19, but 2019/20 saw this number increase by 1.06 assessments 

per thousand households to 8.46, which was 1.21 per thousand households below 

the mean number for this group. This was the third greatest increase of the thirteen 

Councils between the two years, after Portsmouth and Basingstoke and Deane. 

 

0.00

2.00

4.00

6.00

8.00

10.00

12.00

14.00

Fareham Hampshire South East England
Excluding
London

All England

2018/19 2019/20

Page 73



 

32 
 

Chart 6: Total Initial Assessments per thousand households, Hampshire local housing 

authorities, 2018/2019 to 2019/2020 

 

Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 

The Council assessed the lowest percentage of households as owed a 

homelessness duty following the initial assessment of the Benchmarking Group 

during 2018/19 and 2019/20, at 79%. This remained at the same proportion for both 

years and was between 16% and 17% lower than all the Benchmarking Group for 

2019/20. 

Chart 7: Percentage of assessed households owed a homelessness duty, Benchmarking 

Group, 2018/2019 to 2019/2020 

 

Source: Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 

0.00

5.00

10.00

15.00

20.00

25.00

F
a
re

h
a
m

B
a
s
in

g
s
to

k
e
 a

n
d

D
e

a
n
e

E
a
s
t 
H

a
m

p
s
h
ir
e

E
a
s
tl
e

ig
h

G
o
s
p
o

rt

H
a

rt

H
a

v
a

n
t

N
e

w
 F

o
re

s
t

P
o
rt

s
m

o
u

th

R
u

s
h

m
o
o

r

S
o
u
th

a
m

p
to

n

T
e
s
t 
V

a
lle

y

W
in

c
h

e
s
te

r

2018/19 2019/20

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Fareham Hampshire South East England without
London

All of England

2018/19 2019/20

Page 74



 

33 
 

The number of main housing duty48 decisions made on homelessness applications 

by the Council reduced year on year for the period 2015/2016 to 2018/19, to a low of 

79, as the initial impact of the HRA-17 changes became evident. There was an 

increase to the pre HRA-17 level in 2019/20 with 100 main duty decisions being 

taken, of which 55 (55%) were accepted as being owed the main duty. This was the 

lowest proportion of acceptances since 2016/17, although fewer main duty 

acceptances may be inevitable from 2018/19 onwards as a result of the HRA-17 

changes.   

Chart 8: Number of main duty applications and percentage of those accepted as being 

owed the main duty, Fareham Borough Council, 2015/16 to 2019/20 

 

Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 

The Council made the lowest number of main duty decisions per thousand 

households compared with the Benchmark Group for the period 2015/2016 to 

2018/19 and made 0.02 per thousand households more than Hampshire for 2019/20. 

As stated above, the reduction in main duty decisions at 2018/19 reflects the national 

picture, likely due to the enactment of HRA 17 requiring prevention and relief 

decisions to be made prior to a main duty decision. The number of main duty 

decisions per thousand households increased again in 2019/20 for all the 

Benchmark Group.  

 

                                            
48Housing Act 1996, Pt VII s193(2) 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Main Duty Decisions Main Duty Acceptances

Page 75



 

34 
 

Chart 9: Total number of main duty decisions taken per 1000 households, Benchmark 

Group, 2015/16 to 2019/20 

 
Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 

 

The Council accepted a lower proportion of main duty cases than all other 

Benchmarking group areas for all years within the period, with the exception of 

2015/16 when acceptances were the same as All England. This proportion only 

increased in 2019/20, in line with all Benchmarking group areas, though remained 

the lowest proportion. 

 
Chart 10: Main housing duty acceptances as a percentage of decisions taken, Benchmark 

Group, 2015/16 to 2019/20 

 

Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 

 

0.00

1.00

2.00

3.00

4.00

5.00

6.00

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Fareham Hampshire South East England without London All England

0.00

0.50

1.00

1.50

2.00

2.50

3.00

3.50

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Fareham Hampshire South East England without London All England

Page 76



 

35 
 

95.6% of Fareham residents are recorded as white British and 4.4% as Black and 

Minority Ethnic49 which corresponds with the 2019/20 homelessness applications 

which show that 95% of main applicants stated that they were White. An average of 

5% of main applicants accepted for a homelessness duty by the Council for the 

period 2015/16 to 2019/20 were recorded as ‘Ethnic Group not stated’ or ‘other/not 

known’, with 1% recorded as Black/Black British and 1% Asian/Asian British for 

2019/20. Ethnicity data is now recorded in HCLIC at the stage of prevention or relief 

duty, and recording requirements are now more comprehensive, therefore futures 

years will have full datasets which can be compared with the general population.  

 

Chart 11: Percentage of lead applicants accepted as being homeless and in priority need 

by ethnic group, Fareham Borough Council, 2015/16 to 2017/18  

Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 

                                            
49 Office of National Statistics 2011 Census 

82

84

86

88

90

92

94

96

98

100

102

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

White Other/Not Known

Page 77



 

36 
 

Chart 12: Percentage of lead applicants owed a prevention or relief duty by ethnic group, 

Fareham Borough Council, 2018/19 to 2019/20 

 

Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 

 

The age group of the main applicant most accepted for a main duty by the Council 

for the period 2015/16 to 2017/18 was those aged 25 - 44 years. Age Group is no 

longer recorded for those owed a main duty but is now recorded for those owed a 

prevention or relief duty, and the age groups are broken down further. Chart 13 

shows the age group of the main applicant accepted for a prevention or relief duty is 

25 - 34 years, followed by 35-44 years. The 18-24-year-old age group being the third 

highest age group shows an increase 9 households between 2018/19 to 2019/20, 

even taking account of 16/17-year-olds to compare with the numbers from 2015/16 

to 2017/18, this age group is increasing each year.  

 

Chart 13: Age group of main applicants owed a main duty (of those recorded) by 

percentage, Fareham Borough Council, 2015/16 to 2017/18  

92%

93%

94%

95%

96%

97%

98%

99%

100%

2018/19 2019/20

White Black/Black British Asian/Asian British Other Not Known

Page 78



 

37 
 

 

Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 

 

Chart 14: Age group of main applicants owed a prevention or relief duty, Fareham 

Borough Council, 2018/19 to 2019/20 

 

Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 

 

Of the main duty decisions made by the Council during 2019/20, 55(55%) were 

accepted as being eligible, unintentionally homeless and in priority need; owed the 

main homelessness duty to secure accommodation50. This is an increase of 7% on 

the previous year but lower than all other years.   

37 (37%) of main duty applications during 2019/20 were found to be eligible, 

homeless but not in priority need. This is the highest number for each of the five 

                                            
50 Housing Act 1996, Pt VII s193(2) 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

16-24 25-44 45-59

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

16-17 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65-74 75+

2018/19 2019/20

Page 79



 

38 
 

years analysed and may reflect the new duties from the HRA-2017 which, where 

homelessness is not resolved by the relief duty activities, may result in an increase in 

main duty applications from households that do not have a main duty priority need.   

Chart 15: Outcome of main housing duty decision for eligible households, Fareham 

Borough Council, 2015/16 to 2019/20 

  

Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 

The cumulative number of households recorded as being assessed who were found 

to be eligible, unintentionally homeless and in priority need during the period 

analysed for this review, at 309 households, is 62% of all decisions across the five-

year period. While the remaining 38% were not considered to be homeless but with 

no priority need, not homeless or intentionally homeless, there still a duty to provide 

advice and assistance to these households and, in some cases, further support to 

help resolve their homelessness difficulties would prevent homelessness recurring 

for these households.  

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90

Homeless, priority need, unintentionally
homeless

Homeless, priority need, intentionally
homeless

Homeless, no priority need

Not homeless

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Page 80



 

39 
 

Chart 16: Cumulative main duty decisions by outcome, Fareham Borough Council, 

2015/16 to 2019/20 

 

Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 

All households with dependent children are required to be recorded as being in 

priority need, irrespective of any other priority need(s) they may have. All other 

priority need categories will therefore only include single persons, couples, or 

families with no dependent children. As such, most households the Council owed the 

main duty are recorded as being in priority need due to being a household which 

includes dependent children for each of the five years analysed.  

The number of households which include a dependent child and are owed a main 

duty fell from 46 in 2015/16 to 25 2019/20. Meanwhile, the number households with 

no dependent children owed a main duty by the Council, with a priority need due to 

physical health problems, almost doubled from 6 to 15 households, and those with a 

priority need due to mental health problems, while lower than its previous high of 16 

during 2017/18, has increased from 5 to 8 households during 2018/19 to 2019/20.   

Priority need due to domestic violence or abuse appears low, with 2 cases recorded 

for 2018/19.  It is important to note that there will also be cases where domestic 

abuse is a priority need for a household with dependent children but will not be 

recorded within the domestic violence or abuse category as they are an automatic 

priority due to the dependent children. The reason for homelessness will however be 

recorded as being due to domestic violence or abuse.  

 

Homeless, priority need,
unintentionally homeless

Homeless, priority need,
intentionally homeless

Homeless, no priority need

Not homeless

Page 81



 

40 
 

Chart 17: Households owed a main homelessness duty by priority need category (where 

recorded), Fareham Borough Council, 2015/16 to 2019/20 

 
Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 

 

Additional priority need data collection categories with zero cases recorded include: 

 Other violence/threat of violence 

 Drug dependency 

 Alcohol dependency 

 Former asylum seeker 

 Vulnerable as a result of having been in care 

 Vulnerable as a result of having served in HM forces 

 Vulnerable as a result of having been in custody/on remand 

 Formerly in care, and aged 18 to 20 

0 10 20 30 40 50

Household includes dependent children

Household includes a pregnant
woman, no other dependent children

Household member vulnerable as a result of
Old age

Household member vulnerable as a result of
Physical disability / ill health

Household member vulnerable as a result of
Mental health problems

Young
 applicant

Domestic
 abuse

Homeless because of emergency

Other
reason/ Not Known

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Page 82



 

41 
 

As a result of the changes made by HRA 17, the ‘reason for loss of last settled 

home’ is now recorded for households owed a prevention or relief duty, and not for 

households owed the main duty. The chart below therefore only covers the reason 

for loss of last settled home for those households owed the main duty for the period 

2015/16 to 2017/18. Parents no longer willing or able to accommodate is the 

greatest recorded reason for loss of the last settled home, followed by other relatives 

or friends no longer willing or able to accommodate. Non-violent relationship 

breakdown with partner reduced from 9 households to 5 households in 2016/17 to 

2017/18, while violent breakdown or relationship with partner was recorded as 7 

households in 2017/18.  

Chart 18: Main reason for loss of last settled home for households owed a main duty 

(where recorded) Fareham, 2015/16 to 2017/18 

 

Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 

 

Additional loss of last settled home data collection categories with zero cases 

recorded include: 

 Racially motivated harassment 

 Other forms of harassment 

 Mortgage arrears 

 Rent arrears – all tenure 

 Left an institution such as prison, hospital, or left local authority care 

 Left HM forces 

 

With the exception of 2018/19, the highest proportion of households whose loss of 

their last settled home where a reason was recorded for 2015/16 to 2019/20 is family 

or friends no longer willing to accommodate, which reduced from 66.67 during 

2015/16 to 25.8% in 2019/20.  This reason for loss of last settled home is the 

0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14 16

Parents no longer willing or able to accommodate

Other relatives or friends no longer willing or able to
accommodate

Non-violent breakdown of relationship with partner

Violent breakdown of relationship, involving partner

Termination of assured shorthold tenancy

Other

2015-16 2016/17 2017/18

Page 83



 

42 
 

amalgamation of two categories from the former P1E and is therefore likely to be the 

largest category going forward.  The end of private rented assured shorthold the 

second highest reason for 2019/20 at 24.66%, a 2.48% increase from the previous 

year, 2018/19, followed by Other/Not Known, Non-violent relationship breakdown 

with partner and Domestic abuse, which reduced 2.1% between 2018/19 to 2019/20.  

Chart 19: Reason for loss of last settled home by percentage of households owed a 

homelessness duty, Fareham Borough Council, 2015/16 to 2019/20 

 
Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 

The Part 6 offer51 and acceptance of a social rented home was the main outcome 

each year for households no longer owed a main homelessness duty in Fareham 

over the period analysed, at a peak of 63 in 2016/17, reducing to 29 during 2019/20. 

The next greatest outcome for those no longer owed a main homelessness duty for 

                                            
51 Housing Act 1996, Part 6, section 193C A final offer of accommodation under Part 6, subsection (8) 

0.00 10.00 20.00 30.00 40.00 50.00 60.00 70.00

End of assured shorthold tenancy

End of non-AST private rented tenancy

Family or friends no longer willing or able
to accommodate

Non-violent relationship breakdown with
partner

Domestic abuse

Other violence or harrassment

End of social tenancy

Eviciton from supported housing

Left institution with no accommodation
available

Other reasons / not known

2015-16 2016/17 2017/18 2018-19 2019-20

Page 84



 

43 
 

the period was voluntarily ceased to occupy temporary accommodation, though this 

has also reduced from 13 to 8 from 2015/16 to 2019/20.  

Chart 20: Outcome of households no longer owed a main duty, Fareham, 2015/16 to 

2019/20 

 

Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 

An evaluation of the levels of rough sleeping is carried out annually in Fareham, in 

accordance with national guidance52, and in consultation with partners including, 

voluntary sector agencies, police, local faith groups, mental health agencies, 

outreach workers, substance misuse agencies and drug and alcohol teams. 

The 2020 evaluation followed the Everyone-In initiative and therefore only those who 

had refused accommodation were estimated to still be sleeping rough. This 

reduction, from 10 rough sleepers in 2019 to the estimated 3 in 2020, consisted of 

two males and one female, all of whom were aged over 26 years. Fareham also had 

                                            
52 Department for Communities and Local Government. (2010). Evaluating the extend of rough sleeping: A new 
approach.  

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70

Accepted social housing Pt 6 offer

Refused social housing Pt 6 offer

Accepted private rented sector offer

Refused suitable TA offer, withdrew or lost
contact

Became intentionally homeless from TA

Voluntarily ceased to occupy TA

Not known

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Page 85



 

44 
 

the greatest reduction between 2019 and 2020, and the lowest number of rough 

sleepers in 2020, per thousand households in the benchmarking group.  

Chart 21: Levels of rough sleeping per 1000 households, 2015 to 2020 

 
 

The proportion of female and male rough sleepers has reduced from one female to 
every four males to one in three during the 2020 evaluation.  As the total number of 
rough sleepers is particularly low for this year it is difficult to predict whether this 
trend will continue or the ratio reduce further to an equal number of female and male 
rough sleepers, although a general increase in homelessness among single females 
with no dependent children is now evident in Fareham. 
 

Chart 22: Rough sleepers by gender in Fareham, official annual count, 2017 to 2020  

 

Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 

0.00

0.20

0.40

0.60

0.80

1.00

1.20

1.40

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Fareham Hampshire

South East England without London

All England

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

Female Male Female Male Female Male Female Male

2017 2018 2019 2020

Page 86



 

45 
 

Rough sleepers in Fareham have historically been United Kingdom nationals. The 

non-UK nationals were found to be sleeping rough in Fareham was 2018, the year 

with the highest number of rough sleepers since nationalities were recorded.   

Chart 23: Number of rough sleepers in Fareham by Nationality 2017* to 2020 (*first year of this 

data collection)

 

Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

The over 26-year-old age group has been the group with the highest number of 

rough sleepers since age data was collected. There are no recorded cases of 

anyone under the age of 18 sleeping rough in Fareham during the past five years. 

Chart 24: Number of rough sleepers by age in Fareham, 2017* to 2020 (*first year of this 

data collection)  

   

Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

 

0
2
4
6
8

10
12
14
16
18

U
K

E
U

 (
N

o
n
-U

K
)

N
o

n
-E

U

U
K

E
U

 (
N

o
n
-U

K
)

N
o

n
-E

U

U
K

E
U

 (
N

o
n
-U

K
)

N
o

n
-E

U

U
K

E
U

 (
N

o
n
-U

K
)

N
o

n
-E

U

2017 2018 2019 2020

0

10

4

15

2

8

0

3

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18 - 25 Over 26 18 - 25 Over 26 18 - 25 Over 26 18 - 25 Over 26

2017 2018 2019 2020

Page 87



 

46 
 

2.2 Future levels of homelessness 
Research53 published in 2017 shows the primary cause of homelessness to be 

childhood poverty. This is closely followed by labour and housing market factors as 

secondary causes. 

To forecast future levels of homelessness, we have taken account of trends shown 

in homelessness statistics analysed in section 2.1 of this chapter, plus other sources 

of data relating to the main causes, to create as accurate a forecast as is possible.   

The latest child poverty figures, published July 2020, state that in the UK in 2018/19 

there were 4.2 million children (30% of all UK children) living in poverty. Housing and 

childcare are the two primary factors that have been identified as putting pressure on 

family budgets54. Figures published by the UK Government, showed the percentage 

of children living in poverty increased by 1% from 2015 to 2016 and have 

subsequently remained unchanged. This means current rates of child poverty are at 

the same level as seen in 2009/2010. Children are more likely, compared to the 

overall population, to be living in low-income households55. 

The number of all children in Fareham living in poverty after housing costs are taken 

account of in 2018/19 is 3421, 54 (0.2%) higher in 2018/19 than 2017/18 though 

lower than 2015/16 at 3533 children (20.3%).    

Chart 25: Number and percentage of children in poverty after housing costs, Fareham, 

2014/15 to 2018/19 

 

Source: Child Poverty Action Group. End Child Poverty 

                                            
53 Professor Glen Bramley & Professor Suzanne Fitzpatrick (July 2017), ‘Homelessness in the UK: 

who is most at risk’, Housing Studies Journal, pp1-21 
54 http://www.cpag.org.uk/content/child-poverty-facts-and-figures  
55 https://www.nomisweb.co.uk   

3250

3300

3350

3400

3450

3500

3550

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19

Number of children in poverty

Page 88

http://www.cpag.org.uk/content/child-poverty-facts-and-figures
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/


 

47 
 

Recently published research from Homeless Link56 found that one of the barriers to 

homeless young people succeeding included difficulty in gaining access to education 

training and employment, and in sustaining it. According to the research, 

appropriate, individual support by organisations that recognise the challenges young 

people face, is what is needed to help them thrive. The key recommendations for all 

tiers of government and service providers resulting from the research include several 

that Fareham Borough Council could consider, such as  

 recognise housing precarity within the responsibility for Children in Need 

 fund schools to identify and support young people at risk of homelessness’52 

 

The number of children living in poverty after housing costs per thousand 

households, show that Fareham had the lowest figures compared with the 

Benchmarking Group for the five-year period 2014/15 to 2018/19. At 77 for 2019/20, 

this number was 55% of the number of children living in poverty in All England. 

Chart 26: Children living in poverty after housing costs per 1000 household, Benchmark 

Group, 2014/15 to 2018/19 

 

Source: Child Poverty Action Group. End Child Poverty 

The number of people between the ages of 16 to 64 years who were economically 

active between April 2019 to March 2020 was 58,500.  Of those, 89.5% were in 

employment and 10.5% were self-employed.  

 

                                            
56 Young and Homeless 2020, Homeless Link October 2020 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19

Fareham Hampshire South East England without London All of England

Page 89



 

48 
 

Chart 27: Employment, self-employment and unemployment by number of 16 to 64-year 

olds, Fareham, 2019/20  

 
Source: ONS Nomis labour Market Statistics 

When employment and unemployment are displayed by percentage this shows that 

Fareham had a greater percentage of residents in employment and a lower rate of 

unemployment during October 2019 to September 2020, than Hampshire, the South 

East and England. 

Chart 28: Employment and unemployment by percentage of 16 to 64-year olds, 2019/20, 

Fareham, South East and England  

 

Source: ONS Nomis labour Market Statistics 

 

The most commonly occurring employment status of the main applicants owed a 

homelessness duty in Fareham is those not working due to long-term illness or 

disability for both 2018/19 and 2019/20, and this increased by 4 households during 

the two years. Of those main applicants who are working, there are a greater number 

0 10,000 20,000 30,000 40,000 50,000 60,000

Employed

Self Employed

Unemployed

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

Fareham Hampshire South East England

% In employment % Unemployed

Page 90



 

49 
 

working full time than part time for both years, although part time work increased 

from 35 to 53 households between 2018/19 to 2019/20. The number of main 

applicants owed a homelessness duty in Fareham that were registered unemployed 

increased by one to 60 in 2019/20, while those not seeking work/at home reduced by 

6 to 22 in the same years. 

Chart 29: Employment status of main applicants owed a homelessness duty in Fareham 

 

Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 

The age group with the greatest proportion of claimants receiving out of work 

benefits in Fareham in March 2020 was the 25 to 49 years at 52% of all claimants, 

followed by the 50+ age group at 27%, with the fewest in the 22-24year-old age 

group at 8%.  There were zero 16/17-year-old claimants in this period. 

 
Chart 30: Claimant count by age group - not seasonally adjusted March 2020, Fareham 

 

Source: ONS Claimant count by sex and age 

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80

Full-time…

Part-time…

Student / training

Registered unemployed

Not registered but seeking work

Not seeking work / at home

Not working due to long-term illness /…

Retired

Other

Not known

2018-19 2019-20

18 to 21 years 22 to 24 years 25 to 49 years 50+ years

Page 91



 

50 
 

 

Median house prices for Fareham at March 2020 were lower than Hampshire and 

the South East, but higher than England.   

Chart 31: Median house prices at March, 2020, Benchmark Group 

 

Source: ONS Median house price by local authority district, England and Wales 

The ratio of median house prices to median gross annual workplaces earnings in 

Fareham is 0.99 times lower than Hampshire and 1.24 times lower than the South 

East, but 0.66 times higher than these ratios are the latest published, in 2019.  It is 

therefore uncertain what impact the Covid-19 pandemic will have on these ratios in 

the future. 

Chart 32: Median house price to median gross annual workplace-based earnings ratio, 

2019, Benchmark Group 

 

Source: Office for National Statistics: House Price to Earnings Ratio. 

£0

£50,000

£100,000

£150,000

£200,000

£250,000

£300,000

£350,000

Fareham Hampshire South East England

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

Fareham Hampshire South East England

Page 92



 

51 
 

 

2.3 Conclusions about the levels of homelessness 
 Like most other areas, there is no systemic collection and analysis of statistics 

on hidden homelessness.  

 Initial assessments are increasing, with prevention cases reducing and relief 
cases increasing  

 Overall rates of homelessness locally are lower than those with comparator 
areas, although local rates are increasing, and this is not the case in areas 
which are coterminous to Fareham.  

 Following a four-year decline in the number and percentage of main duty 
decisions and acceptances, levels have begun to increase again. A main duty 
decision and acceptances are a less likely outcome in Fareham compared to 
elsewhere, suggesting action being taken to prevent or relieve homelessness 
has proven to be successful 

 Persons of a black or other minority ethnic origin are less likely to seek 
assistance from the Council’s homelessness service compared to those from 
a white ethnic origin.  

 The younger age profile of people getting homeless assistance is contrary to 
that of the population as a whole.  

 People are much more likely to be found as intentionally homeless and having 
a priority need for accommodation. It is now less likely for someone to be 
found to be not homeless but more likely to be found as to not having a 
priority need. It is always been far less likely that someone has been found to 
have been intentionally homeless and having a priority need.  

 Households which include a dependent child are more likely to be owed a 
main duty, despite rates falling over the past five years.  

 Single people with physical and or mental health problems have more than 
doubled.  

 Parents, other relatives, or friends no longer willing or able to accommodate 
continues to be the main reason for why a person loses their home when 
owed the main duty 

 Allocation of social rented housing remains the most common method for 
bringing a duty to an end.  

 It is positive that the numbers of people voluntarily assisted occupied 
temporary accommodation has reduced over the past five years, so has 
people who become intentionally homeless from temporary accommodation. 

 The reduction in rough sleeping is very positive, levels had begun to fall prior 
to the pandemic and rates accelerated downwards subsequently. Rough 
sleepers continue more likely to be male, UK nationals, aged over 26 years. 

 The rates of child poverty in Fareham have fluctuated in recent years, levels 
remain now what they were back five years ago.  

 It is positive that child poverty rates are considerably lower in Fareham 
compared to the benchmarking group.  

 Fareham’s overall population has a high employment rate and low 
unemployment rate compared to other areas. However, those who are 
homeless are much more likely to be unemployed compared to the general 
population and also not working due to long-term illness or disability. Just over 
half of all people claiming out of work benefits in Fareham are aged between 

Page 93



 

52 
 

25 and 49 years. This trend is mirrored in age profiles of those who are 
provided with homelessness assistance by the local authority or are found to 
be sleeping rough.  

 Fareham’s higher than average house prices mean that there will be some 
considerable demand for affordable housing to buy or rent. The higher than 
average house price to earnings ratio for Fareham, means that many people 
will struggle to pay their housing costs. 

  

Page 94



 

53 
 

3.0 Preventing homelessness 
This chapter considers activities to prevent homelessness in Fareham and compares 

these activities regionally and nationally.  

Homelessness prevention activity has been divided into three recognised strands57 

to inform the focus of this review:  

1. Early prevention – those most at risk are identified and services provided to 

prevent problems escalating  

2. Pre-crisis prevention – advice services, mediation, or negotiation with 

landlords to avoid the imminent loss of a home 

3. Preventing recurring homelessness – tenancy sustainment services are 

provided to address other support needs 

 

Prevention duty owed by household composition is shown by number and 

percentage of prevention duty owed cases in charts 33 and 34 below. The main type 

of household recorded as being owed a prevention duty by the Council for both 

years was single female parent with dependent children, in line with national trends. 

This increased by 2 households between 2018/19 and 2019/20 and remained more 

than 12 times greater than the number of single male parents with dependent 

children. The next largest group, single adult females (with no dependent children) 

reduced by 8 households between 2018/19 and 2019/20 and remained greater than 

single adult males. Couples without dependent children had the greatest increase 

over the period to 15 households owed a prevention during 2019/20. 

 

                                            
57 Hal Pawson, Gina Netto, Colin Jones, Fiona Wager, Cathie Fancy, Delia Lomax (2007), Evaluating 

Homelessness Prevention, London, Department for Communities & Local Government 

Page 95



 

54 
 

Chart 33: Household composition of those owed a prevention duty, Fareham, 2018/19 to 

2019/20 

 

Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 

When shown as a percentage of households owed a prevention duty, it is clear that 
more than 50% of household include dependent children, and almost 58% of lead 
applicants of all households owed a prevention duty were female. 
 
Chart 34:  Household composition of those owed a prevention duty by percentage of all 

cases where the duty is owed, Fareham, 2018/19 to 2019/20  

Source: Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government 

Relief duty owed by household composition is shown by number and percentage of 

relief duty owed cases in charts 35 and 36 below. The main type of household 

recorded as being owed a relief duty for the period 2018/19 to 2019/20 were single 

adult males (without dependent children), which increased by 14 during the period. 

This was followed by single adult female households (without dependent children), 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Single
parent

dependent
children

male

Single
parent

dependent
children
female

Single adult
male

Single adult
female

Couple with
dependent

children

Couple
without

dependent
children

Three +
adults with
dependent

children

Three +
adults
without

dependent
children

2018-19 2019-20

0.00
5.00

10.00
15.00
20.00
25.00
30.00
35.00
40.00
45.00

2018-19 2019-20

Page 96



 

55 
 

and single female parent households, which both remained at the same level for 

each year. There was a significant increase in single male parent households, and 

couples without children during the period analysed, though these remained small in 

number.  

Chart 35: Households composition of those owed a relief duty, Fareham, 2018/19 to 

2019/20 

 

Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 

When shown as a percentage, it is clear that more than 72% of all households owed 
a relief duty were single people, although more than 20% were households which 
include dependent children during 2019/20. 
 
Chart 36: Composition of households owed a relief duty by %, Fareham 

 
Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 

The largest group of main applicants by age of households owed a prevention or 

relief duty in Fareham during 2018/19 and 2019/20, were 25 to 34-year-olds, 

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90

Single parent dependent children male

Single parent dependent children female

Single parent dependent child…

Single adult male

Single adult female

Other Gender not known

Couple with dependent children

Couple without dependent children

Three + adults with dependent children

Three + adults without dependent children

2018-19 2019-20

0.00 10.00 20.00 30.00 40.00 50.00 60.00

Single parent dependent children male

Single parent dependent children female

Single parent dependent child…

Single adult male

Single adult female

Other Gender not known

Couple with dependent children

Couple without dependent children

Three + adults without dependent…

2018-19 2019-20

Page 97



 

56 
 

although the number of applicants in this age group did reduce by 11 households to 

79 between the two years. The number of main applicants aged 18 to 24 and 35 to 

44 both increased during the same period, by 9 and 11 households respectively.  

There were no households with a prevention or relief duty owed aged 16/17-year-

olds during 2019/20 and while those aged 45 to 54 years and 55 to 64 years showed 

minor increases, those aged over 65 showed reductions and remained small in 

number.  

Chart 37: Age of main applicants owed a prevention or relief duty, Fareham, 2018/19 to 

2019/20 

 

Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 

The end of private rented assured shorthold tenancy is the most commonly specified 

reason for the loss of last settled home for the period 2018/19 to 2019/20, increasing 

from 37% of all households owed a prevention duty in 2018/19 to 46% in 2019/20. 

The number of households recorded as losing their last settled home due to family 

and friends no longer willing or able to accommodate also increased from 11 

households in 2018/19 to 20 in 2019/20. Non-violent relationship breakdown with 

partner reduced by 1 household during the two-year period, while domestic abuse 

being the reason for loss of the last settled home went down by ten households to 2 

in 2019/20.  Other Reasons/Not Known for loss of last settled home includes 

emergency such as fire or flood, and the number of households owed a prevention 

duty in Fareham due to this reason also reduced by 10 households to 19 in 2019/20.   

 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

16-17 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65-74 75+

2018-19 2019-20

Page 98



 

57 
 

Chart 38: Reason for loss of last settled home for those owed a prevention duty, Fareham, 

2018/19 to 2019/20 

 

Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 

The most commonly recorded reason for loss of last settled home for households 

owed a relief duty is family or friends no longer willing or able to accommodate which 

increased by 16 households to 56 between 2018/19 to 2019/20. Households owed a 

relief duty losing their home due to non-violent relationship breakdown with partner 

increased from 16 to 23 households and those losing their less settled home due to 

domestic abuse rose by 7 to 22 households in 2019/20. Loss of assured shorthold 

for any reason rose from 7 to 12 over the period.  

 

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45

End of assured shorthold tenancy: rent arrears

End of assured shorthold tenancy: Breach of
tenancy

End of assured shorthold tenancy: landlord wanting
to sell or relet property

End of assured shorthold tenancy: Other reasons

End of non-AST private rented tenancy

Family or friends no longer willing or able to
accommodate

Non-violent relationship breakdown with partner

Domestic abuse

Other violence or harrassment

End of social tenancy: Rent arrears

End of social tenancy: Breach of tenancy

End of social teancy: Other reasons / not known

Eviciton from supported housing due to: Breach of
tenancy or licence

Eviction from supported housing: Other reasons / not
known

Left institution with no accommodation available

Required to leave accommodation provided by
Home Office as asylum support

Other reasons / not known

2018-19 2019-20

Page 99



 

58 
 

Chart 39: Reason for loss of last settled home for those owed a relief duty, Fareham, 

2018/19 to 2019/20

 

Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 

46% of all households owed a prevention duty for 2018/19, and 54% of those in 

2019/20, were living in self-contained privately rented accommodation at the time of 

application.  Households living with family was 17% of all those owed a prevention 

duty for 2018/19 and 21% for 2019/20. Households owed a prevention duty who 

were living in the social rented housing at the time of application reduced from 10.7% 

during 2018/19 of all households owed a prevention duty to 9.02% during 2019/20. 

This included council-owned housing, private registered provider owned housing and 

social rented supported housing.  Other/not known which includes other, unknown, 

caravan / houseboat, student accommodation, looked after children placement, tied 

accommodation, Armed Forces accommodation, reduced from 10.6% to 2.5% of all 

households owed a prevention duty during the two-year period. 

 

0 10 20 30 40 50 60

End of assured shorthold tenancy: rent arrears

End of assured shorthold tenancy: landlord
wanting to sell or relet property

End of assured shorthold tenancy: illegal
eviction

End of assured shorthold tenancy: Other
reasons

End of non-AST private rented tenancy

Family or friends no longer willing or able to
accommodate

Non-violent relationship breakdown with partner

Domestic abuse

Other violence or harrassment

End of social tenancy: Rent arrears

End of social tenancy: Breach of tenancy

End of social teancy: Other reasons / not
known

Eviciton from supported housing due to: rent
arrears

Eviciton from supported housing due to: Breach
of tenancy or licence

Eviction from supported housing: Other
reasons / not known

Left institution with no accommodation
available

Other reasons / not known

2018-19 2019-20

Page 100



 

59 
 

Chart 40: Accommodation at time of application for those owed a prevention duty, 

Fareham, 2018/19 to 2019/20 

 

Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 

No fixed abode was the most common recorded form of accommodation at the time 

of application, 42% at 2018/19 and 39% to 2019/20, of all households owed a relief 

duty. This was followed by living with family which increased from 19% to 20% of all 

households owed a relief duty in the same period. The number of households living 

with friends increased from 6% of all households owed a relief duty in 2018/19 to 

15% in 2019/20.  

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80

Private Rented Sector: Self Containted

Private Rented Sector: Housing in…

Private Rented Sector:  Lodging (not…

Social Rented: Council tenant

Social rented: Registered Provider tenant

Social Rented Sector: Supported…

Owner-occupier / shared ownership

Living with family

Living with friends

No fixed…

Refuge

National Asylum  (NASS) accommodation

Homeless on departure from custody

Homeless on departure from a general…

Homeless on departure from a…

Other

2018-19 2019-20

Page 101



 

60 
 

Chart 41: Accommodation at time of application for those owed a relief duty, Fareham, 

2018/19 to 2019/20  

 

Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 

56% of all households whose prevention duties ended in Fareham during 2018/19 

and 53% for 2019/20 were due to new accommodation being secured for at least 6 

months, while 9% and 10% respectively were due to being able to remain in existing 

accommodation.  For both years, 25% of households whose prevention duty ended 

in Fareham were due to becoming intentionally homeless.  When combined with no 

further action, contact lost, application withdrawn/deceased and refused suitable 

offer of accommodation, up to 37% of households whose prevention duty ended 

during 2018/19 to 2019/20 have resulted in potentially negative outcomes, which 

may have resulted in an unresolved homelessness situation for the household.  

 

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70

Private Rented Sector: Self Containted

Private Rented Sector: Housing in…

Private Rented Sector:  Lodging (not with…

Social Rented: Council tenant

Social rented: Registered Provider tenant

Social Rented Sector: Supported…

Owner-occupier / shared ownership

Living with family

Living with friends

Temporary accommodation

No fixed…

Rough…

Refuge

Homeless on departure from custody

Homeless on departure from a general…

Homeless on departure from a…

Other

2018-19 2019-20

Page 102



 

61 
 

Chart 42: Reason for prevention duty ending, Fareham 2018/19 to 2019/20 

 

Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 

The most common reason for the relief duty ending in Fareham is 56 days elapsing, 

which increased from 52% of all households whose relief duty ended during 2018/19 

to 58% during 2019/20. This is followed by accommodation secured for 6+ months, 

at 29% of all households whose relief duty ended during 2018/19 and 31% during 

2019/20, though this data set does not record the tenure of such accommodation.  

Chart 43: Reason for relief duty ending, Fareham, 2018/19 to 2019/20 

 

Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government  

 

 

3.1 Early Homelessness Prevention Activities 

 

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80

Stayed in existing accommodation

Moved to alternative accommodation

Homeless (including intentionally homeless)

Refused suitable accommodation offer

Contact lost

Withdrew application / applicant deceased

56 days elapsed and no further action

2018-19 2019-20

0 20 40 60 80 100 120

Secured…

56 days…

Local connection referral accepted by…

Intentionally homeless from…

Refused final accommodation

Notice served due to refusal to cooperate

Contact lost

Withdrew application / applicant deceased

No longer eligible

2018-19 2019-20

Page 103



 

62 
 

3.1.1 Universal advice and information 

A new ‘duty to refer’ came into force from October 201858. Specified public 

authorities are obliged to ask any person they believe might be homeless or 

threatened with homelessness if they wish to be referred to a local authority of their 

own choosing.   

The Council has made information available to relevant public bodies, such as 

probation services, prisons, social services, armed forces and local NHS Trusts, 

about how to make referrals of cases of homelessness. A joint Duty to Refer 

Protocol59 was established with Fareham and other Hampshire local authorities and 

this remains in place today, while a dedicated online referral form is available on The 

Council website60, plus a specific email address has been set-up.  

Fareham Local Housing Authority action on Duty to Refer 

An assessment61 of the Councils progress in the use of the duty to refer, carried out during 

this review, confirmed that the provision of advice, support and information for public 

authorities and other referral agencies is still developing. A Hampshire wide joint working 

protocol was agreed by the Hampshire local housing authorities in September 2018 and other 

actions are in place, including:  

 an online referral form that makes clear what information is required, 

 a dedicated duty to refer email address for enquiries and referral submission, 

 a range of different of ways in which to forward the referral to the Council,  

 a triage system for assessing and prioritising referrals, 

 a data collection process reported though HCLIC 

 a record of public authorities within Fareham who have a duty to refer 
Additional outcomes of the assessment highlighted actions which should be undertaken to 

ensure that referrals are made in every possible case by those public authorities who have a 

duty to refer, and to develop and improve relationships between organisations to prevent and 

relieve homelessness, including: 

 Involving public authorities and other referral agencies who have a duty to refer within 
the joint working protocol, including providing information and training on housing 
needs, to develop engagement and cooperation for each referral.   

 Actively encourage other public bodies, voluntary organisations, other persons and 
organisations to voluntarily comply with the duty to refer. 

 Make available printed and electronic housing advice information to the referring 
public authorities. 

 Mapping out the accommodation pathway for the person referred, and reference 
referral information when the personal housing plan is formulated. 

 Regular training of Housing Options Officers based on the national duty to refer 
guidance62, lesson plan63 and Homelessness Code of Guidance64, and ensuring 
officers are clear about timescales for responding to referrals. 

                                            
58 Homelessness (Review Procedure Etc) Regulations 2018, Part 4 Duty to Refer 
59 Hampshire Homelessness Referral Protocol, Hampshire Housing Authorities, September 2018,  
60 Duty to Refer online form 

https://www.fareham.gov.uk/PDF/housing/HampshireDutyReferralForm_Sept18.pdf 
61 Duty to refer: an opportunity to cooperate. Local authority self-assessment checklist 
62 Duty to Refer: an opportunity to cooperate to tackle homelessness, Local Government Association, 2018 
63 Duty to Refer Lesson Plan 
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/LGA%20Duty%20to%20Refer%20Training%20Plan.pdf 
64 Homelessness Code of Guidance, Chapter four, Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, 
2018 

Page 104



 

63 
 

 Create a record of the housing associations in the Borough that have signed up to the 
National Housing Federation’s Commitment to Refer and provide a copy of 
Commitment to Refer65 guidance for Housing Options officers to reference. 

 Developing a procedure setting out all tasks the Housing Options officer must 
undertake following a referral, including arrangements to provide proof of receipt when 
a referral is received by Fareham Borough Council.  

 Adding a duty to refer button to the homepage on the Council’s website, providing 
easy access to duty to refer information and referral form. 

Both the duty to refer and the commitment to refer are excellent opportunities to develop a 

strong multi agency approach to tackling homelessness at an individual level and putting 

these actions in place will foster this approach and enable the development or organisational 

relationships allowing for considerably earlier homelessness prevention opportunities across 

Fareham.  

 

During 2019/20, 17 referrals were recorded as being made to Fareham Borough 

Council, including 14 made under the new Duty to Refer.  As Table 1 illustrates, one 

referral was made by an adult secure estate, and 7 by the Probation Service or 

community rehabilitation company.  The timing of referrals of these offenders/ex-

offenders would be critical in being able to prevent homelessness rather than it 

having to be relieved as the referees had already become homeless.  The same is 

true for the three referrals from children’s social services, and one from mental 

health in-patient care, and with 11 households accepted by Fareham Borough 

Council as owed a prevention of relief duty during 2018/19 and 8 during 2019-20 

reporting their last settled home as an institution, opportunities for earlier referrals 

under this duty should be sought.  

Table 1: Households assessed for homelessness as a result of a referral including under 

the duty to refer, Fareham, 2019/20 

 
Referrals made to Fareham Borough Council including under Duty to Refer 2019/20 
 

 
Organisation Type 

 
Number of referrals 

Agency not subject to Duty to Refer 3 

Other organisation type/not known 0 

Children’s Social Services 3 

National Probation Service 4 

Adult Social Services 0 

Hospital A&E, Urgent Treatment Centres of in-patient care 0 

Mental health in-patient care 1 

Adult secure estate (Prison) 1 

Other local authority 2 

Job Centre Plus 1 

Community rehabilitation company 2 
Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government  

                                            
65 Commitment to Refer: Guidance for Housing Associations, National Housing Federations, 2020 

Page 105



 

64 
 

Many of the 30 housing associations that own social rented housing stock in 

Fareham local authority area have signed up to the National Housing Federation’s 

voluntary Commitment to Refer66, including:  

 Vivid Housing 

 Abri 

 Clarion Housing Group 

 Sanctuary Housing Association 

 The Guinness Partnership Limited 

 Places for People Group Limited 

 Home Group Limited 

The prevention of homelessness often starts with good housing advice. The Council 

provides an in-house housing advice service, from the main local authority offices. 

The responsibilities performed include: 

 Providing Housing advice, 

 Taking applications for homelessness assistance, 

 Determining eligibility for assistance, 

 Providing accommodation for an interim period to people who might be 

homeless, eligible for assistance and have a priority need, 

 Completing assessments and formulating personalised plans, 

 Fulfilling duties to prevent and/or relieve homelessness, provide 

accommodation to people who are unintentionally homelessness and have a 

priority need, plus provide advice and accommodation for a reasonable period 

to people who are intentionally homelessness and have a priority need, 

 Making referrals to other local authorities for persons who do not have a 

connection to Fareham Borough Council. 

 Completing reviews of decisions made about entitlements to assistance, 

 Ensuring suitability of accommodation offered, protection of persons property, 

working with children services when cases involve children, receiving referrals 

from specified public authorities, and  

 Detecting fraudulent applications for assistance.  

 

In addition to housing advice, the Council is also responsible for: 

 Responding to requests for assistance from other local authorities to 

discharge their homelessness duties, and 

 Completing a homelessness review and formulating a homelessness strategy. 
  

The Council delivers the homelessness and housing advice functions from the Civic 

Offices in Fareham. The Council’s website has an easily identifiable, specific housing 

button which is also a drop-down box, providing a selection of housing links including 

                                            
66 National Housing Federation. (2018). Commitment to refer: guidance for housing associations  

Page 106



 

65 
 

homelessness. This links to the dedicated homelessness page, which provides 

information about: 

 How to access the service over the telephone, by email and opening times 
and location of the Housing Advice Drop-in Service including the new 
arrangements during the Covid-19 pandemic 

 A weblink for help for rough sleepers via Streetlink 

 Information on HRA 2017 and the new duties, as well as a link to a non-

cooperation procedure for use in the event of deliberate and unreasonable 

refuse to cooperate by an applicant  

 Where to get independent advice, with links to Shelter and Citizens Advice 

websites 

 Information and a link to a more comprehensive document on the right to 

review 

 The Duty to Refer information and links to the dedicated email address and 

protocol 

 

The housing advice pages on the website set out the types of housing related issues 

which may require housing advice and provide a link to a set of advice sheets, and a 

self-assessment tool which helps to refine the type of fact sheet required. The advice 

sheets cover several housing related areas including: 

 Housing Benefits and Universal Credit 

 Discretionary Housing Payments  

 letting agents and private sector renting 

 Direct access hostels in Hampshire  

 floating support 

 domestic abuse services 

 

The advice sheets are basic but informative and simple to read.  They include 

telephone and email contact details for the housing advice service as well other 

appropriate independent advice agencies and other organisations. All pages and fact 

sheets encourage the reader to contact the Housing Options team if their situation is 

urgent. The Council’s webpages all have an ‘accessibility’ button which allows the 

reader to enlarge the font and change the colour scheme but there does not appear 

to be accessible advice for those with other sight problems, hearing loss, mobility, 

learning disability, language or other needs as required by the 2018 Homelessness 

Code of Guidance67. Some of the information is out of date and there are some gaps 

in the advice provided in the sheets, such as information on HRA-17.   

 
3.1.2 Targeted action 

There are specific homelessness prevention initiatives to respond to the common 

characteristics of adults who experience homelessness, such as alcohol 

                                            
67 Homelessness Code of Guidance, Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government, para 3.6, 2018. 

Page 107



 

66 
 

dependency, street drinking, use of hard drugs, begging, injecting drugs, being 

charged with a violent criminal offence, abuse of solvents/gas/glue, engaging in sex 

work, being a victim of a sexual assault68. StreetAid, a multi-agency initiative led by 

the Council, to help those rough sleeping off the street and into accommodation, has 

been so successful it has now been subsumed into the Community Safety 

Partnership Action Group (PAG). 

Street Aid/Community Safety Partnership Action Group  

StreetAid started as a stand-alone multi-agency initiative, in response to town centre rough 

sleeping, begging and drug use, with the aim of helping rough sleepers off the streets with 

targeted support. 

Meetings with all agencies in attendance focussed on community safety led discussions 

about individual rough sleepers, their street location and specific vulnerabilities and support 

needs.  With officers from the Police, Fire Service, Environmental Health, Community Safety, 

substance misuse  and rough sleeper support services, NHS mental health, Adults and 

Children’s services, and Fareham Housing Options in attendance the group had a 

comprehensive package of advice and support to offer the rough sleepers.  

Stakeholders reported that the initiative was very different from the usual enforcement 

approach and focussed on engagement and support, as many times as it took to help each 

person off the street.   

Everyone sleeping on the street in Fareham has been offered engagement and support.  The 

reduction in the number of rough sleepers from 9 in 2019 to just three currently sleeping 

rough is a result of this engagement. These individuals are still regularly offered support in the 

hope that this will at some point be accepted. Many other individuals responsible for anti-

social or criminal activity, such as the misuse of drugs, have also been helped through this 

partnership, not just those sleeping rough. 

 

The success of StreetAid has been down to the level of engagement from all partners, as 

they all have a stake in successful outcomes for the individuals assisted within their own 

areas of responsibility. The initiative continues to work well, as new or repeat rough sleeping 

emerges, and this success has resulted in StreetAid being incorporated into the Community 

Safety Partnership Action Group (PAG), a tactical group of operational partners, and will 

continue indefinitely. The partnership is clear that they are preventing and relieving 

homelessness as well as improving community safety.   

 

The Probation Service  

The Probation Service attends the Fareham Community Safety Partnership Action 

Group (PAG), which is a multi-agency group tackling specific community issues 

which include homelessness. Hampshire and Isle of Wight Community Rehabilitation 

Company (CRC), is located in the same building as Fareham Housing Options 

Service. The CRC supervises offenders in the community, including in hostels for 

prison leavers in Fareham, Portsmouth and Southampton, and delivers the Through 

the Gate service to help prisoners nearing release to improve wellbeing and skills 

and address substance misuse. The website also states that the support offered for 

                                            
68 Professor Suzanne Fitzpatrick, Dr Sarah Johnsen, Dr Michael White (2011), ‘Multiple Exclusion 
Homelessness in the UK: Key Patterns and Intersections’, Social Policy & Society, 10(4), p501-512 

Page 108



 

67 
 

offenders includes areas such as accommodation. This is important as prisoners can 

be released to unknown addresses or no address but should be released to a safe 

address and assisted in securing longer term accommodation according to their 

needs, to prevent homelessness and repeat offending. There is no current joint 

protocol between Housing Options and the Probation Service.  

Youth Offending Team 

The Hampshire Youth Offending Team takes a multi-agency approach to preventing 

and reducing the number of young people in the criminal justice system.  While there 

is currently limited joint working with Fareham Borough Council Housing Options 

Team, the early preventative approach is also an opportunity for early homelessness 

prevention. 

Care Leavers  

Hampshire County Council Care Leavers Service provides all those leaving care a 

personal adviser to help with accessing housing, as well as health services, 

finances, employment, training and education, until the care leaver reaches the age 

of 21, or 25 if in full time education. The County Council has a responsibility to 

prepare children in care for becoming adults and living independently69. The 

Personal Adviser, who takes on this role when the child in care reaches the age of 

16, sees care leavers every two months to ensure that they are managing to live 

independently as a duty. Accommodation options for care leavers arranged by 

Children’s Services include supported housing, supported lodgings, shared housing 

and privately renting, and if an independent living option is chosen, a set up fund of 

up to £2,000 is provided by Children’s services for essential items.  

The Children in Care webpage provides links to Shelter for support where a care 

leaver is having difficulties with housing or homelessness and where they may need 

to challenge the housing authority. There is limited engagement between Fareham 

Housing Options Service and Children’s Services, However, there is a very good 

relationship with the County Council’s care leaving service and personal advisors. 

Data shows three young people being assessed as owed a prevention duty in 

Fareham, and Table 1 (above) shows that Children’s Services referred three young 

people through the Duty to Refer. This demonstrates that young people are 

becoming homeless or threatened with homelessness, however for the period of this 

review, 2015/16 to 2019/20, there were no care leavers or former care leavers 

recorded as being owed a homelessness duty. 

Regular armed forces veterans 

The Council, which adopted armed forces covenant in 2014, provides an advice 

sheet for the armed forces community providing links to specialist veterans 

organisations and charities providing housing advice. This includes armed forces 

charity Soldiers, Sailors, Airmen and Families Association (SSAFA) which provides 

former serving armed forces personnel information on the options around housing 

                                            
69 Children and Social Work Act 2017, s1(1), 

Page 109



 

68 
 

and homelessness and will work to secure financial help to fund a tenancy deposit or 

clear mortgage arrears.  

The Veterans Gateway also provides information on housing and living 

independently for armed forces veterans and has launched an App to help veterans 

find local services. 

Riverside Housing Group provide a national helpline for armed forces veterans 

facing homelessness, SPACES (Single Persons’ Accommodation Centre for the Ex-

Services), provide an advice and housing placement service with access to 

supported housing in Hampshire providing for the complex needs of veterans with 

issues including post-traumatic stress and/or substance misuse. The offer to ex-

service personnel extends to floating support once the veteran has moved on to 

independent accommodation.   

Alabare is a homelessness care and support charity offer 20 bedspaces of supported 

accommodation for homeless ex forces personnel with high support needs in 

Fareham and Gosport and four move-on spaces, which are all offered for a 

maximum of one year, with follow on support for a limited period.    

Domestic Abuse 

The Council provide a web page with advice for people suffering domestic abuse, 

which has been updated to include information on how to get help during the Covid-

19 crisis when the order is to stay at home. The web page includes a link to the main 

domestic abuse partner, SDAS (Southern Domestic Abuse Services trading as Stop 

Domestic Abuse), a Hampshire based charity providing accommodation-based 

services, including refuges and other temporary accommodation, as well as outreach 

and resettlement support and advice, and a 24-hour advice line. Support and advice 

is also offered to women, children and men who are not staying at a refuge but are 

still in need of information and support. A recent innovative approach to offering help 

to victims who are having to isolate with the perpetrator is the virtual Stop Domestic 

Abuse drop-in service on Facebook, which includes information, training 

opportunities and a way to contact the service discreetly. 

Leaving Hospital 

There is some information on the NHS, CCG and County Council websites about 
discharge from hospital, but there is no information about what happens when a 
patient being discharged is, or becomes, homeless.  There was previously no 
reported collaboration on this issue and anecdotally discharge was made into an 
emergency situation when potentially unsuitable temporary accommodation has to 
be provided either by Adult Social Care or Fareham Council Temporary 
Accommodation Team. However, the housing options team have recently started 
working with health and social care colleagues to make improvements in this area.   
 

Experiencing mental illness  

Page 110



 

69 
 

Southern Health NHS have a specialist mental health service working with adults 

who have a history of multiple and complex needs for example dual diagnosis, 

although a primary diagnosis of psychosis is required for a referral.   

The Richmond Fellowship is commissioned by Hampshire County Council to provide 

support for those with mental health problems to help to prepare for managing 

independent accommodation. The Fellowship has considerable experience of 

helping clients that have been through their pathway to turn their lives around and 

live independently, although they report that the different degrees of mental health is 

a stumbling block to helping someone make a homeless application and the 

response from housing options officers is inconsistent. However, the housing option 

service has recently started work to rectify this. 

Substance misuse 

Inclusion is a service commissioned by the NHS to provide substance misuse and 

addiction support and recovery planning and work with other agencies, Housing 

Options and Two Saints in particular, to prevent eviction or help secure housing for 

their clients.   

Supported housing 

Two Saints are a homelessness support charity, providing a community drop-in 

services at the Council offices and a telephone support an advice line to individuals 

and families facing difficulties with housing, and other related issues. Two Saints are 

also commissioned by Hampshire County Council to provide support and supported 

accommodation, including hostel accommodation, to homeless households. 

Information provided by Hampshire shows that for quarter two during 2020/21, 54 

individuals were provided with support by Two Saints under the contract, the majority 

of which was to rough sleepers and households placed in bed and breakfast.  

 

3.2 Pre-crisis homelessness prevention activities 
Pre-crisis homelessness prevention activities are carried out by the Council’s 

Housing Options Service. These activities can be divided into two broad areas: 

assistance that helps people to remain in their existing accommodation or, when this 

is not safe or possible, help to obtain alternative accommodation. These activities 

are typically carried out anytime between when someone is homeless, and up to two 

months prior to someone potentially losing their home, and occasionally even further 

ahead in time. MHCLG’s homelessness statistical recording from 2009/1070 (until 

2017/18, following which recording methods were changed), detailed pre-crisis 

homelessness prevention activities typically carried out throughout England as 

shown below:  

 

                                            
70 Department for Communities and Local Government. (2009). Recording homelessness prevention 

and relief at E10 of the P1E quarterly return: Further guidance for local housing authorities.  

Page 111



 

70 
 

Homelessness Prevention Activities to Remain in Existing Home  

Mediation using external or internal trained family mediators 

Conciliation including home visits for family/friends threatened exclusion 

Financial payments from a homelessness prevention fund  

Debt advice 

Resolving housing benefit problems 

Resolving rent or service charge arrears in the social or private rented sectors 

Sanctuary scheme measures for domestic violence 

Crisis intervention – providing emergency support 

Negotiation or legal advocacy to ensure someone can remain in accommodation in 

the private rented sector 

Providing other assistance that will enable someone to remain in the private rented 

sector 

Mortgage arrears interventions or mortgage rescue 

Homelessness Prevention Activities to Obtain Alternative Accommodation 

Any form of hostel or house of multiple occupation with or without support 

Private rented sector accommodation with landlord incentive scheme 

Private rented sector accommodation without landlord incentive scheme 

Accommodation arranged with friends or relatives  

Supported housing, including supported lodging schemes 

Management move of an existing social housing tenant 

Housing register offer or nomination of accommodation to a social landlord 

Negotiation with an RSL outside housing register or nomination arrangements 

Low cost homeownership scheme or low-cost market housing solution 

The reduction in the number of cases where positive action succeeded in preventing 

homelessness from a high of 141 in 2017/18 to 79 in 2019/20 coincide with the HRA-

17 implementation.   The numbers may be impacted by the additional burdens this 

new Act created and other factors, such as, the increasing cost of the private rented 

sector, a greater number of people becoming homeless, and fewer new social 

housing lettings. These outcome figures will be impacted further in the 2020/21 year, 

as a result of the response to Covid-19, and it may be some time before the rate of 

successful preventions increases to earlier levels. 

 

Page 112



 

71 
 

Chart 44: Number of cases where positive action succeeded in preventing homelessness, 

Fareham, 2015/16 to 2019/20  

  

 

Accommodation found by the applicant and secured with the financial support of the 

Council, such as help with rent in advance or a rent deposit for a private sector 

assured shorthold tenancy, was the main activity that secured accommodation to 

prevent homelessness during 2019/20. This was more common than 

accommodation secured by the local housing authority, usually in the form of social 

rented housing, which was the most common during 2019. The increase in the 

numbers secured with financial help contrasts with the reduction in the number of 

those where non-financial help was used to secure accommodation from eight to five 

households during 2018/19 to 2019/20. The second most common prevention 

activity used to secure accommodation during 2019/20 was advice and information, 

doubling from 2018/19.  It is important to review why this activity has become more 

successful and consider action to focus on this area. 

 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Page 113



 

72 
 

Chart 45: Main prevention activity that resulted in accommodation being secured, 

Fareham, 2018/19 to 2019/20

 

 Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 

The number of households assisted to remain in their existing home prior to 2018/19 

was low.  This is in contrast to the number helped to secure alternative 

accommodation, which increased year on year between 2015/16 and 2017/18. 

 

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35

Accommodation secured by local authority

Helped to secure accommodation found by
applicant, with financial payment

Helped to secure accommodation found by
applicant, without financial payment

Supported housing provided

Negotiation / mediation work to secure return to
family or friend

Negotiation / mediation / advocacy work to
prevent eviction / repossession

Discretionary Housing Payment to reduce
shortfall

Other financial payments (e.g. to reduce
arrears)

Other

No activity – advice and information provided

2018/19 2019/20

Page 114



 

73 
 

Chart 46: Homelessness prevented or relieved - households to remain in existing home, 

or assisted to obtain alternative accommodation, Fareham, 2015/16 to 2017/18 

 
Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 

 

Housing Benefit Administration  

Joint working between the Housing Benefits service and the Housing Options team 

is proactive and effective. The Council considers the Housing Benefits service to be 

a people function as well as a financial one. Both teams are in the same department, 

located within the same office space and understand that they share not only a client 

group, but also objectives in helping to prevent and relieve homelessness. 

 

Discretionary Housing Payments 

The Housing Benefits service actively promotes DHP’s (Discretionary Housing 

Payments), including on its comprehensive web pages71, in plain language with a 

link entitled Extra Help.  This link takes the reader to a separate page which is well 

set out and clearly provides all the information an applicant needs about DHPs 

including a simple budgeting tool and details of all three ways to apply, in person at 

the Council offices, over the telephone or at the applicant’s home if they are ill or 

disabled and unable to attend the Council offices.  Applications cannot be made 

without this face to face or telephone call with a Housing Benefits officer.  Currently, 

most appointments are over the telephone and this has not led to any reduction in 

quality of service.  There would also normally be a drop-in service where officers aim 

to get the DHP applied for and payment agreed while the customer is still in the 

building. 

While many local authorities are switching to online application and self-service, 

Fareham have seen great results in reducing customer contact and preventing 

homelessness by ensuring that the resources are put where the demand is.  

                                            
71 Housing Benefits Webpages, Fareham Borough Council, https://www.fareham.gov.uk/benefits/intro.aspx 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Prevented or Relieved: Assisted to obtain alternative accommodation

Prevented: Able to remain in existing home

Page 115



 

74 
 

Essentially, putting experienced Housing Benefit officers on the front line and 

assisting applicants to complete the DHP form at the initial contact or shortly 

afterwards, ensures the form is completed correctly with all required information and 

can be processed quickly without the applicant being passed from one officer to 

another, or the applications being left for when the telephones are quiet, and the 

officers have a little time to catch up on admin.  

Treating the customer as a person and not a piece of paper can mean having to 

provide a high level of support, but this is where the process adds value. The 

experienced officers will ascertain through the face to face or telephone 

appointment, the reasons for needing the DHP.  Where the need is due to ill health 

or disability the DHP is likely to be awarded for a longer term, and the applicant is 

assisted to apply to join the social housing register for more affordable and often 

more suitable rented accommodation. Where the need is due to affordability, the 

officer will work with the Housing Options team to investigate the reasons for this, 

such as a reduction in working hours, redundancy, increase in rent of other financial 

problems, and if it is apparent that the tenancy cannot be rescued, a short term DHP 

will be put in place and Housing Options will start the initial assessment process.   

When the Housing Benefits service are notified by DWP that a household is 

receiving the housing element of Universal Credit, they will contact the applicant and 

discuss their financial situation to ascertain the need for a DHP and refer to Housing 

Options for homelessness prevention activity as necessary.  ‘We have learned that 

you have got to pick up the phone.  An awful lot gets discussed during that phone 

call, things that the applicant may have forgotten to add to the form if we didn’t ask, 

and if we can get it sorted during that phone call the customer is always very 

grateful.’ 

Housing Benefit officers report that they used to feel protective of the DHP allocation, 

but this has shifted to seeing the ‘pot’ as money that has been allocated to support 

the local community and to considering what difference the additional money would 

make to the customer. 

     

Debt Advice Services  
 

Citizens Advice 

There is long history of joint working between Housing Options and Citizens Advice 

Fareham (CAF), with the Council referring service users to CAF for free impartial 

advice to help prevent or relieve homelessness. CAF provide this over the 

telephone, face to face at the County Library Building and other drop-in locations, or 

online. The online debt advice is comprehensive and makes very clear that if eviction 

or bailiff proceedings are taking place, CAF should be contacted immediately, but the 

pages are not all easy to navigate or access and may be overwhelming for people 

with complex needs. The service includes general money and debt advice as well as 

a specialist debt adviser for those with substantial debt. CAF confirm that the good 

Page 116



 

75 
 

partnership working is making a difference, however data is not regularly shared, 

and it is not currently possible to ascertain the outcomes from this joint working.   

Community Money Advice (CMA)  

Fareham has a local branch of the national charity who train volunteers to become 

‘money mentors’ providing free, confidential debt advice to anyone in in the 

community who needs it, including via Zoom video calls if required.  

Private rented sector enforcement officers 

The Fareham and Gosport Environmental Health Partnership includes a small team 

of private sector housing officers that deal with private rented sector landlord and 

tenant issues. This team have all received training on how to work with tenants 

effectively to help resolve issues rather than immediately serving notice on the 

landlord.  Therefore, enforcement is the last resort. The service offered is flexible 

and includes initiatives such as helping to take away rubbish from the home and 

garden where they may have threatened action against the tenant, encouraging the 

tenant to clean and decorate the home and take some personal responsibility for its 

upkeep, and checking in on the tenant regularly to keep the encouragement going. 

Joint working with the Housing Options service is proactive and effective. For 

example, when a property must be closed, for repairs to ensure occupants safety, 

both teams work together to secure alternative accommodation for the displaced 

residents. The private sector team regularly carry out prevention activities, but these 

are not recorded and therefore not included in the Council’s recorded homelessness 

prevention outcomes. 

Sanctuary Scheme 

A Sanctuary Scheme is a multi-agency victim-centred initiative which aims to enable 

households at risk of domestic violence, to remain safe in their own homes, by 

installing a ‘Sanctuary’ in the home and through the provision of support to the 

household. There is a property that can be used as used temporary accommodation, 

whenever required by the Council, for victims and their families who are escaping 

domestic abuse. However, there is no Sanctuary Scheme for Fareham at present.  

Housing possession court duty scheme (HPCDS) 

The HPCDS for Fareham residents facing immediate, on the day possession 

proceedings action is based in Portsmouth and is manned by Swain and Co., who 

provide free legal advocacy and advice regardless of means.  Swain and Co’s 

specialist advisers, funded by the Legal Aid Agency for this work, will try and 

negotiate with a landlord or lender, and write to the applicant after the hearing with 

follow up advice.  The Housing Options team do not currently attend court or receive 

monitoring information regarding Fareham residents attending the Housing 

Possession Court.  

Pre-eviction protocols 

Effective pre-eviction protocols with housing associations provide an early 

opportunity to work in partnerships with the housing association landlord and their 

Page 117



 

76 
 

tenants at risk of eviction action, helping to facilitate behaviour change in the case of 

antisocial behaviour, or money and debt advice and financial support in the case of 

rent arrears.  There are no current pre-eviction protocols in place, however some 

housing associations have expressed an interest in agreeing these.   

Rent deposit bond and rent in advance  

Rent deposit and rent in advance are normally paid by the Housing Benefits service 

through the award of a DHP and there is no specific fund for rent deposits or other 

assistance. The Housing Options team offer two financial assistance schemes to 

help prevent or relieve homelessness: 

 The Tenancy Assistance Fund provides loans to help resolve housing 

difficulties, including non-priority single homeless households.   

 The Tenancy Rescue Fund, which is a grant for households with rent arrears 
that can be awarded from the first day the household is accepted as being 
owed the prevention duty, with the aim of resolving the housing difficulties as 
early as possible.     

 

These schemes are funded through a homelessness reserve, which is not 

guaranteed to be available. Between April 2019 and March 2021, the following 

grants and loans were approved.  

Table 2: Financial profile of schemes funded from homelessness reserves 

Name of Scheme Amount approved Number of 
cases 

approved 

Average spend per 
case 

Tenancy assistance 
fund 

£82,482 80 £1018 

Tenancy Rescue fund £1442 1 £1442 

 

3.3 Preventing the reoccurrence of homelessness 
Prevention of the reoccurrence of homelessness is typically carried out by a mixture 

of public authorities, housing associations and voluntary organisations. This might 

involve providing information, advice, assistance or counselling about health, 

education, relationships, housing, money, employment and much more. There is 

variable local verifiable statistical evidence on the volume of activity being carried 

out, and outcomes being achieved. There is plenty of anecdotal material that has 

been considered as part of this review. An evaluation of this can be found in chapter 

5 of this Homelessness Review.  

 

3.4 Conclusions about activities to prevent homelessness 
 More than half of all households seeking homeless prevention assistance 

featured a female as the head typically with responsibility for dependent 
children. Whereas households seeking homelessness relief assistance are 
much more likely to be a single adult, more than often male. Three-quarters of 

Page 118



 

77 
 

them are aged below 44 years, with almost one third of them being aged 
between 25 and 34 years.  

 Homelessness prevention cases typically arise due to a landlord wanting to 
sell or re-let their property which result in them bringing an assured shorthold 
tenancy is to an end. Whereas homelessness relief cases typically arise due 
to family or friends no longer being willing or able to continue to accommodate 
someone.  

 Helping people to move to alternative accommodation is the primary method 
for preventing homelessness. It is more common for people to become 
homeless than be helped to remain in their existing home. For those in a relief 
duty, the majority are not helped within the 56-day timeframe, but instead go 
on to be assisted under the main duty. However, it’s important to note that a 
growing proportion of people are helped to obtain accommodation.  

 Positive steps, such as the Hampshire wide duty to refer protocol, have been 
taken as part of the introduction of the duty to refer, to ensure public bodies 
can refer cases to the Councils homelessness service. However, referral rates 
are low with the National Probation Service being the primary referring 
agency.  

 There is a clear suite of information available online about the Council's 
homelessness responsibilities along with practical information for people in 
housing need. However, there is a limit to the scope of this advice and not all 
of it is up to date. There is a provision of independent housing advice, part 
funded by the Council, which ensures people are able to get assistance to 
protect and uphold their housing rights. 

 The StreetAid initiative has achieved tremendous outcomes, this should be 
promoted as an example of positive practice. 

 Firm foundations for an effective working relationship with the Probation 
service are already in place, however, more could be done to establish a 
stronger partnership with the youth offending team and the County Council’s 
Care Leaver Service. The various arrangements in place (some of which are 
shared with the neighbouring Gosport Borough Council) to support armed 
forces personnel are very positive. As is the current provision available to 
victims escaping domestic abuse. There is considerable scope for improving 
joint working arrangements around hospital discharge for people at risk of 
homelessness. Likewise, despite there being a range of mental health 
services available for people who are at risk of homelessness, more work 
could be done to improve current working arrangements between the 
Council’s homelessness service and the County Council’s adult social care 
services.  

 Following a substantial increase in successful homeless prevention action by 
the local authority there has been a considerable reduction following the 
introduction of the HRA17. Notwithstanding this, it is notable that applicants 
are more likely to be helped to secure accommodation with benefit of financial 
payment from the local authority, suggesting that private sector housing is a 
primary solution for many people. This contrasts considerably to the high 
levels of people becoming homeless from the private rented sector. Prior to 
the commencement of the HRA 17, the local authority relied on preventing 
homelessness by assisting people to obtain alternative accommodation and 
very rarely was able to help people remain in their existing home. This 

Page 119



 

78 
 

contrasts with the national picture whereby outcomes were split fairly evenly 
between these two routes.  

 There is some hugely positive practice going on between the Council’s 
homelessness service and its housing benefit service, which is enabling 
effective use of the Discretionary Housing Payment budget and helping 
people to access private sector housing. 

 There is some smart joint working going on between the Councils 
homelessness service and a range of other local government and voluntary 
sector services, which helps to tackle debt and private rented sector housing 
issues.  

  

Page 120



 

79 
 

4.0 Securing accommodation 
This chapter focuses on activities to obtain accommodation for people who are or 

may become homeless. This includes temporary accommodation arranged by the 

Council, for households owed a duty of assistance and other accommodation 

secured to relieve homelessness from housing association and private sector 

housing.  

4.1 Temporary accommodation 
The Council’s Temporary Accommodation team procure and manage temporary 

accommodation, including providing support to tenants.  

Procurement of temporary accommodation 

Accommodation is actively sourced by the Temporary Accommodation team, 

although there is no current formal procurement strategy or framework in place. 

Temporary accommodation is procured by the Council from three main sources: 

Private sector landlords 

Properties are leased from the landlord and sublet to homeless households 

on a non-secure basis using a licence agreement drawn up by the in-house 

legal team, a shared service with Southampton City Council.  This includes 

properties sourced through the Farelets scheme, which include a rent 

guarantee to landlords, and a small number of these properties are located 

outside of Fareham. 

Registered social landlord 

A large local housing association provides a number of homes, and support 

for tenants through their in-house welfare team.  

Fareham Borough Council social housing stock 

Good use is made of some of the Council’s harder to let social housing for 

homeless households on a licence basis. Additional properties are also 

leased by the Council to Two Saints, who sublet these to homeless 

households as supported accommodation. 

Allocating temporary accommodation 

The Temporary Accommodation Officers allocate accommodation as it becomes 

vacant, aiming to meet the needs of the individual as best as possible within the 

constraints of availability of accommodation.  Officers report that the lack of choice 

within the current portfolio does cause issues for households in need of 

accommodation, particularly regarding expectation and type of location as well as 

standards. There is a suitability test carried out in accordance with legislation72, but 

no suitability policy or allocations policy are currently in place. Meeting the 

requirement to ensure that accommodation is suitable by developing an effective 

                                            
72 Housing Act 1996, s206 

Page 121



 

80 
 

policy which is compliant with regulations73 would enable appropriate allocation of 

temporary accommodation plus allow for lawful discharging of duty into the private 

rented sector74. 

Managing temporary accommodation 

The accommodation is manged by the temporary accommodation team, which 

includes three Tenancy Support Officers who provide housing related support to all 

tenants, including those who have been evicted from other rented accommodation 

due to anti-social behaviour or rent arrears.   

Some service users with more complex needs are supported by Two Saints as part 

of the Hampshire County Council commissioned service. Where a service user also 

has mental health needs, managing the accommodation can become more 

challenging.   

Analysis of temporary accommodation types  

At the time writing this report, temporary accommodation within the Borough consists 

of; the Council’s own portfolio (consisting of 133 units), properties provided by 

housing associations, including Two Saints, and private sector landlords. Temporary 

accommodation is distributed across the local authority area, some of which is direct 

access and therefore available to other areas, and ten properties in a neighbouring 

borough. The units consist of a mixture of property types with varying numbers of 

bedrooms. A further 7 one-bedroom properties from Fareham Council’s housing 

stock will also shortly be available for use.  The ten units of accommodation that are 

outside of Fareham are all private rented sector housing leased and managed by 

Fareham Borough Council. These homes are all self-contained and are also used as 

longer term move on provision. Out of area placements are avoided wherever 

possible, but access to privately rented accommodation within Fareham is limited by 

the size of the market.  

Table 3: Temporary accommodation portfolio, Fareham Borough Council (shared with 

Gosport Borough Council), 2020  

 

Private 
Registered 
Provider 

Fareham Borough 
Council  

Managed Leased 
Private Sector Total number 

Property size         

Hostel space 27* 0 0 27 

Bedsit 0 13 1 14 

1 bed 6 9 14 29 

2 bed 15 6 20 41 

3 bed 1 6 10 17 

4 bed 0 0 5 5 

                                            
73 Homelessness (Suitability of Accommodation)(England) Order (2012) 
74 Housing Act 1996, s196 (7AC) 

Page 122



 

81 
 

Totals  49 34 50 133 

Of which, out 
of area 0 0 10 10 

*Shared with Gosport Borough Council 

 

Fareham has the fewest or second fewest number per 1000 households in 

temporary accommodation compared with the benchmarking group between 

2016/17 and 2019/20, with All England having the most in each year, although the 

majority of this is households in London. As charts 47 and 48 below show, almost 

60% of households in temporary accommodation in Fareham during 2019-20 include 

children, which is an average rate within the benchmarking group, the highest of 

which is All England at more than 68%.  

 
Chart 47: Number of households in temporary accommodation at end of final quarter per 
1000 households, Benchmarking Group, 2015/16 to 2019/20  

 

Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 

0.00

0.50

1.00

1.50

2.00

2.50

3.00

3.50

4.00

4.50

2015 /16 2016 /17 2017 /18 2018 /19 2019 /20

Fareham Hampshire South East England without London All England

Page 123



 

82 
 

Chart 48: Number of households with children in temporary accommodation at end of 

final quarter per 1000 households, Comparison Group, 2015/16 to 2019/20  

 

Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 

When compared with the provision of temporary accommodation shown in chart 48 

above, the proportion of accommodation available that is suitable for families, i.e., 

more than one-bedroom accommodation, is limited at 47% of units. This means that 

an average of 13% of households in temporary accommodation are potentially 

having to live in one-bedroom accommodation. One-bedroom accommodation can 

be suitable for a limited period, depending on the size of the family, however when 

compared with the final snapshot of 2019/20 seen in chart 49 below however, the 63 

two-bedroom plus units were ample for the 42 families with dependent children. 

Chart 49: Number of households in temporary accommodation in Fareham by household 

composition, at March 2020 

 

 

1
.4

2

0
.9

0

0
.7

4 0
.9

6

0
.8

8

0
.9

7

0
.9

8

0
.9

5

0
.8

2 0
.9

8

1
.0

0

1
.3

9

1
.4

2 1
.5

6

1
.4

7

0
.6

9 0
.8

2

0
.8

8

0
.9

1

0
.9

4

2
.4

0 2
.5

9

2
.6

2

2
.6

4

2
.6

7

2 0 1 5 / 1 6 2 0 1 6 / 1 7 2 0 1 7 / 1 8 2 0 1 8 / 1 9 2 0 1 9 / 2 0

Fareham Hampshire South East England without London All England

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

Couple with dependent children

Male with dependent children

Female with dependent children

Single Male

Single female

Other/gender not known

Other household type

Page 124



 

83 
 

Female single parents with dependent children were the most common type of 

household placed in temporary accommodation, and this was also the case for all 

the benchmarking group when compared per 1000 households. For Fareham this 

was followed by single male households, then single female households and couples 

with dependent children, which differs from All England, where the number of 

couples with dependent children was greater than the number of single male and 

single female households placed.  

Chart 50: Households in temporary accommodation by household type, per 1000 

households, Benchmarking Group, 31st March 2020 

 

Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

The use of Bed & Breakfast accommodation has increased for the period 2015/16 to 

2019/20. While still single figures, it is evidence of the often necessarily reactive 

response to homelessness, despite prevention being at the core of the service.  The 

increase in the use of Fareham Borough Council-owned stock, with an additional 

seven units soon to be available, should provide more flexibility for the 

accommodation team in the future to reduce the use of bed and breakfast. 

0.00 0.20 0.40 0.60 0.80 1.00 1.20 1.40 1.60 1.80

Couple with dependent children

Male with dependent children

Female with dependent children

Single Male

Single Female

Other/gender not known

All other household types

Fareham Hampshire South East England without London All England

Page 125



 

84 
 

 

Chart 51: Number of households in temporary accommodation at end of final quarter by 

type of accommodation, Fareham, 2015/16 to 2019/20 

 
Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 

4.2 Other accommodation 
Accommodation secured to end the main homelessness duty in Fareham is 

predominantly social rented housing. As shown in chart 52 below, less than 10% of 

households were able to secure privately rented housing during 2019/20, and this 

was the highest proportion for the five-year period. Social rented housing is clearly a 

more secure and affordable tenure than privately rented housing, and therefore 

potentially more attractive to all households in housing need, although not all 

households will meet the criteria of housing association lettings policies, which are 

individual to each organisation.   

For privately rented housing to be appropriate for ending the main homelessness 

duty, it must pass a suitability test which includes affordability. This is an issue that 

can cause significant difficulty for households on a low income, including the 

minimum wage, universal credit or housing benefit, as they are often unable to afford 

to cover the cost of private sector rents as well as other essential living costs, which 

leaves social housing as the most sustainable option for securing accommodation for 

households owed the main homelessness duty.  

 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Bed and breakfast Private sector leased Council/housing association

Page 126



 

85 
 

Chart 52: Type of accommodation secured for households at end of main duty, Fareham, 

2015/16 to 2019/20 

 
Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 

 

4.2.1 Activities to relieve homelessness 
Homelessness relief activities are carried out by Fareham Borough Council. 

Examples of homelessness relief actions are shown in the box below: 

Homelessness Relief Activities to obtain:  

Any form of hostel or house of multiple occupation with or without support 

Private rented sector accommodation with landlord incentive scheme 

Private rented sector accommodation without landlord incentive scheme 

Accommodation arranged with friends or relatives  

Supported housing, including supported lodging schemes 

Management move of an existing social housing tenant 

Housing register offer or nomination of accommodation to a social landlord 

Negotiation with an RSL outside housing register or nomination arrangements 

Low-cost homeownership scheme or low-cost market housing solution 

Only Fareham and Hampshire* improved their performance on securing 

accommodation for those owed a relief duty during 2018/19 and 2019/20, compared 

with the benchmarking group, although with the exception of Fareham, the group all 

had more than a 50% increase in relief duty cases between the two years (Chart 53)  

As a proportion of relief duty ending, Fareham was the only one of the benchmarking 

group to improve its performance in securing accommodation to end the relief duty 

for homeless applicants between 2018/19 and 2019/20. However, Fareham also had 

the lowest ratio of homeless applicants with a relief duty ending through 

84%

86%

88%

90%

92%

94%

96%

98%

100%

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Social rented housing Privately rented housing

Page 127



 

86 
 

accommodation being secured, to the total number of relief duty ending.  This is 

important, as all other outcomes that end a relief duty, with the exception of a local 

connection referral being accepted by another local housing authority, are likely to be 

negative for the homeless household. These outcomes include: 

 the ending of the 56-day timescale for when the duty being owed,   

 the homeless household becoming intentionally homeless from the allocated 
temporary accommodation 

 the applicant refusing a final offer of suitable accommodation 

 the applicant refusing to cooperate with the Council and notice bring served 
on the temporary accommodation 

 the application being withdrawn by the applicant 

 the applicant is deceased, or contact is lost  

 the applicant becoming otherwise no longer eligible for the relief duty 
 

Some of the applicants who have not secured accommodation to end the duty may 

go on to be accepted for the main homelessness duty.  However, many will not be 

considered to have a priority need for a main homelessness duty and therefore may 

remain homeless.  Such applicants have the right to a request review of any decision 

made in their case, and the housing advice duty is still owed.  Relief cases often 

need additional support as they have, by definition, lost their former home, and 

Fareham Housing Options service will endeavour to continue working with these 

households, resources permitting. If they are street homeless the Community Safety 

PAG will work together to keep trying to help resolve their housing difficulties as all 

the appropriate agencies are committed to the partnership.    

Chart 53: Number of households where relief activity resulted in accommodation secured 

at end of duty, by percentage of relief duty ending, Benchmarking Group, 2018/19 to 

2019/20 (*Hampshire does not include Portsmouth or Harts in this data as they were unable to submit HCLIC 

data returns for 2018/19)  

 
Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

Fareham Hampshire South East Rest of England England

2018/19 2019/20

Page 128



 

87 
 

The type of accommodation most frequently secured to end the relief duty in 

Fareham was self-contained privately rented, for both 2018/19 and 2019/20, which is 

in contrast to that most frequently secured for the main housing duty.  This is 

possibly due to the difference in household types that are owed the relief duty 

compared with the main duty. 

Chart 54: Number of households whose relief duty ended by type of accommodation 

secured, Fareham, 2018/19 to 2019/20 

 

Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 

The main activity resulting in accommodation being secured at the end of a relief 

duty for 2018/19 to 2019/20 was help by the Council to secure accommodation either 

by providing financial support or finding the accommodation, although the latter 

reduced by more than half between the two years while the former more than 

doubled from 12 cases to 27.  

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

Private rented self contained

Private rented HMO

Private rented lodgings

Council social rented

Registered provider social rented

Supported housing or hostel

Staying with family

Other/not known

2018-19 Fareham 2019-20 Fareham

Page 129



 

88 
 

Chart 55: Main activity that resulted in accommodation being secured at the end of a relief 

duty, by number of applicant households, Fareham, 2018/19 to 2019/20 

 

Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 

 

4.2.2 Housing Support 
Housing support in Fareham includes supported housing, floating support in the 

home and outreach support. The Council help to fund this through the use of specific 

government grants for homelessness activity detailed in Section 7 of this report, 

although a large proportion of the support services are commissioned and funded by 

Hampshire County Council Adults’ Health and Care service, in consultation with 

Fareham Borough Council, to try and ensure that the appropriate type and level of 

support meets local needs.  

The background to the upper tier of local government now commissioning housing 

support, much of which is essentially funding to help prevent homelessness, began 

in 2003, when the Department of Communities and Local Government began 

distributing the ring-fenced Supporting People Funding programme to local housing 

authorities to help fund housing related support within their area. By 2009 the ring-

fence had been removed and this national budget became decentralised and 

administered by upper tier councils who then also had the discretion on where the 

grant should be spent. This funding was incorporated into the main central 

government grant funding for upper tier and unitary councils by 2012. 

The commissioning of services is agreed between the County Council and local 

housing authorities through the Strategic Housing Officers Group, at which Fareham 

Borough Council is represented at senior level.  

The support services include a direct access homeless hostel, supported 

accommodation, some floating support and outreach and resettlement services to 

help rough sleepers and other vulnerable adults secure and sustain accommodation. 

More information on housing support can be found at section 5. 

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

Accommodation secured by local authority
housing options service

Helped to secure accommodation found by
applicant, with financial payment

Helped to secure accommodation found by
applicant, without financial payment

Supported Housing Provided

Other activity

No activity

2018-29 2019-20

Page 130



 

89 
 

4.2.3 Private Rented Sector 
The private rented sector in Fareham is approximately 8% of the housing market at 

c. 4,100 homes.  This which is smaller than the combined 4,604 social rented homes 

owned by Fareham Borough Council and Housing associations, at 9%. The 

availability of private rented homes in the Borough is very limited, with only 40 

properties advertised as being available to rent75. 

 

Chart 56: Breakdown of housing tenure in Fareham, 2020, by number and percentage.

 
 

Source: Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government 
 

 

Chart 57 shows the level of private sector rents in Fareham compared with Local 

Housing Allowance levels in each of the BRMA (Broad Rental Market Area) within 

the Borough, plus the number of properties advertised as available on 19th March 

2021.  The difference between the private sector rents and local housing allowances 

levels ranges from £15.40 each week for a one-bedroom home to £58.46 for a four-

bedroom home.  For a single room, £24.10 would be needed each week to make up 

the shortfall for a person in receipt of local housing allowance, and with only 6 

advertised single room properties the private rented sector, this is a very limited 

housing solution. 

 

                                            
75 https://www.rightmove.co.uk/property-to-rent/Fareham.html  19th March 2021 

 
 

Owner occupied homes Privately rented homes

Fareham Council social rented homes Housing association social rented homes

Page 131

https://www.rightmove.co.uk/property-to-rent/Fareham.html


 

90 
 

Chart 57:  Level of private sector rents and local housing allowance levels, Fareham. 

 
Source: Office of National Statistics, DWP 

 

 

FareLets 
FareLets is Fareham Borough Council's private rented scheme, set up in June 2019 to 

provide services to landlords and help to prevent homelessness. The service is advertised 

on the Council’s website and as a local authority, the service is transparent and fully 

accountable. The accommodation team managing the service are professional, 

experienced and trustworthy.  

 

The majority of private rented properties are within the Fareham Borough, although some 

are in Gosport and the Council would consider properties in other neighbouring Boroughs.  

Properties taken on by the Council for letting to people in housing need must meet certain 

standards as set out on the website. The property must be safe, secure and in good repair 

and must have valid safety certificates and an Energy Performance Certificate (EPC). 

The landlord must also provide the Council with proof of ownership, permission to let the 

property from any mortgage company, as appropriate, and proof of building insurance for 

the property. 

 

There are 3 types of service available: 

Tenant Find  

This basic service is free to landlords. The Council identify a suitable tenant for the 

property and provide a standard tenancy agreement for the landlord and tenant to sign. In 

addition, the Council will put up a bond equivalent to one month's rent in lieu of a deposit 

and if a 12-month tenancy agreement is signed and provide a rent guarantee for the first 

12 months. The landlord then takes full responsibility for the management of the tenancy. 

Managed Lease 

Under this service, the Council will take on the lease of a landlord's property for between 

12 months and 3 years and will then sub-let directly to tenants in housing need. This 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

single room one bedroom two bedrooms three bedrooms four bedrooms

Published ONS market rents Locall Housing Allowance SO areas

Local Housing Allowance PO areas

Page 132



 

91 
 

service costs £300 on first registration of the lease for properties with gas and £200 for 

those with no gas. The Council signs up new tenants, manages the tenancy and provides 

a gas safety certificate, an electrical certificate and a hard-wired carbon monoxide 

detector. The rent is guaranteed and paid to the landlord by the Council on the 1st day of 

every month. The property is returned to the landlord on surrender of the lease in the 

same condition as it was taken on, excluding fair wear and tear. 

Full Management  

This service is similar to that provided by a high street letting agent with 8% fee. Along 

with full tenancy management, the Council provides a gas safety certificate, an electrical 

certificate, a hard-wired carbon monoxide detector and repairs up to the value of £150 per 

year.  The Council will provide a bond equivalent to one month's rent in lieu of a deposit 

and if a 12-month tenancy is signed, provide a rent guarantee for the first 12 months.  

 

For the managed lease and full management schemes a Tenancy Support Officer (TSO) 

focusses on supporting the tenants to maintain their tenancy by providing advice and 

assistance including help with making benefit claims, registering for Council Tax and utility 

companies. The TSO will also carry out regular visits and inspections to ensure that the 

tenants are looking after the property. 

  
Properties are inspected prior to being taken on and any works needed must be 

completed by the landlord before tenants can be placed in the property. If a landlord is 

unable to fund the improvement works in order to achieve the scheme standard, an 

interest free loan of up to £2,000 may be applied for, which is repayable through the 

monthly rental income.  

 

At the time of writing this report the accommodation team have 30 properties of varying 

types and sizes being leased or managed and are working hard to expand the FareLets 

scheme. 

 

4.2.4 Social Rented Housing 
There are 33 social landlords who own and manage housing within Fareham, the 
largest of which is Fareham Borough Council with 2400 units76 of accommodation 
(1750 general needs and 650 sheltered).  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Chart 58: Number of Social Housing units by accommodation type and Landlord type in 
Fareham, February 2021  

                                            
76 LARP look up tool, Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, 
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/local-authority-registered-provider-social-housing-stock-and-rents-in-
england-2019-to-2020 

Page 133

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/local-authority-registered-provider-social-housing-stock-and-rents-in-england-2019-to-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/local-authority-registered-provider-social-housing-stock-and-rents-in-england-2019-to-2020


 

92 
 

 

 
Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

 

The administration of Fareham Council’s public law housing allocation 

responsibilities include: 

 Determining which applicants are eligible and qualify for an allocation of social 

rented housing, 

 Have an up-to-date housing allocation scheme, 

 Ensure allocations for social rented housing are made in accordance with the 

local scheme, 

 Notifying applicants of decisions made about their application for social rented 

housing, 

 Providing advice, information, and assistance about making an application for 

social rent housing, 

 Determining which applicants have priority for an allocation of social rented 

housing 

 Determining if an applicant has a local connection that qualifies them for an 

allocation of social rented housing, 

 Providing a summary of the how the Fareham allocations scheme operates, 

and 

 Detecting any fraudulent application made for an allocation of social rented 

housing 

The law77 stipulates that a reasonable preference for allocation of social rented 

housing must be given to any person who is at risk of being homeless, this includes 

applicants in the following circumstances:  

                                            
77 Housing Act 1996, Part 6, section 166A Allocation in accordance with allocation scheme, 

subsection (3)(a)(b) 

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

General needs housing Supported Housing Housing for Older People

Housing Association Fareham Borough Council

Page 134



 

93 
 

 Homeless78 (including those owed a local housing authority duty to have their 

homelessness relieved79, but also people for whom the relief duty has come 

to an end and no further duty is owed, plus those who have never made an 

application for assistance) 

 Intentionally homeless, eligible for assistance, and have a priority need for 

accommodation80 (owed a duty by a local housing authority to have advice 

and accommodation for a reasonable period) 

 Not intentionally homeless, eligible for assistance and have a priority need for 

accommodation81 (owed a duty by a local housing authority to be provided 

with suitable accommodation) 

 Threatened with homelessness and eligible for assistance82 (owed a duty by a 

local housing authority to be prevented from becoming homeless. 

 

The Council uses a banding system to assess priority. Each band takes account 

of the statutory reasonable preference categories and the Council’s local 

priorities. The bands are as follows:   

 Urgent – urgent situation with no other options available  

 High – high priority housing need for example those leaving the care of the 
County Council   

 Medium – moderate priority housing need for example lacking 1 bedroom  

 Low – housing need but no higher priority for example ‘right-to-move’ 
applicants 

 

The allocations scheme sets out the reasonable preference categories as follows: 

 People who are homeless as defined by Part 7 of the Housing Act (1996)   

 People who are defined as owed a duty under the Housing Act (1996)   

 People occupying insanitary or overcrowded housing or otherwise living in 
unsatisfactory conditions  

 People who need to move to a particular locality in the district of the authority 
where failure to meet that need would cause hardship to themselves or others   

 People who need to move on medical or welfare grounds.  
The scheme also provides additional preference to the following groups: 

 Existing Council or Registered Provider tenants who wish to downsize 

 Households occupying temporary accommodation provided by Fareham 
Borough Council  

 Existing tenants who have property adaptations and no longer require them   

                                            
78 Housing Act 1996, Part 7, section 175 Homelessness and threatened with homelessness 

79 Housing Act 1996, Part 7, Section 189B Initial duty owed to all eligible persons who are homeless 

80 Housing Act 1996, Part 7, section 190 Duties to persons becoming intentionally homeless 

81 Housing Act 1996, Part 7, section 193 Duty to persons with priority need who are not homeless 

intentionally  

82 Housing Act 1996, Part 7, section Duties in cases of threatened homelessness 

Page 135



 

94 
 

 Those who are homeless and require urgent rehousing as a result of violence 
or threats of violence, including intimidated witnesses and those escaping 
serious antisocial behaviour or domestic violence 

 Those who have a local connection, 

 Households with Armed Forces connections  

 Foster carers 
 

Those who do not qualify to join the housing register include:  

 permanent social rented tenants who are adequately housed,  

 applicants with assets, savings or income over a prescribed threshold,  

 those with no established local connection.   
 

There is a local connection criteria in place though certain groups who are exempt 

from this, including young people leaving the care of Hampshire County Council or 

other care authority whether or not they currently live in Fareham, verified rough 

sleepers who have been sleeping in the Borough in the last 6 months, persons in 

prison who were continuously living in the Borough for 5 years immediately before 

going into prison and those living in a refuge or other form of safe temporary 

accommodation having escaped domestic abuse 

In some cases, applicants may be excluded from joining the housing register if they 

have made false statements or information has been withheld at any stage of the 

application, they have debts with the Council or a registered provider with no 

arrangements to repay these arrears, they have been responsible for serious anti-

social behaviour or Illegal or immoral use of a property. 

 

The grounds for qualification for joining the Fareham housing allocation scheme 

impact negatively on persons who are homeless or owed a duty of assistance when 

there is a history of rent arrears or antisocial behaviour.   Not being able to secure an 

offer of social rented housing can result in an increase in the length of time a 

household remains in temporary accommodation. This difficulty is extended where a 

household may qualify for a place on the Fareham housing register, but not for an 

offer of social rented housing from a private registered provider, although the usual 

barriers of anti-social behaviour and rent arrears with no arrangement in place also 

apply to the Fareham allocations scheme, which could leave many homeless 

households with only the private rented sector in which to secure alternative 

accommodation.  

The housing options available to persons who are homeless or owed a duty of 

assistance, who are not eligible for an allocation of social rented housing, are limited 

to financial support for a suitable privately rented property where this is available and 

affordable, housing advice, and, in the case of those who have no recourse to public 

funds, only housing advice. 

The statement of choice within the Fareham allocations scheme extends only to 

explain that applicants are all able to express choice of area when applying for 

Page 136



 

95 
 

accommodation, although matching the area of choice may not be possible, and all 

allocations will be through matching. This includes homeless households who may 

be offered an allocation or accommodation.  

The number of households registered for social housing has remained over 1000 

during the five-year period and has increased each year since 2018/19.  This may 

change with the impact of the new allocations scheme and the outcomes of the 

COVID-19 pandemic become clear. 

Chart 59 Number of households registered for an allocation of social rented housing, 
Fareham Housing Register at 31st March each year from 2016 to 2020 

 
Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 

 

The number of households currently registered for social housing compared with the 

benchmarking group per 1000 households is low, and more than half that of England 

without London and All England. This low number per thousand households is a 

result of a number of factors, which include the Fareham allocations scheme 

qualification criteria, but does not demonstrate the entirety of housing need within the 

Borough and should not be used to define this. 

 

900

950

1,000

1,050

1,100

1,150

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Page 137



 

96 
 

Chart 60: Households registered on local authority housing waiting lists at March 2020, 

per 1000 households, Benchmark Group

 

Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 

 
Chart 61: Number and percentage of Fareham housing register applications by Band, 
December 2020  

 
Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 

 
 

Fareham Borough Council Welfare Support Officer  

A Welfare Support Officer has been appointed to work with Fareham Council 

housing tenants to help them with issues threatening their ability to meet their 

tenancy conditions with regard to maintaining their rent accounts.  This initiative is 

proving highly successful, helping tenants avoid eviction, and providing them with 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Fareham Hampshire South East England without London All of England

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

Urgent High Medium Low

Page 138



 

97 
 

tools to help them manage their finances and improve their rent arrears to a point 

that eviction is no longer required.   

 

The Welfare Support Officer works with the tenant to help them organise their 

finances, including their rent account, as well as other welfare issues and has 

autonomy to ‘do whatever is required’ to help the tenant remain in their home. Any 

tenant in arrears within the Council housing stock can be referred to the Welfare 

Support Officer. 

 

One tenant having difficulty was referred due to large rent arrears, a housing benefit 

overpayment and large debts with utility and water bills. The Welfare Support Officer 

helped the tenant to complete a budget form to ascertain the priority bills and the cost, 

contacted the tenant’s energy and water providers to ensure they were on the lowest and 

most affordable tariff, and to update them that the tenant should be classed as vulnerable 

due to mental and physical health conditions.   In addition, the Welfare Support Officer 

requested that any outstanding debts or bills were put on hold for a period to give time to 

agree a sustainable payment plans to avoid further action being taken.  The Officer also 

helped the tenant successfully applied for a Personal Independence Payment and 

contacted Step Change for advice and support to help the tenant manage the outstanding 

debts.   

The tenant was a single person in a two-bedroom Council-owned property.  The Welfare 

Support Officer successfully applied for a Discretionary Housing Payment to cover the rent 

for the second bedroom to prevent the arrears increasing further, and after liaising with the 

Neighbourhood Officer and the Housing Options Team, the tenant was able to downsize 

to a more affordable one-bedroom flat, using the downsizing incentive to reduce the rent 

arrears.   The tenant’s rent is now covered by Universal Credit and they are now able to 

contribute a small amount each fortnight to the rent arrears and other outstanding 

commitments. 

  

The year-on-year reduction in the number of new social lettings in Fareham is 

considerable.  Available social rented housing to let is essential in resolving 

homeless at the three stages of prevention, relief and main duty. New lettings are 

only available following the end of a tenancy, which is not within the control of the 

landlord, or through new housebuilding, which can be somewhat influenced by the 

local authority, although the other essential elements of a developing housing 

association and newbuild funding must also be in place. The Council’s Affordable 

Housing Strategy aims to resolve this known issue.  

 

Page 139



 

98 
 

Chart 62: New lettings of social rented housing, by general needs or supported housing, 

Fareham, 2015/16 to 2019/20 

  

Source: ONS Social housing lettings in England. 

 

The ratio of new lettings to the number of households on the register is also 

inevitably growing, standing at 7.34 times the number of households on the register 

to those being housed in 2019/20.  

Chart 63: Ratio of new social rented housing lettings to number of households on housing 

waiting list, Fareham, 2015/16 to 2019/20 

 
Source: MHCLG and ONS Social housing lettings in England. 

 

 
 
 

267 262
184

110 77 

253
159 135 69 71

520 

421

319

179
148

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

New General Needs Housing Lettings

New Supported Housing Lettings

Total New Social Housing Lettings

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Number of social housing lettings Number on housing register

Page 140



 

99 
 

Fareham Tenancy Strategy 

All local housing authorities are required to have in place a Tenancy Strategy83 

setting out for registered providers within the Borough the matters to which they are 

to have regard when developing their own policies relating to the type and length of 

tenancies they will grant and the circumstances on which they will grant each type. 

When formulating the Tenancy Strategy, the local housing authority must have 

regard to their current homelessness strategy84 

The 2013-2018 Fareham Tenancy Strategy85 confirms that there should be strategic 

links with homelessness strategy but falls short of specifying the type and length of 

tenancy which it expects registered providers to grant to households who are 

homeless.  

This strategy has now expired, and a new Tenancy Strategy must be adopted, 

providing an opportunity to fully engage with other registered providers of social 

housing within Fareham to influence their own tenancy policies and lettings policies 

with regard to homeless households. 

 

Nationally, a social rented housing offer, or nomination to a social landlord, is the 

second most common method of preventing or relieving homelessness, equalling 

27.4% of cases86.   

 
Since 2016/17 more than 40% of new housing association tenants in England were 

accommodated directly by the housing association and not through local authority 

waiting list nomination or referral87. Data on new housing association lettings to 

households owed a homelessness duty by the Council is now recorded on HCLIC, 

and the chart below shows the latest published data for Fareham. Data for Fareham 

Council social housing lettings has not yet been published. New lettings by housing 

associations are predominantly made to households who are not homeless, with only 

2 new housing association tenants for 2019/20 being afforded reasonable preference 

for homelessness. 12 new lettings were made to households assessed by the 

Council as being owed a homelessness duty, and more than four times this amount 

51, did not come from the Council but were assessed as homeless by the housing 

association. This demonstrates that housing associations are helping to tackle 

homelessness in the local authority area, although this appears to be independent of 

the Council and it is unclear if this is meeting local need.   

 

                                            
83 Localism Act 2011, s150 (1) requirement to prepare and publish a Tenancy Strategy 
84 Localism Act 2011, s151 (3)(b), requirement to have regard to the homelessness strategy 
85 Fareham Tenancy Strategy 2013 to 2018, Fareham Borough Council, 2013 
86 Annual Statutory Homelessness Release 2019-20, Ministry of Housing, Communities, and Local Government 
87 Social Housing Lettings in England, April 2019 to March 2020, Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 

Government 

Page 141



 

100 
 

Chart 64: New housing association lettings to homeless households in Fareham, 2019/20 

 
Source: MHCLG and ONS Social housing lettings in England. 

 

Housing Fraud initiative 

Fareham Borough Council is working hard to ensure that the maximum social housing is 

available for households in need.  In addition to building their own homes and renovating 

those no longer fit for purpose, the Council has an Investigations Officer who carries out 

investigations into cases of potential fraud, including social housing fraud.  

 

This officer sits within the Housing Department and investigates at a criminal level using 

Authorised Officer powers under the Prevention of Social Housing Fraud Act. These 

powers were used on 46 occasions between 2018/19 to 2019/20 for both FBC and some 

housing association properties. In 6 of these cases, the Council took back a property that 

was either being sub-let or uninhabited, or a Right-to-Buy was refused.   
 

4.3 Conclusion about activities to secure accommodation 
1. The diverse range of temporary accommodation used by the Council means it 

is more able to secure a range of accommodation in different areas of the 
Borough of different types.  

2. The number of households in temporary accommodation is typically lower 
than other areas in the benchmarking group, as are the number of children 
living in temporary accommodation. Notwithstanding this, households (more 
often headed by a lone female parent) with dependent children account for 
more than 50% of those occupying temporary accommodation, however there 
is also a considerable number of single persons placed in temporary 
accommodation. Whereas nationally there has been a considerable increase 
in the levels of temporary accommodation usage, locally usage of temporary 
accommodation has remained fairly static in recent years and is slightly lower 
now than it was five years ago. Despite this, levels of B&B use have 
increased.  

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90

Assessed as not homeless by the housing
association

Assessed as homeless by housing association

Assessed by the Council as being owed a
prevention duty

Assessed by the Council as being owed a relief
duty

Assessed by the Council as being owed the
main homelessness duty

Awarded reasonable preference for
homelessness by the Council

Page 142



 

101 
 

3. The overwhelming majority of people owed the main homelessness duty were 
helped to secure social rented housing, with very few people being assisted to 
secure private rented housing. 

4. Fareham is bucking regional and national trends by increasing the number of 
people who are helped to secure accommodation when owed the relief duty. 
Typically, this is achieved by securing private rented sector accommodation 
by making a financial payment, that covers any deposit or rent in advance that 
might be charged by a private rented sector landlord. This success is a stark 
contrast to that of the situation with regards to people of the main 
homelessness duty.  

5. Considering the low proportion of private sector housing in the Borough and 
market rent being higher than LHA rates for single rooms, one bed and two-
bedroom accommodation, the Council is doing very well to help the number of 
people it does into private sector housing. The FareLets scheme is clearly an 
outstanding success.  

6. With the Council being one of the largest landlords in the Borough, owning 
almost 40% of all social rented housing, it was inevitable that the local 
authority would be the main provider of housing solutions to people facing 
homelessness. Despite some fluctuation in the overall number of households 
presenting for allocation of social housing, numbers today are broadly the 
same as what they were five years ago. However, overall numbers are lower 
locally than all of the other benchmarking group comparators. Almost two-
thirds of housing register applicants are placed in the lowest band, with 
homeless applicants being in one of the other three higher bands, alongside 
the other one-third of applicants on the register.  

7. The appointment of a Welfare Support Officer has resulted in positive 
outcomes around tackling rent arrears. Despite a consistent ongoing demand 
for social rented housing, the number of new lettings has reduced 
considerably in recent years, falling each year consecutively, to a level that is 
less than half what it was five years ago. This results in fewer people being 
able to be offered social rented housing, meaning those who are more likely 
to secure a letting and more likely to be one of the groups entitled to a 
reasonable preference, which are typically characterised by people with 
multiple and complex needs.  

8. Statistics suggest that housing associations are agreeing lettings with people 
who are homeless, however this activity is taking place outside of any job 
working arrangements that might be in place between the Council and social 
landlords.  

   

  

Page 143



 

102 
 

5.0 Providing Support 
This chapter reviews the support provided to people who are homeless or have been 

homeless. Support can mean information, advice or assistance, all of which can help 

a person to stop being homeless, plus avert a repeat occurrence of homelessness in 

the future.  

5.1 Support needs of people experiencing homelessness 
The reasons why people become homeless offer an indication as to the support 

people require. The Council collects some information on these factors, which has 

been analysed for the purpose of this review.  

The main reason for loss of the last settled home for households owed a 

homelessness duty in Fareham for 2019/20 was family or friends no longer willing or 

able to accommodate them. This is followed by the ending of a private sector 

assured shorthold tenancy. For the previous year, 2018/19, these were still the top 

two recorded reasons for loss of the last settled home, although their positions 

reversed.  The ‘other reasons’ or ‘reasons not known’ category is also high, and this 

must be analysed in order to fully understood support needs, as does the eviction 

from or end of supported and social tenancies category.  Domestic abuse has 

increased significantly since 2018/19 and ensuring that the response to this is robust 

should be a priority.  

Chart 65: Main reason for loss of last settled home for households owed a main 

homelessness duty, Fareham, 2015/16 to 2019/20

  

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90

End of assured shorthold tenancy

End of non-AST private rented tenancy

Family or friends no longer willing or able to
accommodate

Non-violent relationship breakdown with partner

Domestic abuse

Other violence or harrassment

End of social tenancy

Eviciton from supported housing

Left institution with no accommodation available

Other reasons / not known

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Page 144



 

103 
 

Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 

 

For those owed a prevention or relief duty, the ending of an assured shorthold 

tenancy has been a significantly greater reason for the loss of the last settled home 

than all other recorded reasons, in particular due to the landlord wanting to sell or 

relet the property.  This is a real concern for Fareham as the private rented sector is 

becoming increasingly part of the reason for homelessness rather than one of the 

major solutions to it, particularly as the number of family and friends no longer willing 

or able to accommodate, and non-violent relationship breakdown with partner are 

both also high. 

 

Chart 66: Reason for loss of last settled home for those owed a prevention or relief duty. 

England 2018/19 to 2019/20 

 
Source: Ministry of Housing Communities & Local Government 

 

The clear recording of support needs within the HCLIC monitoring system is helping 

to understand the levels of support required to help prevent and relieve 

homelessness and sustain suitable accommodation to stop repeated homelessness. 

While the number of recorded support needs has reduced over the two years, 

recording of these is still relatively new and The Council is still recorded as having 

among the highest percentage of support needs for those owed a homelessness 

duty within the benchmarking group for the past two years.  

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45

End of assured shorthold tenancy: rent arrears

End of assured shorthold tenancy: Breach of tenancy

End of assured shorthold tenancy: landlord…

End of assured shorthold tenancy: Other reasons

End of non-AST private rented tenancy

Family or friends no longer willing or able to…

Non-violent relationship breakdown with partner

Domestic abuse

Other violence or harrassment

End of social tenancy: Rent arrears

End of social tenancy: Breach of tenancy

End of social teancy: Other reasons / not known

Eviciton from supported housing due to: Breach of…

Eviction from supported housing: Other reasons /…

Left institution with no accommodation available

Required to leave accommodation provided by…

Other reasons / not known

2018-19 2019-20

Page 145



 

104 
 

Chart 67: Households with support needs owed a homelessness duty, by number of 
support needs, Fareham, 2018/19 to 2019/20

 

Source: Ministry of Housing Communities & Local Government 

 

Chart 68: Percentage of households owed a homelessness duty that have support needs, 

Benchmark Group, 2018/19 to 2019/20  

  

Source: Ministry of Housing Communities & Local Government 

 

When presented as per 1000 households, Fareham has the lowest number of 

households with support needs and the lowest number of support needs of the 

benchmarking group for both years. Fareham was also the only area which showed 

a reduction in support needs when all others recorded increases. 

  

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

One support need Two support needs Three or more support
needs

2018/19 2019/20

0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

40.00%

50.00%

60.00%

70.00%

2018-19 2019-20

Fareham Hampshire South East England without London Rest of England

Page 146



 

105 
 

Chart 69: Total number of households with support needs, and number of support needs, 

among those owed a homelessness duty by 1000 households, 2018/19 to 2019/20 

  

Source: Ministry of Housing Communities & Local Government 

 

The recorded support needs that must be addressed to ensure suitable 

accommodation can be sustained by those owed a homelessness duty in Fareham 

are predominantly mental health and physical health problems. Both of these support 

needs can be variable and complex and require specialist assessment, specialist 

support as well as, in some cases, specialist accommodation.  These needs are not 

being fully met in every case in Fareham, as in many other areas, which can case 

increasing difficulty for the households suffering with these issues.  

 

Few of the support needs shown on the chart can be provided for with general 

housing related support as most require some form of specialism, usually from 

another statutory service such as Adult Services or the Youth Offending Team.  The 

services detailed in this chapter are reportedly carrying large caseloads and only 

able to offer minimum service levels to households in need. 

 

0.00

2.00

4.00

6.00

8.00

10.00

12.00

14.00

T O T A L  N U MB E R  O F  
H O U S E H O L D S  W I TH  

S U P P O R T  N E E D S  
2 0 1 8 - 1 9

T O T A L  N U MB E R  O F  
S U P P O R T  N E E D S  

2 0 1 8 - 1 9

T O T A L  N U MB E R  O F  
H O U S E H O L D S  W I TH  

S U P P O R T  N E E D S  
2 0 1 9 - 2 0

T O T A L  N U MB E R  O F  
S U P P O R T  N E E D S  

2 0 1 9 - 2 0

Fareham Hampshire South East Rest of England England

Page 147



 

106 
 

Chart 70: Households owed a homelessness duty by support need, Fareham, 2018/19 to 

2019/20

  

Source: Ministry of Housing Communities & Local Government 

 

ROUGH SLEEPERS 

The Council has been proactive in supporting rough sleepers and helping them off 

the street following a Rough Sleepers Conference in 2018, which was attended by at 

least 25 statutory and voluntary agencies working with rough sleepers. The 

conference was organised as there was a recognised problem with begging and 

substance misuse issues in Fareham town centre, and enforcement action was not 

seen as effective or even appropriate, as many of those carrying out these activities 

had complex needs which required support. The risks around these activities still 

needed to be managed and the Council introduced security guards to tackle the anti-

0 10 20 30 40 50 60

Young person aged 16-17 years

Young person aged 18-25 years

Young parent

Care leaver aged 18-20 years

Care leaver aged 21+ years

Physical ill health and disability

History of mental health problems

Learning disability

At risk of / has experienced sexual abuse /
exploitation

At risk of / has experienced domestic abuse

At risk of / has experienced abuse (non-domestic
abuse)

Drug dependency needs

Alcohol dependency needs

Offending history

History of repeat homelessness

History of rough sleeping

Former asylum seeker

Old age

Served in HM Forces

Access to education, employment or training

2018-19 2019-20

Page 148



 

107 
 

social behaviour. The security team carried leaflets to hand out to rough sleepers 

providing information about where they could get help. This approach helped to 

reduce anti-social behaviour and engage rough sleepers with services. 

Street Aid, a multi-agency partnership in Fareham, was developed to help vulnerable 

people off the streets. Street Aid involves Fareham's Community Safety Partnership, 

Fareham Housing Services, Two Saints Hostel, Hampshire Constabulary, One 

Community and Inclusion Recovery Hampshire, Hampshire County Council and Acts 

of Kindness. All those involved share information and work together to help rough 

sleepers. 

Fareham Borough Council recognise that some rough sleepers need additional 

support to help resolve a range of problems, including helping to manage debt, 

mental health conditions, anger management, domestic abuse support, substance 

misuse or low self-esteem. In order to reduce the risk of tenancy failure, providing 

support to someone who is sleeping rough before placing them into a self-contained 

tenancy is seen as essential.  The Council works with the charity Two Saints to help 

manage this transition in stages, with the appropriate level of support.   

The Council has funded extended winter provision for rough sleepers by increasing 

the bed space available at the hostel during periods of extreme, often cold weather.   

The Council use their local stewardship to encourage people not to give money to 

those sleeping rough, but to donate money, food and other supplies to the local 

charities working with rough sleepers. One Community, located within Fareham 

Shopping Centre will, by arrangement, accept donations given for rough sleepers to 

pass on to those who need them. Acts of Kindness (one of the Fareham Mayor's 

Charities for 2018/19) has a separate storage facility which holds clothes, toiletries, 

bedding and sleeping bags which it supplies to Two Saints and other organisations 

that support rough sleepers.  

The response to the April 2020 request from Government to bring rough sleepers off 

the street and into safer accommodation, the Council worked with Two Saints, Vivid 

Housing Association, Acts of Kindness and others to provide fully equipped self-

catering accommodation to all known rough sleepers to help keep them safe and 

socially distanced during the Coronavirus pandemic, and worked with neighbouring 

Gosport Council to fund the Two Saints outreach service, which focuses on helping 

those leaving prison with complex needs such as substance misuse issues, mental 

health needs and behavioural challenges, to secure and maintain suitable 

accommodation. 

Fareham and Gosport Adult Mental Health Service generally provide a range of 

community-based mental health services for people who need support for their 

mental health issues. However, there is no specific homelessness mental health 

initiative. 

A commissioned ‘Inclusion Recovery’ service, which is based at Fareham Health 

Centre and provides support and treatment to anyone impacted by their own or 

someone else's drug or alcohol use.  

Page 149



 

108 
 

With all of the 9 people recorded as rough sleepers in Autumn 2019 receiving offers 

of accommodation and support on a regular basis, the earlier provision through 

StreetAid, now incorporated into the Community Safety PAG, meant that a proven 

structure and services were already in place and could be scaled up to meet the new 

demand. The number recorded as rough sleeping in Autumn 2020 reduced to just 

three, two males and one female, all of whom were also regularly offered support 

and accommodation. The success of this pre-existing pathway and multi-agency 

collaboration corresponded to the good practice findings from the Lessons Learnt88 

review of Councils response to helping rough sleepers during the COVID-19 

pandemic.  

 

A further benefit of the StreetAid partnership approach was that Community Safety 

led the initiative, which meant that Housing Options could focus on working with 

housing providers and landlords to secure the accommodation needed and 

managing the increasingly busy homelessness front line. This became even more 

difficult when offices and drop-in services had to close and staff had to work from 

home, mainly speaking with customers and services over the telephone. Officers and 

partner agencies report that Fareham Housing Options officers adapted well and 

quickly to the new arrangements. 

5.2 Housing Support 
Domestic abuse services 

The Council, and Fareham residents facing domestic abuse, have access to support 

and if necessary, emergency accommodation including out of the area. This is 

through the Council’s main domestic abuse partner, Southern Domestic Abuse 

Services (SDAS Trading as Stop Domestic Abuse) who provide accommodation-

based services across Hampshire, including refuges and other temporary 

accommodation. SDAS also provide a 24-hour answerphone services with clear 

instructions in what to do in each situation, including in an emergency.   

Homeless Hostel 

Two Saints are commissioned by Hampshire County Council in partnership with 

Fareham Borough Council to deliver the social inclusion contract in Fareham, 

provide temporary accommodation to support and assist single homeless people 

including:   

 18 room direct access hostel for stays of up to one year.  Agencies can also 
make referrals and there are no automatic exclusions, with dogs allowed.  

 10 room move on hostel for homeless people with support needs for stays of 
between six months and one year. Access is referral only through Fareham 
Council  

 9 room move on supported accommodation. 

 The service also provides outreach and resettlement support to current and 
former rough sleepers. 

                                            
88 Lessons learnt from council’s response to rough sleeping during the COVID-19 pandemic, Grey, T., Combs, J., 

Local Government Association, November 2020 

Page 150



 

109 
 

 

The hostel accommodation is shared with Gosport residents, although outcomes 

data 89 shows that more than half of service users have a local connection with 

Fareham.  The data also presents evidence of a client group with complex and 

multiple needs who require high levels of support.  For the quarter ending September 

2020, hostel bedspaces had 100% occupancy, and out of the 41 using the hostel 

provision during the quarter, 13 service users moved out with only 6 of these being 

planned moves, and five being due to being evicted.  

Stakeholders, including commissioning officers and Fareham Council Housing 

Options officers, report that Two Saints is an excellent organisation who work hard to 

offer a service user led service, with the aim of providing every opportunity for 

homeless and vulnerable people to build a better future.  Evictions from the hostel 

are always a last resort and even where a person is evicted, Two Saints outreach 

officers will still try and maintain engagement and wherever possible, support, as 

well as working hand in glove with the Housing Options and Community Safety 

teams to resolve any difficulties an individual may have that prevents them from 

being sustainably housed.   

Two Saints is registered with the Regulator of Social Housing, whose Board oversee 

the 267 strong staff team delivering the operational core activity of preventing and 

relieving homelessness and improving wellbeing through personalised service user 

development.   

Mental Health 

The Richmond Fellowship, a mental health support charity focussed on mental 

health recovery, also provides housing support within Fareham.  They have also 

been awarded a new contract with Hampshire County Council.  Working with 

landlords including Fareham Borough Council, Guinness and Abri housing 

associations, Richmond Fellowship currently support service users in properties as 

well as others in the community. Referees have different levels of mental ill health, 

and a flexible approach which allows service users to develop their independent 

living and social skills is required.    

5.3 Other support  
In addition to the outreach service provided by Two Saints, the following support 

services are available and active within the Borough: 

 

Y Services, a youth work charity, provide outreach and support to young people up 

to 19 years of age, or up to 25 if they have additional needs. The outreach workers 

have experience and intelligence around where young people may be gathering, and 

potentially at risk, and are out three nights a week engaging with them, mainly 

working to get the young people home, providing support in the home if required.  

Where this is not possible, Y Services will work with the Early Help hub and Two 

Saints to help to secure accommodation to get the young person off the street and 

                                            
89 Social Inclusion Contract Workbook 2020/2021  

Page 151



 

110 
 

away from risk taking behaviours. Funding from Hampshire commissioned services 

ends in March 2021, and the charity will now be funded by the Hampshire Police and 

Crime Commissioner, and local fundraising, for 2021 to 2022. The charity provides 

specialist sexual health services, drug and alcohol advice as well as one to one 

LGBT+ support. 

Inclusion Recovery, an NHS commissioned alcohol and drug addiction support 

service working to support individuals, and their families, who are impacted by such 

addiction, including those who are homeless or threatened with homelessness. As a 

partner of Street Aid, Inclusion have worked closely with Fareham Housing Options 

service and Two Saints to provide support to service users, including those within 

Two Saints accommodation. Inclusion will also support those under threat of eviction 

as well as those who are rough sleeping.  

Richmond Fellowship also provides non-accommodation-based support for adults 

with metal health problems. 

Local support provision is service user led, with the aim of personalisation in order to 

improve employment opportunities and help people feel part of their community, 

however in practice support services are generally focussed on individuals at crisis 

level, such as those who have been rough sleeping and are recovering from drug 

addiction. Anecdotal evidence suggests that while the support provided by each 

agency is excellent and can make a real difference when an individual engages with 

the support worker, the level of support provision is low compared with the scale of 

support needs. The support needs identified above are only those recorded by the 

Housing Options service as part of HCLIC requirements and while these are a good 

indicator of types of need, should not be assumed to be the totality of support need 

in the Borough.  

Hampshire adult social care services owe duties to vulnerable homeless adults 

under the Care Act 2014, to provide or arrange services that help to maintain or 

improve people’s independence and wellbeing to prevent them from developing the 

need for ongoing care and support. The Act contains a general duty90 of the local 

authority to promote an individual’s wellbeing in relation to, among other areas, the 

suitability of their living accommodation.  An assessment of the services and facilities 

available for local people as well as identifying local people that might have care and 

support needs should be carried out in order to understand what gaps or duplications 

there are in service provision. One of the ways in which Hampshire County Council 

does this is by working with the local housing authorities through the Strategic 

Housing Officers Group and the Homelessness Officer Group. These groups have 

worked with Hampshire County Council Adult Services Commissioning Team to 

develop and agree priorities for these services, and while the meetings are 

considered by Council officers to be useful and productive, the reducing budget 

funding these services has meant that they are mostly targeted at the most 

vulnerable to help relieve homelessness, and not at the earlier stage of pre-crisis 

prevention activity.  

                                            
90 Care Act 2014, Part 1(2)(h), wellbeing insofar as relating to an individual’s living accommodation. 

Page 152



 

111 
 

Schedule 3 of the Care Act91 requires the NHS to inform the Adult social services 

authority when it has a patient to be discharged that will require a care assessment 

to establish care needs of the patient when going home from hospital. Where the 

care or support needs are not at the level where residential care is required, but the 

patient is either homeless or unable to live in their former home due to disability 

causing access issues for example, this is an opportunity for the NHS and the social 

services authority to work jointly with the local housing authority to develop a hospital 

discharge protocol. Such a protocol, enacted effectively, would help to prevent 

homelessness of vulnerable people leaving hospital, and help to ensure they are not 

placed in unsuitable temporary accommodation until more suitable housing can be 

found. Such a protocol is not in operation in Fareham and there have been 

occasions where adults discharged from hospital are sent to the Housing Options 

Service with little or no notice or support from other public authorities.  

There is a good relationship with Hampshire care leavers team, who also have a 

homelessness prevention officer on their team. This officer is proactive and has a 

good working relationship with Fareham Housing Options service, resulting in few 

homeless care leavers within the Borough. There is also a 16/17-year-old joint 

protocol with children’s social services, which has been reviewed within the last six 

months and this is another area where there are few cases.  

For cases involving homeless households where dependent children reside, 

Hampshire County Council’s Children’s Services must fulfil their duties under The 

Children Act 1989, by using powers and duties to provide accommodation, carry out 

assessments and care plans to meet support needs. This is an area where both 

organisations would benefit from additional partnership working.  

With the limited exception of the StreetAid initiative, there is reportedly little joint 

working between the local NHS Clinical Commissioning Group or NHS Trust, 

Hampshire mental health social work team and the Housing Options Service, 

although significant advances have been made since March 2020 due to the on-

going pandemic. These NHS services owe a duty to adults who are mentally ill under 

the Mental Health Act 1983. Mental health is a growing factor in homelessness and 

greater than all other support needs of those owed a homelessness duty, as well as 

a significant cause of the inability to sustain a tenancy for single people. It is 

therefore essential that effective joint working further develops between Fareham 

Borough Council, the NHS Trust, the CCG and Hampshire County Council urgently.   

 

5.4 Conclusions about activities to provide support  
1. Support to help people remain living with their family and friends or to avert 

the end of an assured short hold private rented sector tenancy is key to 
preventing homelessness. Support with these matters should be made 
available as early as possible to reduce the number of people seek assistance 
from the local authority in an emergency. For too many people, the reason 
why they lost their last settled accommodation remains unclear. 

                                            
91 Care Act 2014, Schedule 3, Discharge of hospital patients with care and support needs.  
 

Page 153



 

112 
 

2. The majority of people who seek assistance with homelessness have only 
have one support need.  However, it is important to recognise that there are 
significant numbers of people with multiple support needs. The support needs 
of those owed a duty of assistance by the Council is broadly reflective of that 
across the wider county, region and country, however the total number of 
support needs is lower than comparative areas. A history of mental health 
problems, physical ill-health and disability, experience of domestic abuse, and 
history of offending behaviour are all commonly reported to support needs. 

3. The Council together with its partners, has achieved a tremendous success in 
reducing the number of people experiencing street homelessness, through the 
StreetAid initiative. Joint arrangements with Gosport Borough Council has 
brought about positive outcomes for both local authority areas. The diverted 
giving scheme has ensured that gifts and donations are channelled to those 
most in need. 

4. For a Borough of its size, Fareham is fortunate to have a range of hostel and 
other supported housing options, operated by nationally recognised reputable 
providers. The fact that such a provision exists is remarkable given the 
significant cuts that have been made nationally to supporting housing budgets 
over the past decade.  

5. There is some support available for young people at risk of homelessness, 
with all its organisations being particularly active in this area. However public 
sector services could be much more aligned in their working. Support for 
homeless vulnerable adults due to mental illness, physical disabilities and 
sensory disabilities or age patchy, and weather is provision this is due to 
effective working rather than planned and commissioned services. 

 

  

Page 154



 

113 
 

6.0 Resources for tackling homelessness 
This chapter reviews the resources available to carry out activities to tackle 

homelessness. For the purpose of this review, resources being considered are the 

money, people and I.T. available to the local housing authority. 

6.1 Money 
The Council is legally obliged to discharge the administration of homelessness and is 

responsible for funding it. The Council carries out a range of activities including 

homelessness prevention, housing options advice and the provision and 

management of temporary accommodation. These activities are described in 

chapters three and four of this review.   

The Council’s Executive agreed a revised budget for homelessness and housing 

advice from the original Budget Estimate92, for the financial year 2020/21, which set 

the homelessness budget at £470,300, and housing advice budget at £443,800, to 

the amounts shown in table 4 below93.  

Table 4: Homelessness and housing aid budget revision, Fareham. 

Budget heading Original 
Approved budget 
2020/21 

Revised Budget 
projection 
2020/21 

Proposed budget 
2021/22 

Homelessness 470,300 551,000 566,300 

Housing Advice 443,800 438,300 474,200 

 

The increase in budget, resulting partly from the government request to 

accommodate all people sleeping rough or at risk of doing so, is to help prevent the 

spread of COVID-19.  It takes account of the potential for further additional 

expenditure in 2021/22. The Council clarifies within its financial strategy that there 

are risks and uncertainties, acknowledging that the increase in expenditure has been 

caused by factors outside of their control. It is accepted that this is a positive 

response which demonstrates support for the Housing Options service. 

The Council is known to have financial reserves, however there are regulations 

determining how these should be used, and much are earmarked for specific areas, 

including homelessness. The homelessness reserve is used to cover any additional 

expenditure.   

There are currently ongoing discussions regarding benchmarking with other housing 

authorities on budgets and expenditure. Financial information from the County 

Council regarding spend within Fareham on both commissioned and in-house 

services, such as early help and care leaver services, or other organisations actively 

working with homeless or potentially homeless households within Fareham, is not 

                                            
92 https://www.fareham.gov.uk/PDF/about_the_council/estimates2021.pdf  
93   
https://moderngov.fareham.gov.uk/documents/s25729/Finance%20Strategy%20Revenue%20Budget
%20CTX%202021-22%20Report.pdf  

Page 155

https://www.fareham.gov.uk/PDF/about_the_council/estimates2021.pdf
https://moderngov.fareham.gov.uk/documents/s25729/Finance%20Strategy%20Revenue%20Budget%20CTX%202021-22%20Report.pdf
https://moderngov.fareham.gov.uk/documents/s25729/Finance%20Strategy%20Revenue%20Budget%20CTX%202021-22%20Report.pdf


 

114 
 

available for this review, thus assessing value for money of the Housing Options and 

related services is not possible here.  

Alongside the money committed from Fareham Borough Councils revenue budget, 

additional funding is awarded by MHCLG.   

Table 5: MHCLG Homelessness Reduction Act Grant, Benchmark Group 2017/18 to 

2019/20  

Area Amount % of budget 

Fareham £72,0552 0.01% of national budget 
0.7% of regional budget 

Hampshire £2.13m 2.9% of national budget 

South East £10.1m 14% of national budget 

England without London £43.49m 59.8% of national budget 

All England £72.7m 100% of national budget 
Source: Ministry of Housing Communities & Local Government 

 

The Flexible Housing Support Grant replaced the Temporary Accommodation 

Subsidy regime previously administered by the Department for Work & Pensions in 

March 201794. This funding arrangement replaced a tightly controlled subsidy system 

to procure and manage temporary accommodation.  The previous system could only 

be used once a person had become homeless; therefore, a new grant system was 

developed to enable flexibility to spend the funding on preventing homelessness, in 

addition to assisting those who are homeless.  

Table 4: Flexible Homelessness Support Grant, Benchmark Group 2017/18 to 2019/2020  

Area Amount % of budget 

Fareham £594,058 
 

0.103% of national budget 
0.74% of regional budget 

Hampshire £11,936,606 2.07% of national budget 

South East £79,920,613 13.84% of national budget 

England without London £235,971,943 40.88% of national budget 

All of England £577,259,410 100% of national budget 
Source: Ministry of Housing Communities & Local Government 

 

From 2021/22 the Flexible Homelessness Support Grant and Homelessness 

Reduction Grant funding streams will be combined into the new Homelessness 

Prevention Grant. This funding has been increased by £47 million, to help local 

housing authorities support those who are at risk of homelessness, with greater 

financial control and flexibility. 

 

Table 5:  Homelessness Prevention Grant, Benchmark Group 2021/22  

Area Amount % of budget 

                                            
94 Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government. (2017). Flexible homelessness support 

grant – funding allocations formula explanation 

Page 156



 

115 
 

Fareham £279,229 0.09% of national budget 
0.66% of regional budget 

Hampshire £7,641,118 2.46% of national budget 

South East £42,581,971 13.7% of national budget 

England without London £174,690,326 56% of national budget 

All of England £310,000,000 100% of national budget 

 

The Rough Sleeper Initiative funding has been allocated to help more rough sleepers 

into accommodation, by delivering 6,000 additional bedspaces and 2,500 support 

staff nationally.  Fareham also helped to fund the creation of street outreach 

services, additional hostel accommodation, and specialist support to rough sleepers 

to help them remain off the street.   

Table 6: Rough Sleeper Initiative, Benchmark Group 2020-2021 

Area Amount % of budget 

Fareham and Gosport  £141,450 0.13% of national budget 
1.02% of regional budget 

Hampshire £ 2,490,268 2.2% of national budget 

South East £13,892,469 12.4% of national budget 

England without London £79,508,817 71% of national budget 

All of England £112,000,000 100% of national budget 
Source: Ministry of Housing Communities & Local Government 

 

The Next Steps Accommodation Programme short-term funding is for interim 

accommodation and support for those rough sleepers accommodated during the 

pandemic.  The funding was for activities such as helping people into private rented 

accommodation or helping to reconnect them with their community, as well as the 

procurement of interim accommodation.  This is revenue funding only and had to be 

used in 2020/21.  Alternative funding will be required for this to continue in the longer 

term. 

Table 6: Next Steps Accommodation Programme funding 2020/21 - Short term 

accommodation and intermediate support funding – revenue only, Benchmark Group 

2020-2021 

Area Amount % of budget 

Fareham £24,900 0.024% of national budget  
0.165% of regional budget 

Hampshire £2,492,700 2.37% of national budget 

South East £15,066,772 14.35% of national budget 

England without London £48,358,369 46.06% of national budget 

All England £105,000,000 100% of national budget 
Source: Ministry of Housing Communities & Local Government 

 

The capital stream of the Next Steps Accommodation Programme, allocated to 

secure new units of accommodation, had also been made available for use during 

2020/21.  This was to be used to bring forward long term move-on accommodation 

as part of a four-year £433 million programme to secure 6,000 additional supported 

homes in England, 3300 to be delivered in 2020/21. MHCLG guidance confirms that 

Page 157



 

116 
 

this funding allocation was for both capital and revenue based longer term 

accommodation provision, and that the deadline for delivering the new units of 

accommodation was 31st March 2021. Fareham Borough Council used their 

allocation to fund additional accommodation units. 

Table 7: Next Steps Accommodation Programme Capital Funding – Longer Term move on 

accommodation funding, Benchmark Group 202021    

Area Amount % of budget 

Fareham £129,575 0.08% of national budget 
0.59% of regional budget 

Hampshire £5,924,517 3.14% of national budget 

South East  £22,059,786 13.7% of national budget 

EWL £137,709,634 85.53% of national budget 

England £161,000,000 100% of national budget 
Source: Ministry of Housing Communities & Local Government 

 

6.2 People  
The Housing Options staff structure, shown below in Fig 1, consists of two senior 

officers, one responsible for homelessness and housing advice, and the other 

responsible for essential temporary and move on accommodation provision and 

management. The teams include officers with significant experience, particularly the 

team leaders, and those who are fairly new to the role, as well as temporary officers. 

This busy housing options service delivers homelessness, housing advice and 

housing register application services, and the accommodation team with 

procurement and management of both temporary accommodation and the FareLets 

scheme. 

In addition to managing the service the senior officer makes decisions on all reviews 

and appeals, supports the management of internal and external relationships with 

key agencies and represents the Council at external partnerships including StreetAid 

and Hampshire Homeless Officers Group.  The vacant housing options officer 

positions are currently covered by temporary officers. The team delivers both the 

housing options and housing advice services, including drop-in front-line provision, 

currently delivered over the telephone, plus managing the assessment of housing 

register applications.  

Like many front-line homelessness services, both teams are unable to manage the 

current demand for services in order to position themselves proactively and focus on 

prevention. The Accommodation Team comprises a senior officer, accommodation 

procurement officer and three Tenancy Support Officers. This team work together to 

secure temporary accommodation for homeless households, including social rented 

and private sector housing, as well as managing the FareLets scheme. The support 

that the team provide to both landlords and tenants has helped to increase the 

number of properties being managed, and the team leader is clear that there is room 

for expanding that number to help meet the demand for accommodation.  Expanding 

both the privately rented and homelessness temporary accommodation is needed 

Page 158



 

117 
 

now, and in the future, therefore full consideration of the critical level of properties to 

support hours will be required. 

There have been some limited informal benchmarking discussions regarding team 

structures, caseloads and training through the Hampshire Strategic Housing and 

Homeless Officer Groups, and general restructuring of the Housing Options service 

to meet demand, although the current structure is not providing the essential 

opportunity for such essential activities as case file auditing, training, comprehensive 

case file management, and other activities required in order to deliver an effective 

homelessness prevention service.  It is therefore a probability that additional officers 

and a revised structure are required to enable full investment of the time and 

resources needed at the earliest stage of customer interaction with Housing Options 

and Advice services, to focus on preventing homelessness.  This is however 

currently difficult to assess as many policies and internal procedures and processes 

are either not yet in place or requiring updating. It is worth mentioning that these 

would be updated whilst still carrying out the delivery of an increasingly busy service.  

In addition, for effective delivery of these services all housing options staff require 

regular, structured training regarding specific legislation such as the Homelessness 

Reduction Act 2017, Housing Act 1996, as well as housing advice provision, 

homelessness assessment, and best practice in homelessness prevention and this 

is not yet embedded. 

Diagram 1: Fareham Borough Council Homelessness Service staffing structure, June 

2020 

 

 

 

Head of Housing & 
Benefits

Senior Houinsg 
Options Officer -
Accommodation 

Accommodation 
Procurement & 
Management 

Officer

Allocations Officer
Tenancy Support 

and Visting Officer  
X 3 posts

Senior Housing 
Options Officer -

Homelessness and 
Housing Advice

Housing Options 
Officer x 6 posts

Housing Options 
Support Officer

Page 159



 

118 
 

6.3 I.T. 
The software and hardware available to the Housing Options service to help 

administer homelessness functions is effective in formulating personalised plans, 

case management, recording prevention activity, and other modules to help enhance 

the administration of homelessness functions, such as online forms, applications, 

reports, information packs, letter templates. Not all functionality is currently used, 

and the potential to support case management to a level which enhances service 

delivery, particularly in the use of personal housing plans, is not being realised as 

officers are not able at present to spend the time at the front of the process. 

The temporary accommodation, property and void management, is at the moment 

recorded separately.  A new housing management system has been procured for the 

Fareham Council social rented housing stock management, and housing register, 

and the temporary accommodation will also use this software. This does not 

integrate with the housing options, housing advice and homelessness software, so 

there may be duplication of records and liaison will be required between the teams, 

as well as ensuring records are updated.   

 

There is self-service housing advice in the form of a set of advice sheets on the 

Council’s website, but this is not comprehensive, requires updating and will need 

doing so on a regular basis, the use of such self-service systems is being 

considered. 

 

6.4 Conclusions about resources for tackling homelessness 
1. The Council must be congratulated for its decision to increase spend for 

tackling homelessness in the most recent financial year. The Council receives 
only a small annual grant from the UK government for tackling homelessness 
and whilst this budget is complimented by a range of other funding awarded 
by MHCLG, the relative amount awarded to the Council is always smaller than 
that compared to the county, region or elsewhere in England. The Council has 
done well recently to secure extra investment from MHCLG to tackle rough 
sleeping, securing short and long-term revenue and capital funding.  

2. The Council has done well to neatly align homelessness and housing advice 
functions alongside those for housing allocations and within a wider service 
area that also has responsibility for administering housing benefits. With 
increasing numbers of people seeking homelessness and housing assistance, 
existing staff levels are being stretched beyond their maximum capability. 

3. IT is being used to help drive efficiencies in the homelessness service. 
Investment of a new housing management software system will bring 
improvements to the temporary accommodation and housing register aspects 
of the service. Full functionality of all software system should be fully exploited 
and duplication between different software systems needs to be minimised as 
much as possible. The introduction of self-service housing advice module 
would help to reduce some demands on the staff team. 

   

  

Page 160



 

119 
 

7.0 Consultation  
This chapter shows the results from three surveys carried out with service users, 

housing options staff, and stakeholders. The surveys were carried out to gather 

quantitative data on people’s attitudes, opinions and experiences of homelessness in 

Fareham Borough Council. 

7.1 Service user consultation  
People with lived experience of homelessness were invited to complete an online 

survey which included a total of 12 questions, each with multiple choice answers and 

the option of providing additional comments. The survey was launched on 09th 

February 2021, a reminder email being sent 14 days after the initial invitation was 

issued, to people with no response or partial response. A total of 70 invites were 

sent, 74% of invitations were opened, 20% remain unopened, 6% bounced. 24% of 

respondents ticked through the survey, nobody opted out. Nine responses were 

received. 

One third of respondents describes themselves is now living in settled 

accommodation but previously homeless. One-fifth of respondents describe 

themselves as sleeping rough, with another one-fifth describing themselves as sofa 

surfing with friends, family or others. 

Chart 71: How would you describe your current experience of homelessness? 

 

Of those respondents that were currently homeless or threatened with 

homelessness, 44% had previously been homeless on another occasion, with a 

further 33% being homeless for the first time. 22% of respondents were not 

homeless at the point of completing this survey, therefore this question was not 

applicable to them. 

 

Chart 72: If you are currently homeless or threatened with homelessness, have you been 

homeless before this occasion, i.e. is this a repeat occurrence of homelessness? 

Statutory
homeless

Single
homeless

Street
homeless

Hidden
homeless

Own home
but at risk

Settled,
previously
homeless

Other –
please 
specify

0.00%

5.00%

10.00%

15.00%

20.00%

25.00%

30.00%

35.00%

Page 161



 

120 
 

 

55% of respondents reported that the best approach to preventing homelessness 

was, after obtaining accommodation, being helped to stop a repeat occurrence of 

homelessness.  Examples include, being given advice and support to retain 

accommodation. A further 44% reported that the best approach to preventing 

homelessness was to get assistance immediately before a crisis (for example up to 

two months for becoming homeless).  Examples include, being helped to stay in their 

current home or getting help to find somewhere else to live in the instances when a 

landlord issues a notice of eviction, parents are no longer willing/able to 

accommodate, or a relationship breaks down. A final 22% reported that the best 

approach for preventing homelessness was being helped early on (up to 2 years 

before becoming homeless).  Examples include, being given advice and assistance 

before leaving prison, care, beyond forces, hospital, or to escape domestic abuse, or 

when having mental health problems. 

Chart 73: What do you think works best to prevent homelessness? 

 

Yes No Not applicable

0.00%

5.00%

10.00%

15.00%

20.00%

25.00%

30.00%

35.00%

40.00%

45.00%

50.00%

Early on Immediately before a
crisis

stop repeat occurrence
of homelessness

Other (please specify)

0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

40.00%

50.00%

60.00%

Page 162



 

121 
 

When asked what they thought the best housing option is when homeless or 

threatened with homelessness, respondents rated all options equally, except for 

hostel accommodation which scored slightly lower. Low-cost homeownership was 

not seen as a valid option by any of the respondents. 

Table 74: When homeless or threatened with homelessness, what do you think is the best 

housing option? 

 

Two-thirds of respondents reported that the most important thing they needed help 

and support with when homeless or having been homeless, was with finding a 

house. Of second importance, respondents rated equally help and support with living 

independently, opportunities to socialise and find a job and budgeting and debt 

management. There was less weight given to help and support for rediscovering 

talents and interests, with only just over 10% of respondents saying this was 

important.  

Table 75: When someone is, or has recently been homeless, what is the most important 

thing they need help and support with? 

0.00%

5.00%

10.00%

15.00%

20.00%

25.00%

30.00%

35.00%

Page 163



 

122 
 

 

When asked how they think homeless funding should be spent, almost 90% of 

respondents said it should be targeted at more accommodation. Only one-fifth of 

respondents said funding should be targeted towards preventing homelessness and 

only a further 10% saying it should be targeted at extra support.  

Table 76: How do you think homelessness funding should be spent? 

 

There was almost an equal split of responses from males and females. 

Table 77: What gender are you? 

Living
independently

Finding a house Opportunities to
socialise and

find a job

Re-discovering
talents and

interests

Budgeting and
debt

management

Other (please
specify)

0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

40.00%

50.00%

60.00%

70.00%

80.00%

Preventing homelessness More accommodation Extra support

0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

40.00%

50.00%

60.00%

70.00%

80.00%

90.00%

100.00%

Page 164



 

123 
 

 

Just over half of all respondents were aged 21 to 24 years, with a further one third of 

respondents being aged 25 to 54 years, and just over 10% of respondents being 65 

to 74 years. 

Table 78: What age are you? 

 

The majority of respondents lived alone or had dependent children living with them.  

Table 79: Who else normally lives with you? 

Male Female Prefer not to say Other (please specify)

0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

40.00%

50.00%

60.00%

16- 17 18-20 21 to 24 25-54 55-64 65-74 75+

0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

40.00%

50.00%

60.00%

Page 165



 

124 
 

 

Just over three-quarter of respondents reported they were of a white ethnic origin, 

with just under one-quarter of respondents reporting they were of a mixed or other 

ethnic origin.  

Table 80: What is your ethnic origin? 

 

Respondents identified with a diverse range of characteristics, including pregnancy 

and maternity disability, and sexual orientation. 

Table 81: Do you identify with any of the following characteristics (Equality Act 2010 

protected characteristics) 

Partner Partner and
dependent children

Dependent children No-one Other (please
specify)

0.00%

5.00%

10.00%

15.00%

20.00%

25.00%

30.00%

35.00%

40.00%

45.00%

50.00%

White Black Asian Mixed Other (please
specify)

0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

40.00%

50.00%

60.00%

70.00%

80.00%

90.00%

Page 166



 

125 
 

 

Additional comments made by respondents are shown below. Overall positive 

feedback was given about people’s experiences of using the Council’s 

homelessness service. However, it’s important to note that there is also some 

dissatisfaction.  

“you’re doing amazingly considering how tough times are and the fact that some 

people just cannot be helped!” 

“I’ve been homeless for over two years now. No response from the Council” 

“Fareham Borough Council were a great during my homelessness and did a fantastic 

job in resolving it so me and my twins can now live in settled accommodation where 

it is safe. They acted fast on a safeguarding move as the area wasn’t safe for a 

mother and children. I will forever be grateful for how quickly they acted into 

resolving us not feeling safe in a temporary accommodation” 

“I really appreciate everything that a housing option officer from Fareham Borough 

Council has done for me! I felt as if no one cared in the world until she proved me 

wrong. Not only helping me with my homelessness, but with my feelings and 

thoughts! Very big well done to her!!! I think that the Council should employ more 

people that care and less people that just think it’s a job” 

 

7.2 Stakeholder consultation  
Organisations involved with tackling homelessness were invited to complete an 

online survey which included a total of 10 questions, each with multiple choice 

answers and the option of providing additional comments. The survey was launched 

on 09th February 2021, a reminder email being sent 14 days after the initial invitation 

was issued, to people with no response or partial response. A total of 25 invites were 

issued, 40% were opened and 60% were unopened. 36% were clicked through. Five 

responses were received. The low response rate doesn’t allow for analysis of trends; 

however, responses have been presented below for the purposes of completeness. 

0.00%

5.00%

10.00%

15.00%

20.00%

25.00%

30.00%

35.00%

40.00%

45.00%

50.00%

Page 167



 

126 
 

 

Table 82: Which type of organisation do you work for? 

 

Table 83: During the past five years, how have a number of cases of homelessness you or 

your organisation has dealt with changed? 

 

Table 84: During the next five years is there an expectation that the number of overseas 

cases you or your organisation might deal with will change? 

Fareham Council Hampshire County
Council

Public authority Housing
association

Voluntary
organisation

0.00%

5.00%

10.00%

15.00%

20.00%

25.00%

30.00%

35.00%

40.00%

45.00%

Increased? Decreased? Remained the same? Don't know

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

120.00%

Page 168



 

127 
 

 

Table 85: When preventing homelessness, in what order should the groups of people 

share and be prioritised (ranked from 1 to 7)? 

 

Increase? Decrease? Remain the same? Don't know

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

120.00%

Leaving
secure
estates

Leaving the 
care of 

children’s 
services

Leaving the
armed forces

Leaving
hospital

Escaping
domestic

abuse

Vulnerable
adults

Other

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

Page 169



 

128 
 

Table 86: When preventing homelessness, which is the most useful method to help 

someone remain in their existing home (ranked from 1 to 10)?

 

Table 87: When obtaining accommodation for someone who is homeless or threatened 

with homelessness, which is the best has an option (ranked from 1 to 7)? 

 

0
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

Page 170



 

129 
 

Table 88: When supporting someone who is, or has been homeless, how important are the 

following (ranked from 1 to 5)?

 

Table 89: Thinking about the resources needed to tackle homelessness, what should be 

prioritised for funding (ranked from 1 to 3)? 

 

Personalised
support

Mainstream
housing

Socialising and
work

Nurturing
strengths and

assets and
addressing needs

Addressing
financial and

material hardship,
tackling

challenging
behaviours

0

0.5

1

1.5

2

2.5

3

3.5

4

4.5

Prevention Accommodation Support

0

0.5

1

1.5

2

2.5

3

Page 171



 

130 
 

Table 90: Which type of homelessness do people who use your organisation typically 

experience?

 

An additional comment made by one stakeholder respondent is shown below. 

“People need a holistic approach, so that support is not just about the current 

housing circumstances, but is looking at how people can move forward into 

employment and independence” 

 

7.3 Staff consultation  
Employees of the Council with responsibility for administering homelessness duties 

were invited to complete an online survey.  This included a total of 10 questions, 

each with multiple choice answers, and the option of providing additional comments. 

The survey was launched on 09th February 2021, a reminder email being sent 14 

days after the initial invitation was issued to people with no response or partial 

response. A total of 11 invites were issued, 100% were opened and 0% were 

unopened. 11 responses were received. 

90% of respondents reported they were employed in an operational role, with just 

under 10% reporting they held a senior operational role. No responses were 

received from anyone who have a strategic role. These ratios accurately reflect the 

prevailing staffing arrangements.  

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

Page 172



 

131 
 

Table 91: Which type of role do you carry out for Fareham Borough Council?

 

Just over 80% of staff reported that numbers had increased in the past five years, 

the remaining employees being unsure as to whether there had been any increase 

or not. 

Table 92: During the past five years how have the number of cases you or your service 

that was changed? 

 

90% of staff expected the levels of homelessness to increase over the next five 

years, with only just under 10% of staff unsure of what might happen. 

Front line operational role?
(e.g. homelessness officer,

etc)

Senior operational role? (e.g.
homelessness team leader

or manager, etc)

Strategic role? (eg.,
homelessness strategy

officer, commissioning officer
etc)

0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

40.00%

50.00%

60.00%

70.00%

80.00%

90.00%

100.00%

Increased? Decreased? Remained the same? Don't know

0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

40.00%

50.00%

60.00%

70.00%

80.00%

90.00%

Page 173



 

132 
 

Table 93: During the next five years, how do you or your organisation expect the number 

of cases you might deal with to change?

 

People escaping domestic abuse were ranked highest in the order of those that 

should be prioritised for help to prevent homelessness, this was followed equally by 

vulnerable adults and those living in hospital. 

Table 94: When preventing homelessness, in what order should people be prioritised 

(ranked from 1 to 7)?  

 

Resolving tenancy issues or housing benefit problems was ranked first as the most 

useful method to help someone remain in their existing home. This was followed by 

mediation with family or friends and then negotiation or legal advocacy with landlords 

and tenants to resolve tenancy issues. 

Table 95: When preventing homelessness which is the most useful method to help 

someone remain in their existing home (ranked from 1 to 10)? 

Increase? Decrease? Remain the same? Don't know

0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

40.00%

50.00%

60.00%

70.00%

80.00%

90.00%

100.00%

Leaving
secure
estates

Leaving the 
care of 

children’s 
services

Leaving the
armed forces

Leaving
hospital

Escaping
domestic

abuse

Vulnerable
adults

Other

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

Page 174



 

133 
 

 

Private rented sector housing was a ranked as the best housing option, this was 

closely followed by living with family or friends and then supported housing. 

Table 96: When obtaining accommodation for someone who is homeless or threatened 

with homelessness, which is the best housing option (ranked from 1 to 7)? 

 

 

Personal rights support was ranked as the most important thing people needed help 

with, followed by addressing financial problems and tackling behaviours. Help living 

in mainstream housing was ranked the lowest, which is interesting given the primary 

focus of the service is to help people secure housing. 

Table 97: When supporting someone who is or has been homeless, how important are the 

following? 

0
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

Page 175



 

134 
 

 

Just over 80% of respondents thought that funding should be prioritised for 

prevention activities, such as housing advice helping people to remain in their 

existing home and obtaining alternative accommodation. Just under 10% of 

respondents ranked accommodation as being what funding should be prioritised for, 

such as affordable housing to rent or buy, emergency or temporary accommodation, 

etc. Just under 10% of respondents ranked support as being what funding needed to 

be prioritised for, such as help to recover well-being, improve relationships, live 

independently, manage money, etc. 

Table 98: Thinking about the resources needed to tackle homelessness, what should be 

prioritised for funding (ranked 1 to 3)?

 

Respondents reported that people experiencing street homelessness (e.g. sleeping 

rough) were most likely to use the Council’s homelessness service. This was closely 

followed by those who might be threatened with homelessness (e.g. at risk of losing 

their home within the next 56 days) and others who are statutory homeless (e.g. 

living in temporary accommodation).  Overall respondents reported that people 

experience in all forms of homelessness were broadly as likely to use the service. 

Personalised
support

Mainstream
housing

Socialising and
work

Identifying
strengths and

assets and
addressing needs

Addressing
financial and

material hardship
and tackling
challenging
behaviours

0

0.5

1

1.5

2

2.5

3

3.5

4

4.5

5

Prevention Accommodation Support

0

0.5

1

1.5

2

2.5

3

Page 176



 

135 
 

Logically, given the remit of the service, those who are formally homeless were less 

likely to be service users.  

Table 99: Which type of homelessness to people who use your service typically 

experience? 

 

Additional comments made by staff respondents are shown below. Two common 

themes emerge: Separating the administration of housing allocation functions away 

from the administration of homelessness functions, and a reluctance by respondents 

to rank applicants’ needs or circumstances as they view these to be equally 

deserving and/or too complex to put one apart from another:  

“The majority of approaches received are actually for the housing waiting list which 

was not an available option. The amount of approaches for the housing waiting-list 

exceeds any other type of approach, often with no actual need for social housing 

which over saturates the list and makes decisions less reliable. There should be a 

dedicated service for part seven approaches or there should be a clear statement on 

the website and on available resources the fact about the housing waiting list and its 

function” 

“It is difficult to accurately put the cases into numbers, as we deal with so many 

different cases on a day-to-day basis. Our role as housing officers encompasses not 

only HRA legislation and knowing the legislation to assist our customers, it also 

involves social work, counselling, mental health support, child protection knowledge, 

knowledge of all welfare benefits, probation, immigration services and debt advice 

amongst other services, to ensure that we provide an all rounded customer service 

to support and assist our customers. It is a challenging but rewarding job” 

“Question four: when preventing homelessness, in what order should the groups of 

people share and be prioritised – it is very hard to rank in a list as people’s 

situations, expectations and timescales are different and can lead to different 

priorities, so this might change each day, and people will overlap the categories. 

There are very, very few affordable private rented properties in this area, with 

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

Page 177



 

136 
 

barriers for people on low incomes being accepted as tenants. And not enough 

social housing, or right number of units of social housing that we need. Not enough 

supported accommodation schemes in the local area for young people. Question 

eight – they are all an equal priority. Too many people are sent to us by other 

organisations as they do not want to help them despite those organisations being the 

ones are best placed to do so and they know that we have a duty to assist that 

person – often leads to conflict between ourselves and different organisations at the 

detriment of the person concerned” 

“a lot of our time is spent on dealing with housing register issues which would be 

much better dealt with by a separate housing register team thus enabling us to focus 

on homelessness” 

“I am unable to rank many of the last four questions and answers into order as each 

case will be different depending upon the circumstances of the individual presenting, 

it is not simply a case that one size fits all, therefore the basis of this survey is biased 

by the inability to end no particular order option, and will give a false response” 

7.3 Conclusions about consultation  
1. Feedback from people who have had a lived experience of homelessness 

shows that they prefer to be provided with advice and support at the point of 
crisis and afterwards, rather than in advance. They are equally interested in a 
range of housing options that will allow them to live independently (with or 
without support) or return to living with their family. There is less interest in 
hostel type accommodation. They are clear that help with finding house is the 
most important thing that they need help with when experiencing 
homelessness and the funding should very much be concentrated on 
providing more accommodation. This is contrary to national and local policy 
and legislation that encourages a preventative approach to tackling 
homelessness. This reinforces some of the principles behind the rapid 
rehousing approach which is a concentration of Scottish homelessness policy 
and has also featured in English homelessness policy. 

 

2. The low response rate from stakeholders is unlikely to be representative of 
partner organisations interested in tackling homelessness. Throughout this 
Review stakeholders have demonstrated a keen willingness to provide 
information and evidence. Nevertheless, the limited number of responses 
doesn’t allow for analysis of trends. Given this, it’s important to consider how 
stakeholders might wish to be consulted in future about the delivery of 
homelessness strategy.  

 

3. Staff are of the view that homelessness has risen in the past five years and 
will continue to do so in the next five years, which broadly reflects the analysis 
of statistics and forecast made in chapter 2 of this report. Within the range of 
a limited variation, staff view everyone being equally important for being 
provided with support and believe all tools to help someone remain in existing 
accommodation or obtain alternative accommodation are equally effective. 
Compared to responses from service users, staff rate private rented sector 
and hostel accommodation more highly. The view from staff is that personal 

Page 178



 

137 
 

life support and funding prevention action are more important.  This is 
opposite to that of service users who views were that funding of 
accommodation was more important. It’s important to acknowledge the gap 
between established homelessness policy which is that of prevention and 
early intervention and the preferences of the intended beneficiaries.  This 
behaviour is likely to mean they will seek assistance at the point of crisis. This 
has implications for how the service is organised and promote what it can do. 

 

 

  

Page 179



 

138 
 

8.0 Findings 
This chapter re-visits the conclusions set out at the end of each chapter of the report. 

As a direct response to the conclusions are a series of recommendations. These 

recommendations are for the use of the local authority to prioritise actions for the 

next homeless strategy.  

8.1 Conclusions  
8.1.1 Levels of Homelessness 

1. Like most other areas, there is no systemic collection and analysis of statistics 
on hidden homelessness.  

2. Initial assessments are increasing, with prevent cases reducing and relief 
cases increasing  

3. Overall rates of homelessness locally are lower than those with comparator 
areas. Although local rates are increasing this is not the case in areas which 
are coterminous to Fareham.  

4. Following a four-year decline in the number and percentage of main duty 
decisions and acceptances, levels have begun to increase again. A main duty 
decision and acceptances are a less likely outcome in Fareham compared to 
elsewhere, suggesting action being taken to prevent or relieve homelessness 
is proven to be successful 

5. Persons of a black or other minority ethnic origin are less likely to seek 
assistance from the Council’s homelessness service compared to those from 
a white ethnic origin. The younger age profile of people getting homeless 
assistance is contrary to that of the population as a whole.  

6. People are much more likely to be found as intentionally homeless and having 
a priority need for accommodation. It is now less likely for someone to be 
found to be not homeless but more likely to be found as to not having a 
priority need. It is always been far less likely that someone has been found to 
have been intentionally homeless and having a priority need. 

7. Households which include a dependent child are more likely to be owed a 
main duty, despite rates falling over the past five years. At the same time, 
single people with physical and or mental health problems have more than 
doubled. Parents, other relatives, or friends no longer willing or able to 
accommodate continues to be the main reason for why a person loses their 
home when owed the main duty 

8. Allocation of social rented housing remains the most common method for 
bringing a duty to an end. It is positive that the numbers of people volunteer 
assistant occupied temporary accommodation has reduced over the past five 
years, as has people who become intentionally homeless from temporary 
accommodation. 

9. The reduction in rough sleeping is very positive, levels had begun to fall prior 
to the pandemic and rates accelerated downwards subsequently. Rough 
sleepers continue to more likely be male, UK nationals and aged over 26 
years. 

10. The rates of child poverty in Fareham have fluctuated in recent years, levels 
remain now what they were back five years ago. However, it is positive that 
champerty rates are considerably lower in Fareham compared to the 
benchmarking group.  

Page 180



 

139 
 

11. Fareham’s overall population has a high employment rate and a low 
unemployment rate compared to other areas. However, those who are 
homeless are much more likely to be unemployed compared to the general 
population and also not working due to long-term illness or disability. Just over 
half of all people claiming out of work benefits in Fareham are aged between 
25 and 49 years, this trend is mirrored in age profiles of those who are 
provided with homelessness assistance by the local authority or are found to 
be sleeping rough.  

12. Fareham’s higher than average house prices mean that there will be some 
considerable demand for affordable housing to buy or rent. The higher than 
average house price to earnings ratio for Fareham, means that many people 
will struggle to pay their housing costs. 

 

8.1.2 Activities to prevent homelessness 

1. More than half of all households seeking homeless prevention assistance 
featured a female as the head typically with responsibility for dependent 
children. Whereas households seeking homelessness relief assistance are 
much more likely to be a single adult, more than often male. Three-quarters of 
them are aged below 44 years, with almost one third of them being aged 
between 25 and 34 years.  

2. Homelessness prevention cases typically arise due to a landlord wanting to 
sell or re-let their property which result in them bringing an assured shorthold 
tenancy is to an end. Whereas homelessness relief cases typically arise due 
to family or friends no longer being willing or able to continue to accommodate 
someone.  

3. Helping people to move to alternative accommodation is the primary method 
for preventing homelessness. It is more common for people to become 
homeless than be helped to remain in their existing home. For those under a 
relief duty, the majority of them are not helped within the 56-day timeframe, 
but instead go on to be assisted under the main duty. However, it’s important 
to note that a growing proportion of people are or helped to obtain 
accommodation.  

4. Positive steps, such as the Hampshire-wide Duty to Refer protocol, have been 
taken as part of the introduction of the Duty to Refer legislation, to ensure 
public bodies can refer cases to the Councils homelessness service. 
However, referral rates are low with the National Probation Service being the 
primary referring agency.  

5. There is a clear suite of information available online about the Council's 
homelessness responsibilities along with practical information for people in 
housing need. However, there is a limit to the scope of this advice and not all 
of it is up to date. There is a provision of independent housing advice, part 
funded by the Council, which ensures people are able to get assistance to 
protect and uphold their housing rights. 

6. The StreetAid initiative has achieved tremendous outcomes, this should be 
promoted as an example of positive practice. 

7. Firm foundations for an effective working relationship with the probation 
service are already in place.  However, more could be done to establish a 
stronger partnership with the Youth Offending Team and the County Council’s 
Care Leaver Service. The various arrangements in place (some of which are 

Page 181



 

140 
 

shared with the neighbouring Gosport Borough Council) to support armed 
forces personnel are very positive. As is the current provision available to 
victims escaping domestic abuse. There is considerable scope for improving 
joint working arrangements around hospital discharge for people at risk of 
homelessness. Likewise, despite there being a range of mental health 
services available for people who are at risk of homelessness, much more 
work could be done to improve current working arrangements between the 
Council’s homelessness service and the County Council’s adult social care 
services.  

8. Following a substantial increase in successful homeless prevention action by 
the local authority there has been a considerable reduction following the 
introduction of the HRA17. Notwithstanding this, it is notable that applicants 
are more likely to be helped secure accommodation with benefit of financial 
payment from the local authority, suggesting that private sector housing is a 
primary solution for many people. This contrasts considerably to the high 
levels of people becoming homeless from the private rented sector. Prior to 
the commencement of the HRA17, the local authority was over reliant on 
preventing homelessness by assisting people to obtain alternative 
accommodation and very rarely was able to help people remain in their 
existing home. This contrasts with the national picture whereby outcomes 
were split fairly evenly between these two routes.  

9. There is some hugely positive practice going on between the Council’s 
homelessness service and its housing benefit service, which is enabling 
effective use of the Discretionary Housing Payment budget and helping 
people to access private sector housing. 

10. There is some smart joint working going on between the Council’s 
homelessness service and a range of other local government and voluntary 
sector services, which helps to tackle debt and private rented sector housing 
issues 

 

8.1.3 Activities to secure accommodation 

1. The diverse range of temporary accommodation used by the Council means it 
is more able to procure a range of accommodation in different areas of the 
Borough of different types.  

2. The number of households in temporary accommodation is typically lower 
than other areas in the benchmarking group, as are the number of children 
living in temporary accommodation. Notwithstanding this, households (more 
often headed by a lone female parent) with dependent children account for 
more than 50% of those occupying temporary accommodation.  However, 
there is also a considerable number of single persons placed in temporary 
accommodation. Where nationally there has been a considerable increase in 
the levels of temporary accommodation usage, locally usage of temporary 
accommodation has remained fairly static and is slightly lower now than it was 
five years ago. Despite this, levels of B&B use have increased recently.  

3. The overwhelming majority of people owed the main homelessness duty have 
been helped to secure social rented housing, with very few people being 
assisted to secure private rented housing. 

4. Fareham is bucking regional and national trends by increasing the number of 
people who are helped to secure accommodation when owed the relief duty. 

Page 182



 

141 
 

Typically, this is achieved by securing private rented sector accommodation. 
This success is a stark contrast to that of the situation with regards to people 
of the main homelessness duty.  

5. Considering the low proportion of private sector housing in the Borough and 
market rent being higher than LHA rates for single rooms, one bed and two-
bedroom accommodation, the Council is doing very well to help the number of 
people it does into private sector housing. The FareLets scheme is clearly an 
outstanding success.  

6. With the Council being one of the largest landlords in the Borough, owning 
almost 40% of all social rented housing, it was inevitable that the local 
authority would be the main provider of housing solutions to people facing 
homelessness. Despite some fluctuation in the overall number of households 
presented for allocation of social housing, numbers today are broadly the 
same as what they were five years ago. However, overall numbers are lower 
locally than all of the other benchmarking group comparators. Almost two-
thirds of housing register applicants are placed in the lowest band, with 
homeless applicants being in one of the other three higher bands, alongside 
the other one-third of applicants on the register.  

7. The appointment of a Welfare Support Officer has resulted in positive 
outcomes around tackling rent arrears. Despite a consistent ongoing demand 
for social rented housing, the number of new lettings has reduced 
considerably in recent years, falling each year consecutively, to a level that is 
less than half what it was five years ago. This results in fewer people being 
able to be offered social rented housing, meaning those who are more likely 
to secure a letting are more likely to be one of the groups entitled to a 
reasonable preference, which are typically characterised by people with 
multiple and complex needs.  

 

8.1.4 Activities to provide support 

1. Support to help people remain living with their family and friends or to avert 
the end of an assured short hold private rented sector tenancy is key to 
preventing homelessness. Support with these matters should be made 
available as early as possible to reduce the number of people seek assistance 
from the local authority in an emergency. For too many people, the reason 
why they lost their last settled accommodation remains unclear. 

2. The majority of people who seek assistance with homelessness have only 
one support need, it is important to recognise that there are significant 
numbers of people with multiple support needs. The support needs of those 
owed a duty of assistance by the Council is broadly reflective of that across 
the wider county, region, and country, however the total number of support 
needs is lower than comparative areas. A history of mental health problems, 
physical ill-health and disability, experience of domestic abuse, and history of 
offending behaviour are all commonly reported to support needs. 

3. The Council together with its partners, has achieved a tremendous success in 
reducing the number of people experiencing street homelessness, through the 
StreetAid initiative. Joint arrangements with Gosport Borough Council has 
brought about positive outcomes for both local authority areas. The diverted 
giving scheme has ensured that gifts and donations are channelled to those 
most in need. 

Page 183



 

142 
 

4. For a Borough of its size, Fareham is fortunate to have a range of hostel and 
other supported housing options, operated by nationally recognised reputable 
providers. The fact that such a provision exists is remarkable given the 
significant cuts that have been made nationally to supporting housing budgets 
over the past decade.  

5. There is some support available for young people at risk of homelessness, 
with all its organisations being particularly active in this area. However public 
sector services could be much more aligned in their working. Support for 
homeless vulnerable adults due to mental illness, physical disabilities and 
sensory disabilities or age patchy, and weather is provision this is due to 
effective working rather than planned and commissioned services.  

 

8.1.5 Conclusions about resources for tackling homelessness 

1. The Council must be congratulated for its decision to increase spend for 
tackling homelessness in the most recent financial year. The Council receives 
only a small annual grant from the UK government for tackling homelessness 
and whilst this budget is complimented by a range of other funding awarded 
by MHCLG, the relative amount awarded to the Council is always smaller than 
that compared to the county, region or elsewhere in England. The Council has 
done well recently to secure extra investment from MHCLG to tackle the 
sleeping, securing short and long-term revenue and capital funding.  

2. The Council has done well to neatly align homelessness and housing advice 
functions alongside those for housing allocations and within a wider service 
area that also has responsibility for administering housing benefits. With 
increasing numbers of people seeking homelessness and housing assistance, 
existing staff levels are being stretched beyond their maximum capability. 

3. IT is being used to help drive efficiencies in the homelessness service. 
Investment of a new housing management software system will bring 
improvements to the temporary accommodation and housing register aspects 
of the service. Full functionality of all software system should be fully exploited 
and duplication between different software systems needs to be minimised as 
much as possible. The introduction of self-service housing advice module may 
help to reduce some demands on the staff team 

 

8.1.6 Conclusions about consultation  

1. Feedback from people who have had a lived experience of homelessness 
shows that they prefer to be provided with advice and support at the point of 
crisis and afterwards, rather than in advance. They are equally interested in a 
range of housing options that will allow them to live independently (with or 
without support) or return to living with their family. There is less interest in 
hostel type accommodation. They are clear that help with finding house is the 
most important thing that they need help with when experiencing 
homelessness and the funding should be concentrated on providing more 
accommodation. This is contrary to national and local policy and legislation 
that encourages a preventative approach to tackling homelessness. This 
reinforces some of the principles behind the rapid rehousing approach which 
is a concentration of Scottish homelessness policy and has also featured in 
English homelessness policy. 

Page 184



 

143 
 

 

2. The low response rate from stakeholders is unlikely to be representative of 
partner organisations interest in tackling homelessness. Throughout this 
Review stakeholders have demonstrated a keen willingness to provide 
information and evidence. Nevertheless, the limited number of responses 
doesn’t allow for analysis of trends. Given this, it’s important to consider how 
stakeholders might wish to be consulted in future about the delivery of 
homelessness strategy.  

 

3. Staff are of the view that homelessness has risen in the past five years and 
will continue to do so in the next five years, broadly reflecting the analysis of 
statistics and forecast made in chapter 2 of this report. Within the range of a 
limited variation, staff view everyone being equally important for being 
provided with support and believe all tools to help someone remain in existing 
accommodation or obtain alternative accommodation are equally effective. 
Compared to responses from service users, staff rate private rented sector 
and hostel accommodation more highly. The view from staff personal life 
support and funding prevention action are more important. Their views are 
opposite to that of service users who feel that funding of accommodation was 
more important. It’s important to acknowledge the gap between established 
homelessness policy which is that of prevention and early intervention and the 
preferences of the intended beneficiaries who this behaviour is likely to mean 
they will seek assistance at the point of crisis. This has implications for how 
the service is organised and promote what it can do. 

 

8.2 Recommendations  
 

8.2.1 Current and future levels of homelessness 

1. Collect and analysis statistics on hidden homelessness to inform future 
bespoke intervention to help those who are sofa surfing.  
 

2. Continue to monitor overall caseload activity and adjust staffing levels 
accordingly 
 

3. Increase benchmarking with other areas, to better understand the context of 
homelessness in Fareham compared to elsewhere 

 

4. Analyse quarterly the rate of major decisions and acceptances, looking at 
what action was taken to prevent and/or relieve homelessness and whether 
anything more might have been done. 
 

5. Analyse quarterly the characteristics of people seeking assistance from the 
Council’s homelessness service and use intelligence collected to improve how 
the service is promoted and provided to everyone in the community. 
 

Page 185



 

144 
 

6. Monitor annually the reasons for loss of last settled home outcomes of 
households to track long-term trends to inform future prevention and relief 
activities. 
 

7. Increase the parameter of matters monitored via the annual rough sleeping 
count, to better understand how many people have newly flowed onto the 
streets, how many are stuck sleeping rough and how many are experiencing a 
repeat occurrence of street homelessness. 
 

8. Gather intelligence on child poverty rate at a ward level, to inform which areas 
might be targeted for early interventions to prevent homelessness.  
 

9. Continue to monitor employment circumstances of people seeking homeless 
assistance from the Council, share this data appropriately with colleagues in 
economic regeneration and at Job Centre Plus, to inform plans for making 
early interventions to prevent homelessness. 
 

8.2.2 Preventing homelessness 

1. Use information on the characteristics of people seeking homelessness 
assistance, to ensure the Council’s homelessness service is accessible to all.  
 

2. In conjunction with the Council’s private sector housing service, consult with 
private rented sector landlords to understand what could be done to prevent 
the end of an assured shorthold tenancies.  
 

3. Review the range, effectiveness and quality of initiatives being used to 
prevent and relieve homelessness. 

 

4. Additional steps should be taken to improve how the Council works with other 
public organisations to fulfil the Duty to Refer such as agreeing joint work and 
protocols, providing training, encouraging other bodies not subject to the duty 
to voluntarily comply with it, distributing more widely housing advice 
information, encouraging housing association that have not already signed up 
to the commitment to refer to do so, reviewing procedures for what needs to 
be done following receipt of a referral and adding a Duty to Refer button on 
the homepage of the Council’s website.  
 

5. Ensure there continues to be funding for independent housing rights 
assistance.  
 

 

6. Improve joint working with other public bodies by adopting protocols and 
shared working relationships: 

 
a. Prison/young offender releases  
b. Care leavers 
c. Ex-service Personnel 

Page 186



 

145 
 

d. Hospital discharges 
e. Adult social care 

 
7. Investigate further as to why levels of prevention activity have fallen since the 

introduction of the HRA17. Explore what could be done to increase successful 
outcomes due to reducing arrears or housing benefit shortfalls and by carrying 
out work to prevent evictions or repossessions from occurring, securing a 
return to family and friends or brokering access to supported housing. There 
should be a particular emphasis on improving interventions to help people 
remain in their existing home. 
 

8. Improve the collection of outcomes data from key partner agencies around the 
prevention of homelessness due to debt advice, enforcement action from 
private sector housing service and prevention of housing possession.  
 

9. Adopt a pre-eviction protocol with all local housing associations 
 

8.2.3 Securing accommodation  

1. Formulate and publish a Temporary Accommodation Procurement Policy and 
a Temporary Accommodation Allocation Policy, to ensure full compliance with 
relevant legislation. Both policies should seek to ensure sufficient 
accommodation is available to put an end to out-of-borough placements and 
the use of Bed & Breakfast. 
 

2. Use data held by the Council about occupants of TA, about household 
formation, needs of children, and last settled address, to inform future 
procurement of temporary accommodation.  
 

3. Increase the number of households whose main duty is ended by an offer of 
suitable private rented housing. This will help to reduce the length of time 
people have to remain in occupation of temporary accommodation. A 
consequence will be the greater frequency of freeing up of more units, 
contributing to wider efforts for ending the use of Bed & Breakfast 
accommodation.  
 

4. Explore options for increasing the number of households helped to secure 
private rented accommodation in an HMO or private rented lodgings. This 
type of accommodation will typically be of the right size for many applicants 
who are seeking assistance and will more likely be affordable to them. 
 

5. Continue to promote the FareLets scheme and ensure it is adequately 
resourced. 
 

6. Formulate a new Tenancy Strategy for the Borough, the focus of which should 
be to help deliver the priorities of the Council’s Housing Allocation Scheme 
and its Homelessness Strategy.  

 

8.2.4 Providing support 

Page 187



 

146 
 

1. Explore opportunities with the Council’s landlord tenancy services & estate 
management teams, private sector housing team and other neighbourhood-
based services, to identify at an early stage those at risk of losing their 
accommodation and to develop new ways to help people remain in their 
existing home.  
 

2. The Council should share the data it collects on support needs with key 
stakeholders such as the County Council’s adult social care service, the 
Community Safety Partnership, and local Probation Service staff, to inform 
discussions about future joint working arrangements and commissioning of 
suitable support services for those at risk of homelessness. 
 

3. Build on the existing success of tackling street homelessness by adopting a 
rough sleeping pathway by 
 

a. Agreeing arrangements with social and private landlords to rapidly 
rehouse rough sleepers into mainstream accommodation using the 
Housing First model 

b. Improve joint working with Jobcentre Plus for rough sleepers who are 
assisted to pursue employment (paid or voluntary) 

c. Continuing to provide a personalisation budget so that rough sleepers 
can address their financial and material hardship 

d. Improve relationships with voluntary and faith organisations who 
provide support to rough sleepers  

 

8.2.5 Resources 

1. Increase spending on homelessness in line with increases in the levels of 
homelessness. Continue to protect any budget surplus generated by the 
homeless service for reinvestment into prevention activities. Develop a long-
term funding strategy for the short-term grants that MHCLG currently offer. 
Carry out benchmarking activities with neighbouring local authorities, to 
determine whether the level of spend by the Council and investment from 
MHCLG is proportionate to other areas. 
 

2. The Council should benchmark its staffing arrangements with neighbouring 
local authorities, to determine whether its own staffing arrangements are 
sufficient. We recommend that additional posts are added to the existing 
staffing arrangements. The Head of Housing & Benefits has responsibility for 
the delivery of the homelessness strategy. The two Senior Officers between 
them take responsibility for ensuring case reviews take place, there is robust 
case file audits and other mechanisms to support staff with the continual 
improvement of their practice. An additional 1.5 Housing Options Officer posts 
should be enough to help with the increase of day-to-day casework 
administration. Two extra officers for procurement and management 
temporary accommodation will help to bring an end to out-of-borough 
placements and the use of Bed & Breakfast, as well as improve how 
temporary accommodation is allocated. Two additional officers to compliment 

Page 188



 

147 
 

the housing allocation functions will provide a better service to members of 
the public for whom their primary interest is housing register enquiries. 
 

3. Full functionality of all software system should be fully exploited and 
duplication between different software systems needs to be minimised as 
much as possible.  Consider the introduction of online self-service housing 
advice. 

 

8.2.6 Consultation  

1. Establish a forum of people with lived experience of homelessness, who can 
work with the Council to shape and inform policy and practice for tackling 
homelessness. This forum can also be involved with the delivery of the 
homelessness strategy action plan. 

 

2. Continue to work with the Hampshire-wide Strategic Housing Officers Group 
(SHOG) to collaborate on performance, benchmarking, joint commissioning of 
training, sharing of positive practice and policy, developing and continuously 
improving joint working arrangements.  

 

 

 

Page 189



 

 

 

Page 190



 
 

Report to the Executive for Decision 
11 October 2021 

 

Portfolio: Streetscene 

Subject:   Sustainable In-Bloom and Floral Displays  

Report of: Head of Streetscene 

Corporate Priorities: Protect & Enhance the Environment 

  

Purpose:  
This report sets out proposals for the future provision of the Council’s floral displays 
and In-Bloom activities, with a focus on the development of sustainable planting and 
activities which have the potential to make a significant contribution to the Council’s 
Climate Change objectives. 

 

Executive summary: 
Fareham is rightly proud of the high standard of presentation accomplished in its 
public spaces and the contribution made by community volunteers in maintaining 
this standard across the Borough. These displays help to reflect the Council’s vision 
of the Borough as a prosperous and attractive place to live and work. 

Due to the implications and imposed restrictions resulting from the coronavirus 
pandemic in the spring of 2021, the Executive approved alternative arrangements 
for floral displays and In-Bloom, at the Executive meeting in March 2021. 
 
These new arrangements maintained the high horticultural standards that have 
become familiar to Fareham residents, but offered greater biodiversity and a more 
sustainable and less resource intensive maintenance regime, in line with the 
Council’s approach to climate change. The sustainability theme followed through to 
the annual In-Bloom competition which was run as a virtual event.  

The alternative arrangements were well received by residents and were supported 
by the members of the Streetscene Panel who endorsed the new sustainable 
approach on the proviso that there was continued community involvement. 

This report is seeking Executive approval to continue with this approach and make 
sustainability and community participation the key focus for In-Bloom and floral 
displays in the Borough going forward. This would be a first step in delivering the 
Council’s ambition to mitigate impact of climate change and increase biodiversity in 
the Borough. 

 

Page 191

Agenda Item 9(1)



Recommendation/Recommended Option: 
It is recommended that the Executive agrees the proposals set out in paragraphs 45 
to 53 in the report, to help deliver the Council’s Climate Change objectives and 
increase biodiversity in the Borough. 
 

 

Reason: 
This report is seeking Executive approval to make sustainability and community 
participation the key focus for In-Bloom and floral displays in the Borough going 
forward. The focus will be on the development of sustainable planting and In-Bloom 
activities which have the potential to make a significant contribution to the Council’s 
Climate Change objectives and increase biodiversity in the Borough. 

 

Cost of proposals:  
The cost of introducing the proposals can be met from within existing budgets but 
once established the sustainable planting could achieve revenue savings of circa 
£15,000 per annum in reduced bedding and material costs.   
 

 
Appendices: None 

 
Background papers: None 
     
Reference papers:  

 
01 March 2021 Executive Report - Interim Arrangements for Floral- Displays and 
In-Bloom 2021. 
 
15 July 20021 Streetscene Panel Report – Floral Displays and In-Bloom 
Arrangements 

Page 192



 

 
 

 

 
 

Executive Briefing Paper 
 

Date:   11 October 2021 

Subject:   Sustainable In-Bloom and Floral Displays  

Briefing by:   Head of Streetscene 

Portfolio:   Streetscene 

 
 

INTRODUCTION 

1. As a result of the pandemic, that struck in the Spring of 2020, the traditional planting of 
floral displays was suspended, Fareham In-Bloom took place as a virtual competition 
and there was no entry in South East In-Bloom.  

2. Due to the ongoing implications, and imposed restrictions resulting from the coronavirus 
pandemic in the spring of 2021, the Executive approved alternative arrangements for 
floral displays and In-Bloom at the Executive meeting in March. 

3. The report to the March Executive set out proposals for alternative colourful floral 
displays. These displays maintained the high horticultural standards that have become 
familiar to Fareham residents but offered greater biodiversity with a more sustainable 
and less resource intensive maintenance regime, in line with the Council’s approach to 
climate change. The sustainability theme followed through to the annual In-Bloom 
competition which was run as a virtual event.  

4. The alternative arrangements were well received by residents and were supported by 
the members of the Streetscene Scrutiny Panel who endorsed the new sustainable 
approach on the proviso that there was continued community involvement. 

5. This report is seeking Executive approval to continue with this approach and make 
sustainability and community participation the key focus for In-Bloom and floral displays 
in the Borough going forward.  

6. Included in the report is a series of proposals as a first step towards the Council’s 
ambition to reduce the use of natural resources and to help mitigate impact of climate 
change. 

BACKGROUND 

7. In December 2020, 70,000 bulbs were machine planted on Segensworth roundabout 
and herbaceous planting added to the cemetery display beds, as part of a sustainable 
bedding trial. The bulbs have provided a biodiverse mix of 14 colour species which are 

Page 193



pollen and nectar rich, helping to support early season insect life and provide a colourful 
display from March until May.   

 
8. Three display beds in Roman Grove, Wickham Road and Crofton cemeteries were 

planted with a predominance of herbaceous perennials that provide a changing palette 
of colour, texture, and shape. The main season of display is from late spring to autumn 
with the addition of winter structure in the form of small evergreen shrubs and 
underplanting of small spring flowering bulbs for early colour.  As well as providing a 
vibrant display of colours, the planting scheme is also beneficial to wildlife using both 
nectar and pollen rich cultivars. 

 
9. The herbaceous plants and bulbs remain in situ permanently, require no watering after 

the first season and produce an annual seasonal display. The maintenance regime is 
much less intensive and achieves a reduction in carbon emissions due to the reduction 
in vehicle and machinery use required for maintenance visits.   

 
10. In 2021, the pandemic and associated restrictions meant that traditional summer 

bedding was planted in the Civic Gardens, Westbury Manor, and the Sensory Gardens 
only. All other floral beds in the Borough were planted with an annual wildflower 
meadow seed mix which provides a burst of vibrant colours when the plants bloom in 
the summer and provide a food source for pollinating insects and other wildlife.  

11. No hanging baskets or floral troughs were erected in the Borough, but several floral 
pyramids were provided in West Street, Fareham town centre shopping area, to provide 
welcoming eye level displays. 

 
12. Organisation and preparation of the In-Bloom competitions relies on assistance from 

many support volunteers who help with events, open their gardens, and liaise with the 
wider community. 

13. Understandably COVID-19 had an impact on people's personal lives, priorities, and 
interests. As a result, the indication is that the volunteer network, that has been a key 
component of Fareham In-Bloom, will reduce with some of the more senior volunteers 
no longer able to continue.   

14. Local businesses have continued to support the sponsored roundabout initiative 
throughout the pandemic. Although the style of traditional floral displays has changed, 
the relevant signage displaying the sponsor’s name and logos has remained in a 
prominent position on the key strategic roundabouts in the Borough.  

FLORAL DISPLAYS 

15. Fareham is rightly proud of the high standard of presentation accomplished in its public 
gardens and other areas of strategic planting in the Borough. These displays help to 
reflect the Council’s vision of the Borough as a prosperous and attractive place to live 
and work. 

16. Traditional bedding and other floral display features are designed each season by the 
Council’s Horticultural Officer and the plants purchased under a tendered contract with 
a supplier.  

17. The traditional seasonal bedding schemes require removal and re-planting twice a year. 
There is a display team of three gardeners whose job is to maintain all the floral 
displays and formal parks in the Borough. Previously when the summer bedding was 

Page 194



being planted, three additional gardeners were moved from duties in the grounds 
maintenance team to make a display team of six for a five-week period. This team then 
reduced to five for a further eight to ten-week period to cover the watering of the 
bedding displays, which is dependent on the weather conditions. 

18. Fareham’s traditional bedding is transported by road twice a year from the producer in 
West Sussex and many of the plug plants and seed used in the designs are sourced 
from around the world. This is not a sustainable approach and adds to the carbon 
footprint of the product. Plastic trays and pots are also used to grow the plants ready for 
delivery and keeping traditional bedding irrigated during hot dry spells in the summer 
can use over 30,000 litres of water in a week. 

19. The traditional floral displays in Civic Gardens, Sensory Gardens and Westbury Manor 
Gardens are either equipped with a dedicated irrigation system or have on site water 
points. This means that there is no requirement for bowser irrigation and therefore 
traditional bedding at these sites is less resource intensive to maintain. 

20. Hanging baskets and troughs have been traditionally erected throughout the Borough 
each summer. Two gardeners are re-deployed from existing grounds maintenance team 
for three weeks to erect the baskets and troughs at the start of the season and then a 
further two weeks at the end of the season to take them down. 

21. An additional staff resource is required to maintain and water the displays which means 
operatives performing other grounds maintenance functions must be redeployed at a 
busy time when grass and vegetation is growing prolifically. 

22. Vehicle journeys to irrigate and maintain the hanging baskets and roadside troughs 
average 138 miles a week throughout the relatively short 15-week season of display. An 
estimated additional 130 miles is travelled to erect and dismantle the baskets and 
troughs. Giving a total mileage for the seasonal 15-week basket and trough display 
period of approximately 2,200 miles.  
 

23. Floral towers are hired for a period of around twenty weeks from mid-June. They are 
placed predominantly in Fareham West Street’s pedestrianised area. The hire company 
places the units in position, maintains and waters them. They also come with insurance, 
so should they fail or suffer significant vandalism they would be replaced. 

FUTURE FLORAL DISPLAY PROVISION 

24. The results of the 2020/21 trial sites have been successful and provide a sustainable 
and attractive alternative to traditional floral bedding. Replacing some of the traditional 
floral displays will help to reduce the Council’s carbon footprint whilst also reducing the 
amount of water that is needed to keep the traditional seasonal displays in prime 
condition.  

25. Reducing the use of water is a key target for the south east region as climate change 
predictions indicate drier and warmer summers that will put increased pressure on water 
supply availability.    

26. Public demand for open spaces to be managed more sustainability and a desire to 
focus on biodiversity and resource reduction is growing year on year. This has been 
recognised by organisations such as the environmental charity, Plantlife, who produce 
the good verge guide, and Friends of the Earth.  
 

Page 195



27. The South and South East In-Bloom organisation has also placed increased importance 
on these issues by the introduction of two new awards in 2021 for the competition as 
outlined below.    

 
28. A new Community Award has been introduced - The Planting with A Purpose Special 

Award: Plants play an important role in solving everyday problems and improving all of 
our lives, such as dealing with issues like noise and air pollution, heatwaves, and 
flooding, as well as climate change. This category focuses on how groups are using 
plants and gardens in creative ways to address specific challenges in their communities.  

29. South & South East In-Bloom is keen to understand the efforts being made by 
communities and groups to respond to the challenges of climate change and global 
warming.  Wetter winters and hotter summers put a tremendous strain on the 
environment, and they would like to know what a group or community is doing to 
respond to this locally.   

30. The In-Bloom Environmental Challenge Award, sponsored by Southern Water, seeks to 
find the groups/communities that contribute towards caring for our fragile environment 
and support a reduction in scarce resources such as water.  

SOUTH EAST & FAREHAM BLOOM  

31. Along with all other Council events, Fareham In-Bloom in 2020 was cancelled due to 
restrictions and concerns about the pandemic, and there was no entry in the South & 
South East In-Bloom competition.  

32. A virtual Fareham In-Bloom 2020 was launched as an alternative competition. 
Residents uploaded photos of their entries online and the most ‘liked’ photos were 
shortlisted with the winner being selected by a panel of judges.  

33. This proved a great success in enabling residents to participate in the competition with 
over 100 entries received and provided a sustainable way of judging the entries rather 
than having to drive around the Borough.  

34. The Executive approved the continuation of the virtual In-Bloom competition in 2021 
which saw the participation double with over 150 entries. 

 
35. The annual presentation evening for Fareham In-Bloom, which is normally held at 

Ferneham Hall, did not take place during the pandemic. Given that Ferneham Hall is 
now closed for the foreseeable future, there is an opportunity to present the awards in a 
different way that is more sustainable, both from a climate change perspective and the 
resources required to organise the event.  

36. Catering, printing, floral displays, and the many vehicle journeys involved in the setting 
up for the event and for participants to attend and staff and volunteer resources required 
to organise and deliver the event are significant.  

37. Several of the In-Bloom volunteer group were required to shield during the pandemic 
and were unable to leave their homes, so were unable to participate in the coordination 
of activities in the community. The vulnerability of the volunteers who play such a big 
part in the organisation and success of the In-Bloom activities was a big concern and 
continues to be so in the current environment. 

38. Over recent years there has been a growing number of independent entries into South 
East In-Bloom from community groups and businesses in the Borough. In 2020, 

Page 196



Titchfield In-Bloom, Portchester Memorial Gardens, Portchester Crematorium, Wynton 
Way Horticultural site, Red Barn Allotments, Fareham Allotment & Garden Association 
and Burnham Wood Residents Association submitted their own entries.  

39. All the events associated with In-Bloom require lead in time from inception of an idea 
through to planning, promotion and ultimate delivery and rely heavily on volunteer 
support. Without this vital support, it has not been feasible to deliver a programme of 
events to support a main entry as has traditionally been the case. The indications are 
that previous levels of volunteer support will not be likely to return.   

40. The Council has established good relationships with several business sponsors which 
enhance the delivery of the In-Bloom competition entries as well as providing financial 
support. This includes funding for elements of the judging day and wider activities, as 
well as their support for events and promotion which has been a key part of Fareham’s 
success. The indication is that these businesses wish to continue that support.  

41. The traditional centre piece for the Fareham entry is the small city category which 
requires advanced preparation of the route and attendance by different community 
groups on judging day. Given the logistical challenge of preparing and organising the 
entry for judging, it was agreed by the Executive for 2021 to not enter in the small city 
category.  

42. In 2021 there were entries for the sites listed below, which require limited preparation 
and minimal social contact for judging. In addition, local businesses and 
neighbourhoods made independent. Next to each of the entries is the level achieved 
after the 2021 judging which gives a good indication on the high level of excellence that 
continues to be achieved. 

 Portchester Crematorium – Gold 

 Portchester Memorial Gardens – Gold 

 Civic Gardens – Gold 

 Westbury Manor- Gold 

 Sensory Garden – Gold and category winner in small park of the year  

 Warsash Common – Gold 

 Portchester Common – Gold 

 Coldeast Conservation – Silver Gilt 

 Two neighbourhood entries Red Barn Allotments and Burnham Wood 
Residents received a level 4 Thriving award. 
 

43. The above entries are considered sustainable and can be managed within the current 
Streetscene resources. By entering the above sites and continuing to develop and 
encourage community driven entries, Fareham can continue to play its part in a 
respected campaign that delivers social and environmental benefits, including pride of 
place, environmental awareness, and community participation.    

44. The focus going forward for Fareham In-Bloom will be to help and support the 
community and local volunteer groups with independent planting schemes that are 
sustainable and promote biodiversity. Fareham In-Bloom and the volunteers have 
developed a reputation for delivering excellence in floral displays with community 
participation. This knowledge, experience and commitment can help Fareham In-Bloom 
champion the Council’s ambition to reduce the use of natural resources and to help 
mitigate impact of climate change. 

PROPOSALS 

Page 197



45. In line with the Council’s commitment to reduce the impact of climate change, the 
proposal is to continue to develop an alternative approach to traditional seasonal 
planting and prepare environmentally friendly, more sustainable options based on 
specific site suitability.     

46. Given the success of the sustainable planting trials, it is proposed that the majority of 
the traditional bedding features alongside roads and on roundabouts, is replaced with 
the new styles of planting and wildflower beds, from 2022.  

47. Traditional floral display bedding will be planted in the Town Centre Civic Gardens and 
Westbury Manor Gardens to ensure this style of horticulture is still a feature in the 
Borough, but at a much-reduced level, to help the Council meet biodiversity, carbon 
emissions and climate change goals.    

48. The Sensory Gardens will be transformed into a sustainable garden which will become 
an exemplar public space promoting biodiversity and sustainable horticulture. The aim 
will be to prepare the gardens for entry into the South East In-Bloom Challenge Award 
in 2023. 

49. There will be no hanging baskets or floral troughs, but the floral towers in the pedestrian 
area of West Street will be retained as they provide a welcome burst of eye level colour 
to help improve the visitor experience for users of the main shopping area.  In response 
to the request from members of the Streetscene Scrutiny Panel, officers will look at 
options to provide these in Portchester and Stubbington district centres.  

50. The Fareham In-Bloom resident’s gardening competition will continue as a virtual event 
providing every resident and business in the Borough with the opportunity of submitting 
photos of their entries for judging online. This offers the opportunity for wider 
participation and a more sustainable approach to judging than travelling around the 
Borough to visit entries.  

51. Options for enhancing the competition awards presentation event will be explored with a 
focus on sustainability and community involvement. Consideration will be given to 
organising the presentation in the Mayors Parlour, with the Mayor presenting the prizes 
to the winners. This would be for up to 30 people with the winners and a guest, 
volunteers and sponsors invited.   

52. Entry into the Green Flag Award for Holly Hill Woodland Park and Sensory Gardens will 
continue as in the previous years. 

53. There will be a focus on supporting and developing community volunteer groups to 
enter the South and South East In-Bloom neighbourhood competition and to strengthen 
the volunteer involvement with entries from the main parks and conservation areas but 
there will no entry into the Small City category.    

 

CONCLUSION 

54. The preparation and maintenance of the extensive traditional seasonal floral displays 
and competition entries are very resource intensive and place pressure points of 
demand on the Streetscene team and in particular the ground’s maintenance service 
during times of the service’s peak seasonal workload. 

55. Prior to the Pandemic, Streetscene had been looking at options to introduce more 

Page 198



sustainable planting of floral bedding in conjunction with the Council’s Climate Change 
objectives. The trial planting of sustainable bedding has proved a success and has the 
potential to provide a viable alternative to the traditional approach and can contribute to 
reducing the impact of climate change and enhance biodiversity. 

56. The pandemic that hit in the Spring of 2020 resulted in alternative provision being made 
for the Borough’s floral displays and horticultural competitions.  This continued in 2021, 
with approval from the Executive, and has provided colourful floral displays which have 
maintained the high horticultural standards that have become familiar to Fareham 
residents but are more sustainable. 

57. Feedback received from the public has indicated strong support for the sustainable 
planting that enhances the biodiversity of the Borough. 

58. The “new normal” that is emerging post pandemic and the Council’s climate change 
objectives, provides a unique opportunity to review the way floral displays and the In-
Bloom activities are delivered. 

59. This report sets out proposals to continue with the development of sustainable planting 
and activities which have the potential to make a significant contribution to the Councils 
Climate Change objectives and increase biodiversity in the Borough. 

RISK ASSESSMENT 

60. There are no significant risk considerations in relation to this report. 

 

Enquiries:  For further information on this report please contact: Mark Bowler (Ext 4420) 

  
 
 
 
 
  

Page 199





 
 

Report to the Executive for Decision 
11 October 2021 

 

Portfolio: Policy and Resources 

Subject:   Agency Staff Recruitment 

Report of: Director of Support Services 

Corporate Priorities: A dynamic, prudent and progressive Council 

  

Purpose:  
This report considers the tenders received for the provision of Agency Workers for 
Fareham Borough Council.  The report recommends an award of contract for the 
Council’s Preferred Supplier List for agency services. 
 
 

 

Executive summary: 
A list of Preferred Suppliers of Agency Workers was last awarded in 2016.  
 
This report provides the Executive with information regarding the tenders received 
and seeks an award of a new Preferred Supplier contract for a 4-year long term 
agreement for the provision of agency workers. 
 
 

 

Recommendation/Recommended Option: 
It is recommended that the Executive agrees to award the contract for the Council’s 
Preferred Supplier List for agency services on our agreed terms to the Agency 
Worker Suppliers set out in confidential Appendix A to the report as the Agency 
Worker Suppliers are deemed to be the most suitable to cover the breadth of skills 
and role requirements within the Council. 

 
 

 

Reason: 
To establish a range of specialist temporary worker providers to match the range of 
skills required from time to time to support the Council’s operation.  
 
 

 

Page 201

Agenda Item 10(1)



Cost of proposals: 
The cost of agency workers in 2020/21 was £487,100. Agency costs continue to be 
funded from existing revenue budgets. 
 

 
 
Appendices: Confidential Appendix A – Tenders received and 

Evaluation Scores 
 
Background papers: None 
  
Reference papers: None 

Page 202



 

 
 

 

 
 

Executive Briefing Paper 
 

Date:   11 October 2021 

Subject:   Agency Staff Recruitment 

Briefing by:   Director of Support Services 

Portfolio:   Policy and Resources 

 
 

INTRODUCTION 

1. This report considers the tenders received for the provision of Agency Workers for 
Fareham Borough Council.  The report recommends an award of contract for the 
Council’s Preferred Supplier List for agency services. 

BACKGROUND 

2. In September 2008 the Council introduced a Preferred Supplier List (PSL) for the 
engagement of temporary agency workers. The PSL was one of a number of initiatives 
aimed at reducing the need for and spend on agency workers within the Council.   

3. A corporate project in financial year 2006 showed the Council spent in excess of £1M 
with 40 different agencies. It was found that there was no consistency in agency worker 
pay rates, terms and conditions, agency charge rates, introduction fees and temporary 
to permanent fees across the Council.   

4. The PSL operates under terms and conditions produced by the Council which any 
agencies wishing to join the PSL must agree to. The terms and conditions cover 
employment vetting, quality and service standards, an agreed rate of pay for the 
workers based on FBC salaries and a consistent fixed margin (charge rate) paid to the 
Agencies.  

5. Since its introduction in 2008, the PSL has provided the Council with a range of 
agencies to work with, offering the types of temporary workers that we need, e.g. admin; 
operatives and some technical/professional workers.  

 TENDER PROCESS AND EVALUATION CRITERIA 

6. The current PSL contract ran from 1 October 2016 to 30 September 2020 and was 
extended for a temporary period in October 2020 to allow for a new tender process to be 
completed.   

 

Page 203



7. The tender exercise provided an opportunity to review the existing PSL terms and 
conditions to confirm their fitness for purpose.  

8. The tender for a new Preferred Supplier List was advertised on 18 January 2021 and 
closed on 9 April 2021. The Council received 52 bid responses from Agency Worker 
Suppliers. (appendix A, table 1). Each Agency who submitted a bid provided details of 
the roles that it could provide workers for and agreed to sign up to the terms and 
conditions set by the Council. 

9. Fareham Borough Council has led the procurement process using its e-tendering 
portal.  The specification of requirements, the proposed operation of the PSL and 
the tender evaluation process (including criteria and weightings) have been 
established jointly by Procurement and HR. 

10. As per the tender document, the quotations received were evaluated in 
accordance with the criteria listed below: 

Award Criteria Weighting 

Cost  
Organisation’s acceptance of the framework agreement job 
pricing schedule with Charge Rate based on fixed margin of 
14% of Agency Worker Pay Rate. 
 
Acceptance of the Temp-to Perm (or transfer fee) terms set out 
for post 8 weeks (no charge). 
 
Organisation finders fee (including basis of charge) for 
appointments made prior to expiry of initial 8 weeks period.   
 

10% 

Service 
 
Suitability to be demonstrated for Single Point of Contact for 
Contract, Communication Standards, delivery of Out of Hours 
response for the Refuse Service and Contract Management  
 

40% 

Quality  
 
Suitability to be demonstrated on recruitment advertising and 
selection of suitable candidates, training of contract managers, 
feedback services for candidates and FBC managers and pre-
employment checks 
 

50% 

Total 100% 

 
11. The tender submissions were evaluated by an HR Business Partner in accordance 

with the criteria above.  The percentage scores for the tenders received are 
represented in the confidential appendix A (table 2) 

NEXT STEPS 

12. Fareham Borough Council will facilitate the intention to award notification and award 
confirmation.  

13. Award notification letters will be sent to all the Agency Worker Suppliers, who have 

Page 204



met our criteria, via the e-tendering portal.  

14. An OJEU standstill period of 10 calendar days must be applied before the contract 
can be implemented.  Only once implemented will the contract be able to 
commence in mid-October 2021 

CONCLUSION 

15. 52 tenders were received for the PSL for Fareham Borough Council for a 4-year 
long term agreement.  Of those 52 bids, 32 agency worker suppliers were felt to 
meet the evaluation criteria and are able to provide the range of skills and role 
requirements needed across all Council services. It is recommended that those 
agency worker suppliers (appendix A, table 2) be accepted and placed on the PSL 
for 2021-25. 

 

 

Enquiries: 

For further information on this report please contact Anna Good. (Ext 4429) 
 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 205





Document is Restricted

Page 207

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.





 
 

Report to the Executive for Decision 
11 October 2021 

 

Portfolio: Policy and Resources 

Subject:   Proposal for a new way of working 

Report of: The Deputy Chief Executive Officer 

Corporate Priorities: A dynamic, prudent and progressive Council 

  

Purpose:  
To seek approval for a new approach to the way we work. 
 

 

Executive summary: 
Before the COVID-19 pandemic, most of our staff worked in the Council’s offices, at 
other Council facilities (such as sheltered housing schemes) or worked across the 
borough maintaining our parks, collecting household waste, visiting people and 
homes, all with one thing in common; to provide high quality customer services 
across Fareham borough. 

Although we had already started the move to mobile and cloud-based ICT solutions, 
the pandemic led us to a rapid step-change in our use of mobile technology and 
working remotely.  What we learnt from this experience, is that many of our services 
can be provided very effectively through remote working, and this led to a review 
being undertaken to consider how we might build on this approach in the future. 
 
A vision for the way we work in the future has been developed, as set out in 
Appendix A to this report, and the Executive are asked to approve the new 
approach. 
 

 

Recommendation: 
It is recommended that the Executive agrees the vision for the new way of working. 
 

 

Reason: 
To enable the new approach to flexible working to be implemented. 
 
 

 

Page 209

Agenda Item 10(2)



Cost of proposals: 
There are no immediate costs associated with delivery of the vision, as the cost of 
technology investment and building refurbishment are covered in the approved 
capital programme, which is kept under annual review.   
 

 
Appendices: A: Proposed Vision for the Way We Work 
 B: Hybrid Working Employee Guide 
 
 
Background papers: Project documents associated with research and 

engagement.  
  
    
Reference papers: None

Page 210



 

 
 

 

 
 

Executive Briefing Paper 
 

Date:   11 October 2021 

Subject:   A Proposal for a new way of working 

Briefing by:   The Deputy Chief Executive Officer 

Portfolio:   Policy and Resources 

 
 

INTRODUCTION 

1. Before the COVID-19 pandemic, most of our staff worked in the Council’s offices, at 
other Council facilities (such as sheltered housing schemes) or worked across the 
borough maintaining our parks, collecting household waste, visiting people and homes, 
all with one thing in common; to provide high quality customer services across Fareham 
Borough. 

2. The Council was already embracing mobile technology, and our ICT strategy was 
moving quickly towards cloud-based solutions, to help support this.  However, the 
COVID-19 pandemic forced a step-change in the use of mobile technology and working 
remotely.  From this experience, it became clear that many of the Council’s services can 
be provided very effectively through remote working, and this report sets out how this 
approach will be developed in the future. 

THE APPROACH 

3. As it was clear that aspects of the Council’s COVID response had potential long term 
benefits, both in the way that services are provided, but also the flexibility offered as an 
employer, a review was undertaken to understand the issues and benefits of a remote 
working arrangement, learning not only from our own experience but also from those 
organisations that had established this hybrid approach well before the pandemic. 

4. As part of its research, an Officer review team was established to understand what a 
dispersed workforce arrangement would look like, how teams continue to interact 
effectively, the pitfalls in managing and working in a hybrid team, and how others have 
addressed these issues. 

5. The team engaged with 12 local authorities, an NHS Trust and 8 private sector 
companies, all of whom had adopted a hybrid approach and were willing to share their 
experiences. 

6. All employees had the opportunity to comment, and a comprehensive survey was 
undertaken in February, to understand the experiences of the workforce in the remote 

Page 211



working environment.  The survey also sought to understand what mattered to 
employees in these arrangements, the potential benefits from an employee’s 
perspective, and the concerns they may have if this arrangement was permanent. 

7. Discussions also took place with Heads of Service, to understand how well the 
organisation performed in transitioning to a remote working arrangement, the issues 
they were confronted with in managing a remote team and delivering customer facing 
services, and the tools they felt would be necessary to support them in managing a 
dispersed workforce permanently. 

KEY MESSAGES FROM THE RESEARCH WORK 

Engaging with Other Organisations 

8. It was clear that each organisation has its own particular motivation to move to a 
dispersed workforce, but there were some common themes that were highlighted, and 
these have been considered in preparing our vision for the way we work in the future.  
These were:- 

 Changing your workstyle should be considered a “culture change” programme, as 
it will require teams to think and operate differently. 

 This cannot be just about changing people’s place of work, and must also address 
the implications for technology solutions, data security, building and facilities, etc. 

 Trust is central to working within a dispersed workforce, and HR policies should 
reflect this, but with good management arrangements in place to address issues 
where they arise. 

 Permission to prudently adjust boundaries and learn from that experience, with an 
acceptance that not all ideas would be workable, allowed organisations to 
iteratively improve and develop solutions which worked best for them. 

 Adopting a corporate approach will ensure consistency and fairness, and provided 
that the new arrangements offer meaningful benefits to employee well-being, then 
it will result in a positive outcome, and make the Council a more attractive 
employer. 

 Managing a team proactively is critical to building team spirit, for example through 
regular physical and virtual team meetings. 

 Obvious benefits from a hot-desk approach can be achieved, provided there are 
sufficient desk spaces in the right places, to underpin a team ethos. 

 Everyone needs some “personal” space (such as storage, lockers, etc), and plenty 
of space to conduct virtual meetings without causing disturbance. 

 The transition to a dispersed workforce had removed some geographic boundaries 
as organisations could recruit staff with specific abilities which they had not been 
able to previously find locally. 

 

 

Page 212



Engaging with our Employees 

9. 233 office-based employees responded to the survey, half of whom work in front line 
customer-facing services.  The key themes from the survey were that while the majority 
of employees had not worked regularly from home prior to the pandemic, the 
experience had been generally very positive, and they were able to do their jobs very 
effectively. 

10. The flexibility offered by the Council enabled them to manage the competing priorities in 
their personal life, while still doing a full day’s work.  Issues such as caring 
responsibilities for relatives, childcare and school runs, personal commitments, etc, 
were all issues that our staff cited as important to them. 

11. On the whole, the technology and the work environment were suitable for staff to do 
their job and there was positive feedback about the remote support they received when 
things went wrong. 

12. There was a strong desire from our staff to continue some form of home working, citing 
a better work/life balance in a more focussed working environment whilst allowing them 
to juggle all the competing priorities in their daily life, as important aspects. 

13. It was, however, also evident that there remains a proportion who would not want to 
work at home permanently (12%), and irrespective of where they work, all staff 
expressed the value they placed on maintaining the links with their teams and 
relationships with their colleagues. 

14. Another 15% of respondents expressed a preference to work from home full time. 

15. There was also clear support for maintaining our town centre location as the office base. 

Engaging with our Managers 

16. It was clear that our managers recognised the benefits of home working and were 
generally very willing to embrace a remote working approach for their teams.  The need 
for a clear corporate approach was recognised as important, to ensure consistency 
across the teams, and also recognising that the ultimate priority is delivering services to 
our customers. 

17. Managers felt that the town centre location remained important to their staff and 
customers, especially as a base to use flexibly to meet with their teams. 

18. The issues that they felt should be considered if the Council moved to a more dispersed 
workforce were:- 

 How we will ensure the well-being of staff and maintain good morale; 

 How we can overcome “intuitive awareness” of issues within teams when they are 
not physically present; 

 The steps we can take to ensure team bonds do not weaken; 

 The importance of maintaining professionalism in the way we work; 

 The importance of robust technology to underpin working arrangements; 

Page 213



 The importance of data security while working remotely; 

 Balancing the needs of the team and the wishes of the employee; 

 Providing the appropriate training and support network to help managers manage 
in a different way. 

A Vision for the Way We Work in the Future 

19. Learning from the research and engagement work undertaken, a set of key principles 
were developed to guide the future way of working.  With the customer at the heart of 
what we do, it is important that we ensure that any new way of working still enables 
customers to access the services we provide. 

20. This is likely to mean enhancing our use of technology so we can offer services 
securely and in the way that our customers would want them.   

21. This will also require some new skills for staff and managers, to get the best from 
working differently, but always with the aim of being inclusive in offering flexible working 
arrangements and preserving the goodwill within the organisation. 

22. Appendix A to this report sets out the draft vision for the way we will work in the future.  

Our Vision for the way we work 

 We will be a flexible employer, offering working arrangements that suit 

the home and work life commitments of our employees.  

 Because the needs of our customers continue to be our most important 

consideration, the way we work will contribute positively to delivering 

customer services 

 We will be accessible when customers want to talk to us, using 

channels of communication that customers want to use. 

 A central location will always be important, but with a more dispersed 

workforce, it will be a smaller, multi-functional facility, with a focus on 

serving customers and the focal point for local democratic activities. 

 As a flexible employer we will offer flexible choices for where staff can 

work, whether it be at home, in the office or a blended approach 

 All employees can expect to be supported equally, no matter where 

they are based, and we will ensure staff have the right tools to do their 

job 

 We will encourage staff to manage their work and home life 

commitments in a way that best supports their well-being, and in return, 

we will trust that our staff will give “a fair day’s work for a fair day’s pay”. 

 We will equip our managers with the skills to manage a dispersed 

workforce and encourage measures that maintain a strong team ethos. 

THE VISION IN PRACTICE 

23. As we move forward with the vision for a new way of working we recognise that we will 

Page 214



need to adapt many of our working practises, our HR, ICT, Data Protection and 
Property policies and strategies will need to be reviewed, and we will want to be sure 
that our staff and our managers are well equipped with the skills to work in a different 
way.  This work is already underway and will evolve over time. 

24. There are clear benefits from retaining a central location for our office base, as it 
provides easy access for our customers, it supports the town centre economy and is a 
focal point for service delivery and civic/democratic activities. 

25. In practical terms, our new approach will present opportunities to make better use of the 
office accommodation by adopting a shared desk approach.  Consequently, there will 
be scope to consider further sharing of the Civic Offices with other partner organisations 
who may be looking to dispose of their accommodation as they adopt similar hybrid 
working.  There may also be opportunities to consolidate the use of space at the Civic 
Offices and Broadcut depot in the longer term, as the demands upon the depot space 
change, (due to the Government’s emerging waste strategy, for example).  

26. Future investment in the Council’s office buildings will take account of the changing 
demands arising from a new way of working and could result in positive outcomes in 
terms of reducing the Council’s carbon footprint. 

27. The Civic offices will also remain as the central location for democratic business, public 
meetings and civic activities, but the investment in new technology may offer 
opportunities to widen the Council’s reach to local communities, as was successfully 
achieved during the pandemic period. 

CONCLUSION 

28. Our response to the COVID pandemic has shown that we can provide the same high 
level of service in a variety of ways, whilst offering greater flexibility to our workforce to 
manage their work/life balance.  This vision embraces the lessons learned over that 
time, and with continued investment in technology and in our teams, we hope to attract 
and retain the best talent to continue delivering services to Fareham residents.  

 

 
 

 
 

Enquiries: 

For further information on this report please contact Andrew Wannell, Deputy Chief 
Executive Officer. (Ext 4620) 
 

Page 215



        APPENDIX A 

Vision for the Way We Work 
 
Introduction 
 
Before the COVID-19 pandemic, most of our employees worked in the Council’s offices, at 
other Council facilities (such as sheltered housing schemes) or worked across the borough 
maintaining our parks, collecting household waste, visiting people and homes, all with one 
thing in common; to provide high quality customer services across Fareham Borough. 
 
We were already embracing mobile technology, and our ICT strategy was moving quickly 
towards cloud-based solutions, to help support this.  However, the COVID pandemic very 
quickly moved us from a gradual transition to a step-change in our use of mobile technology 
and working remotely. 
 
What we learnt from this experience, is that many of our services can be provided very 
effectively through remote working.  We also learnt that, for some employees, working from 
home allowed them to manage their home and work life commitments more effectively. More 
broadly, less commuting meant less journeys on the local roads, which would have 
contributed to reduced congestion and improved air quality. 
 
This vision explains how we intend to build on the very significant steps in response to the 
pandemic, on a journey to become a more flexible employer. 
 

What Did Our Staff Think? 
 
In February 2021, we asked our employees about their experience working from home 
throughout the pandemic.  We also asked our managers about managing service delivery 
with a largely dispersed team.  This has helped us to understand what matters, as we shape 
our vision for the Council, as an employer, in the future. 
 

 
 
 
What we learnt from others 

Page 216



 
As we developed this vision, we wanted not only to capture the progress made already, but 
also learn from those organisations that have embraced a flexible, or dispersed, approach to 
managing their workforce and delivering services. We have engaged with other local 
authorities, other public sector bodies as well as a number of large private sector 
organisations, to understand how their experiences can influence our approach. 
 
As we adopt a more flexible approach in the future, we need to recognise that this is a culture 
change for many of our loyal and long-standing employees.  We have established a strong 
team ethos across the organisation, which has underpinned our approach to delivering 
customer services, and this must not be eroded. We also want to preserve the sense of 
identity within teams, as this encourages us to go the extra mile for our colleagues and our 
customers.  
 
Finally, we need to recognise that a different way of working will offer many opportunities 
which need to be harnessed, as well as new challenges, which need to be addressed.  This 
will ensure that the Council continues to offer excellent value for money for residents. 
 

 
Our Vision 
 
Our vision has been developed from a set of key principles. 
  
With the customer at the heart of 
what we do, we must ensure 
that any new way of working still 
enables customers to access 
the services we provide. 
 
This is likely to mean enhancing 
our use of technology so we can 
offer services securely and in 
the way that our customers 
would want them.   
 
This will also require some new 
skills for the workforce to get the 
best from working differently, but 
always with the aim of being 
inclusive in offering flexible 
working arrangements and 
preserving the goodwill within 
the organisation. 
 
 
 
 

 
 
  

 

Page 217



Our Vision for the way we work 

 

 We will be a flexible employer, offering working arrangements that suit the 
home and work life commitments of our employees  

 Because the needs of our customers continue to be our most important 
consideration, the way we work will contribute positively to 
delivering customer services  

 We will be accessible when customers want to talk to us, using channels of 
communication that customers want to use 

 A central location will always be important, but with a more dispersed 
workforce it will be a smaller, multi-functional facility, with a focus on serving 
customers and the focal point for local democratic activities 

 As a flexible employer we will offer flexible choices for where employees 
can work, whether it be at home, in the office or a blended approach 

 All employees can expect to be supported equally, no matter where they are 
based, and we will ensure staff have the right tools to do their job 

 We will encourage employees to manage their work and home 
life commitments in a way that best supports their well-being, and we will trust 
that our employees will give “a fair day’s work for a fair day’s pay” 

 We will equip our managers with the skills to manage a dispersed workforce 
and encourage measures that maintain a strong team ethos 

 
How Will this Work in Practice? 
 
When it comes to delivering our vision, we recognise that we will need to adapt many of our 
working practises, our HR, ICT, Data Protection and Property policies and strategies will 
need to be reviewed, and we will want to be sure that our employees and our managers are 
well equipped with the skills to work in a different way. 
 
With the flexibility to request a different work pattern, we expect to see our “office-based” 
employees working either at home, at the office, or a blended approach of the two.  As a 
result, we would expect to see fewer people in the Civic Offices or Broadcut Offices on a 
daily basis, and to take advantage of the need for less space, we will move to a desk sharing 
approach.  All teams will have dedicated areas to maintain team cohesion, but with fewer 
desks required, we will gradually release space for other uses.  
 
Provided that our customers can access our services during our normal operational hours, 
individuals may wish to spread their work over a longer working day, to help them 
accommodate home-life commitments (such as caring responsibilities, school runs, etc).  It 
will be for managers to agree working patterns within a corporate framework, to find the right 
balance for the team and each individual.   
 
It is important that we take an inclusive approach irrespective of where our employees are 
based.  Compliant workplace furniture and equipment will be essential to ensure the welfare 

Page 218



of our employees, and suitable ICT equipment to fulfil the roles is also a necessity, with ready 
access to all the support services. 
 
Managing a team and working remotely can be positive, but also brings with it its own 
challenges.  Our managers will be provided with training and guidance to manage a remote 
workforce and team events will be strongly encouraged.  Employees will need to attend the 
offices on a regular basis to maintain physical contact with their team, and a flexible 
approach to this will be important, to overcome peaks in work, sickness absence and other 
unforeseen pressures.  Arrangements will be needed to ensure all staff have an appropriate 
work environment and the right technology to do their job, to ensure we maintain the well-
being of individuals and uphold our professional approach to work. 
 
This flexible approach relies heavily on trust, and our policies will reflect this.  
 
 

 
 

 

 

Home-based worker 

 

 Home-worker IT supplied 

 Access to mobile 
technology on demand 

 Workstation must be 
compliant (FBC-supplied 
chair on request) 

 Requirement to attend 
offices (team bonding, 
etc), regularly (for 
example twice a month) 

 Performance based on 
outcomes 

 Can expect same contact 
from managers as office-
based colleagues   

Office-based worker 

 

 Fixed ICT supplied at a 
hot-desk 

 Uses hot desks in team 
zones 

 Personal locker space 

 Access to breakout spaces 
for online meetings 

 Access to fully enabled 
meeting rooms for “Teams” 
meeting 

 Performance based on 
outcomes 

 Can expect work to be 
shared fairly with home-
based colleagues 

Hybrid worker 

 

 Mobile ICT available for 
use at home and work 

 Access to hot-desk 
space in their team 
zone in the office  

 Optional fixed screens 
at home supplied 

 ICT docking space in 
the longer term for 
laptops 

 Personal locker space 

 Performance based on 
outcomes 

 

 

 
Other opportunities that we will explore 
 
Our vision will offer our employees the opportunity to change their traditional working pattern 
and benefit from an enhanced work-life balance.  But the transition to a new way of working 
also offers broader opportunities for other aspects of the Council’s day to day business, that 
we will consider as new arrangements bed in. 
 
Information and Communications Technology 
 

Page 219



The ICT Strategy determines the Council’s approach to investment in new technology, along 
with our approach to data storage, cyber security, networking and telephony.  The Strategy 
has been reviewed in light of the proposed new way of working and opportunities have been 
identified to support this vision.  This includes accelerating the transition to cloud-based 
solutions, improved network resilience and enhanced cyber-security measures.  These 
changes will be incorporated into the ICT Strategy and delivered by the ICT team over the 
next 2-3 years. 
 
Telephony arrangements will need to be improved, so that a more seamless approach to call 
handling can be achieved, irrespective of the location of our teams.   
 
And as our existing equipment comes to the end of its useful life, we will move to mobile 
solutions (such as laptops), so that we can fully benefit from flexible working arrangements. 
 
We have also undertaken a review of the technology that Councillors need in carrying out 
their roles, to ensure this is complementary to the operational arrangements for our teams. 
 
Customer Access Channels and Opening Times 
 
As we move to more flexible working arrangements and continue to expand our use of 
technology, this may present opportunities to broaden the channels available for our 
customers to contact the Council. 
 
For example, this could include our use of social media channels to communicate with 
customers, broadening customer access online and continuing the use of virtual media to 
engage with residents on important matters.   
 
As we embrace further technological developments, we would also review the Council’s 
normal opening hours, to ensure that customers can access our services when they need 
them, in a way that makes good use of the resources available. 
 
Operational Buildings and Planned Maintenance Programme 
 
The operational buildings (Civic Offices and Broadcut Depot) are significant corporate assets 
and consequently require periodic investment to ensure they remain fit for purpose and fully 
operational.  There are clear benefits from retaining a central location for our office base, as it 
provides easy access for our customers, it supports the town centre economy and is a focal 
point for service delivery and civic/democratic activities. 

The capital programme has c.£4m allocated for refurbishment works in the Civic Offices, the 
majority of which relates to replacing the dated windows and air handling, heating and 
cooling plant, which is approaching the end of its useful life.  Having established that a 
central location is important to our customers and our employees, work will proceed in 
delivering the refurbishment works.  
 
As we adopt a hybrid approach to working, there will be a lower demand for office floor space 
as more people work from home.  At the same time, our increased use of online meetings will 
mean that we will need more “quiet spaces” for people to use and a greater availability of 
spaces for regular team engagement.   
 
While it is important that we retain a sense of identity for every team space, our move to 
shared desks within teams will open up opportunities to create the necessary quiet spaces 
and meeting spaces that a hybrid approach will require.  

Page 220



 
A smaller floorspace requirement will also provide opportunities for other organisations to 
relocate to the Civic Offices (although it is acknowledged that demand may be limited at this 
time), or to explore consolidating all our office uses into the Civic Offices in the longer term. 
 
Our approach to heating, cooling and air handling in the future may also present 
opportunities to improve zonal controls.  In turn this will allow us to isolate the unused areas 
and reduce our energy consumption and our carbon footprint. 
 
Democracy and Decision-Making 
 
Embracing technology during the pandemic period extended to our democratic functions, 
allowing members of the public to view and engage in committee meetings virtually, for the 
first time.   
 
While many people still choose to engage in person, these added options have broadened 
the Councils openness and accessibility, and we will explore if this should continue in the 
future. 
 
 
 

Next Steps 
 
As we move towards the hybrid approach to working, the project team will continue to 
develop the necessary procedures to ensure that the transition is clear and seamless.   
 
The vision has been developed, taking account of the feedback from our employees, and it is 
important that we continue to engage not only with employees and union representatives, but 
also take account of customer expectations as well. 
 
Delivery of the new way of working needs to be an evolution, starting with the discussion with 
our workforce on their preferred individual approach.  This will inform our revised office 
layouts and our understanding of our floor space requirement. 
 
 

Summary 
 
Our response to the COVID pandemic has shown that we can provide the same high level of 
service in a variety of ways, while offering greater flexibility to our workforce to manage their 
work/life balance.  This vision embraces the lessons learned over that time, and with a 
continued investment in technology and in our teams, we hope to attract and retain the best 
talent to continue delivering services to Fareham residents.  
 
 

 

Page 221





 

 

APPENDIX B 

 

Remote Working 

Guide  

Page 223



 

 

Introduction  

This document sets out the Council’s approach to remote working and is applicable 
to those roles where all or some duties can be carried out from home or another 
suitable location.  
 
The purpose of this guidance is to build on the positive lessons learned during 
‘lockdown’ and to offer a more flexible approach to retain and attract talent by 
enabling a better work life balance for our employees. 
 
Remote working gives you the opportunity to request to change your traditional 

working pattern. The transition to a new way of working also offers broader 

opportunities for other aspects of the Council’s day to day business and for the 

flexibility of the services that we offer to our customers. 

Remote working requests 

In agreement with your manager, you may be able to split your time between 
attending your normal place of work (Civic or Depot Office) and working remotely 
(typically from home). In all cases, customer and service needs must be prioritised. 
 
Whether you can work remotely, and on what basis, will depend on the following: 
 

- The needs of the Council 
- The nature of your role 
- What is happening within your role and team at any given time 
- Working patterns in your team  
- Your individual circumstances and remote working environment 

 
We recognise that it will be particularly difficult from some roles to be fulfilled with a 

remote work pattern, however, Heads of Service will consider all requests to work 

flexibly on a case by case basis with support from HR.   

Your manager will need to consider what is necessary, in terms of working patterns 
and office cover to provide services to your customers. Your Head of Service will 
determine what times their teams need to be available to deliver their service and 
ensure they have the right people available to do so.  
 
You will be asked to request a consistent pattern but where possible we will allow 
flexibility to do more or less in the office or remotely with the prior agreement of your 
manager.  
 
We appreciate that remote working may not suit some employees. For example, you 
may not have appropriate space to work without distraction or would prefer to keep 
home and work separate. Remote working is not compulsory.  
 
If remote working is agreed, this will be at your request and does not change your 
contract of employment.  
 
If you wish to make a formal request for other forms of flexible working you should 
follow the Councils Flexible Working Policy.  

Page 224

http://sid/pdf/hr/Pay%20and%20Benefits/Flexible%20Working%20Policy.pdf


Changes to remote working agreements 
 
All remote working agreements will be subject to a trial period and kept under review 
so we can ensure they work effectively within the service.  
 
We recognise that your personal circumstances may change over time. You’ll have 
the right to ask to change your working pattern or return to office-based working. 
However, we would not expect to see overall working patterns changing regularly i.e. 
no more than once a year unless under exceptional circumstances. 
 
In some situations, it may be necessary for the Council to withdraw agreement for 
remote working, for instance if there are performance or well-being concerns or a 
detrimental impact to customers. If you move to a new role within the Council, your 
remote working agreement will need to be reviewed.  
 
Flexibility  
 
Given the degree of flexibility that remote working arrangements will provide you 
with, we expect you to be flexible in return.  
 
You’ll need to be able to attend the office at the request of your manager, for 
example for training and meetings that they have determined are best conducted in 
person, to cover customer rotas or to cover absence in the team. Notice will be given 
wherever possible.  
 
You may be expected to come into the office at short notice.  Whilst it is hoped this 
will only be under exceptional circumstances, you will need to consider the options 
available to you, so you can come in to the office if needed. In situations where a 
suitable ‘back up plan’ cannot be agreed to make short notice attendance possible, 
your manager may need to review your remote working pattern based on the needs 
of the service.  
 
You have a responsibility to review your working week to help decide on the best 
work location for each day. 
 
Your manager will have the ability to ask you to work from the office “full time”, where 

it is necessary to deliver the service (e.g. during holiday periods, for specific work 

tasks etc).   

There will be an expectation that all employees attend and work from the office 

periodically to promote team cohesion. If you have supervisory/management 

responsibilities, you will need to ensure that you have ‘face to face’ time with all of 

your team which may impact what type of working pattern can be agreed.  

We will encourage you to manage your work and home life commitments in a way 
that best supports your well-being.  
 

 

 

 

Page 225



What to think about when working remotely  

 
Trust will be central to the success of working remotely. Your manager will trust you 
to be working when clocked on and you will need to have considered a suitable 
working pattern that allows this trust to be maintained.  
 
You should be mindful that working from home may mislead family members about 
your availability. It is possible to become distracted and/or feel overloaded because 
you are presented with both work and home commitments and work longer hours 
because there isn’t a clear distinction between work and home.  
 
It is important you separate your work and personal time and plan your working 
day/hours, scheduling in appropriate breaks and switching work related technology 
off when you have finished work for the day. You must use common sense as to 
what circumstances should lead you to ‘clock off’ temporarily as you are unable to 
work.   
 
Real-life examples 
  
We have probably all experienced some of the following when working remotely: 
deliveries, neighbours knocking the door, caring responsibilities (children, pets, 
parents etc). The real-life examples below should help you with what is and isn’t 
acceptable when remote working.  
 
You can stay clocked on to answer a quick knock at the door or to take in a parcel or 
to move washing from the machine to the tumble dryer or to make a drink.  
 
On the flip side if you are having a furniture or supermarket food shopping delivery 
which might take more than a couple of minutes of your time or you have a big pile of 
washing to hang out and put away, or are making your lunch, you should be clocked 
off.   
 
If you have caring responsibilities at home, you will need to discuss a working 
pattern with your manager which balances these responsibilities with your focus on 
work. For example, if your children are independent, then it will be acceptable for you 
to work with them at home. If your child or someone you care for needs some 
supervision, you will need to discuss this in more detail with your manager.  
 
If your child is unwell and home unexpectedly or someone you care for at home 
needs more supervision than normal for a short period, this should be discussed with 
your manager at the time as more flexibility may be possible to clock on and off as 
required during the day so you can continue to work.   
 
You will need to be realistic about the focus you can give to work based on your 
demands at home when making your request and take a common sense approach to 
ensure your manager can trust you to be working as effectively from home as in the 
office.  
 
 
 

Page 226



Working Hours 
 
You must be available to colleagues and customers and working during the hours 
agreed with your manager.  
 
Customer opening and switchboard hours are Monday to Friday, 08.45-17.15 with 
the offices open for employees between 0800-1830. With your managers agreement, 
it may be possible to work remotely outside of these times subject to the needs of 
customers being met. This will be reviewed throughout the trial period. ICT support 
will not be available outside of 0800-1830 and you will need to make up time lost if 
you encounter an ICT problem.  
 
To help maintain your wellbeing, make sure that you take adequate rest breaks: 
 

 A Lunch break in line with the flexi time policy or department arrangements 

 A break of 30 minutes after working 6 hours continuously 

 A break of no less than 11 hours between stopping work one day and 
beginning the next. 

 
Technology and Equipment 
 
To assist you to work remotely, the following may be available based on your agreed 
working pattern: 
 

 
 

 

 

Home-based worker 

 

 Home-worker IT supplied 
 Access to mobile 

technology on demand 
 Workstation must be 

compliant (FBC-supplied 
chair on request) 

 Requirement to attend 
offices (team bonding, 
etc), regularly (for example 
twice a month) 

 Performance based on 
outcomes 

 Can expect same contact 
from managers as office-
based colleagues   

Office-based worker 
 

 Fixed ICT supplied at a hot-
desk 

 Uses hot desks in team 
zones 

 Personal locker space 

 Access to breakout spaces 
for online meetings 

 Access to fully enabled 
meeting rooms for “Teams” 
meeting 

 Performance based on 
outcomes 

 Can expect work to be 
shared fairly with home-
based colleagues 

Hybrid worker 
 

 Mobile ICT available for 
use at home and work 

 Access to hot-desk 
space in their team zone 
in the office  

 Optional fixed screens at 
home supplied 

 ICT docking space in the 
longer term for laptops 

 Personal locker space 

 Performance based on 
outcomes 
 

 

Page 227



You must take care of any equipment we provide you with and notify ICT of any 
faults with the equipment. All FBC equipment must be returned if your remote 
working agreement ends or you leave the Council. Requests for equipment should 
be sent to your manager. 
 
Use of Microsoft Teams and cameras for meetings will be a requirement for those 
working remotely.  
 
You must make full use of your outlook/teams calendar and out-of-office messaging 
to show your availability and you must be contactable by phone. 
 
Financial Assistance and Personal Home Policies 
 
You may be able to claim tax relief for any household expenses incurred as a result 
of working from home. If you wish to benefit from this tax relief, please visit the 
Government’s guide.  
 
You are advised to check any personal home policies or agreements you may have 
in case they contain specific terms relating to working from home.  
 
Health and Safety 
 

As you would in the office, when working remotely you should complete a 
workstation assessment to ensure your working set-up is appropriate and that you 
are working in a safe manner.  
 
You must also take responsibility for your own health and safety and that of anyone 
else who is affected by your work (for example others in your household when you 
are working from home). 
 
You may be required to provide photographs of your home workstation to assist with 
any safety assessment. Portable appliance testing (PAT) will be carried out for FBC 
equipment.  
 
You must notify your manager of any problems. 
 
Sickness Absence 
 

When working remotely, you should not work if you are unfit to do so and should 
notify your manager by telephone as soon as possible before you are due to start 
work.  
 
If you are unwell but feel able to work, remote working may be agreed on an ad-hoc 
basis or part time basis by your manager. This will also help the Council to avoid the 
spread of colds, flu etc in the office environment. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 228

https://www.gov.uk/tax-relief-for-employees/working-at-home


Claiming Mileage  
 
Your normal place of work will remain the same (Civic Offices, Depot, Sheltered 
Housing complex).  You will not be paid mileage for journeys from home to attend 
your normal place of work.  
 

If you need to claim mileage for sites visits undertaken from home, please ensure 
your normal commuting mileage is deducted from your claim before being 
submitted.   
 
If the journey mileage is less than your normal commute, you will be unable to 
claim.   
 
Flexi Time   
 
If you are scheduled to be working at home for the day and need to come to the 
office to collect documents for example, then you may remain clocked on for your 
travelling time. However, you are responsible for ensuring that you are working from 
the most practical location on any given day, so such occasions are expected to be 
infrequent. 
 
If you are scheduled to work at your normal place of work on any given day (on a 
rota for example) then you must only clock on upon arrival at work and clock off for 
lunch and when leaving the office at the end of the day.   
 
Wellbeing 
 
If at any point you feel your wellbeing is affected, either due to work or personal 
reasons, please ensure you speak to your manager or a member of HR so that the 
appropriate support can be put in place.  
 
Working away from the office could result in you feeling isolated, however, 
technology can facilitate visual contact with colleagues and customers via Microsoft 
Teams.  
 
For further information please refer to our wellbeing pages on SID.  
 
Data Protection when working remotely 
 
You are responsible for keeping Council information secure at all times when 
working remotely. The General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) and ICT 
security guidelines must be followed at all times.  
 
Specifically, when working remotely you are under a duty to: 
 

 keep all hard copies of work-related documentation secure 

 ensure that information is safeguarded when working in public spaces 

 position screens so that others cannot see any information 

 not leave your laptop unattended 

 not having confidential/business-sensitive conversations in public spaces. 

Page 229

http://sid/corporate/data_protection_and_foi/gdpr.aspx
http://sid/corporate/imictguides.aspx
http://sid/corporate/imictguides.aspx


 use any equipment provided for work-related purposes only 

 not allow any other household members or third party access at any time 

 report any potential data breach to your manager. 
 
New technology may mean you have the ability to work in public locations or other 
offices. Be aware of your surroundings and the potential for data breaches and 
ensure they are appropriate for the work you are carrying out (e.g. confidential phone 
calls). You must be contactable and ensure your manager knows where you will be 
working.  
 
If you have any questions regarding this guidance please contact a member of 
HR.  

Page 230



 

 

 
 

Report to the Executive for Decision 
11 October 2021 

 

Portfolio: Policy and Resources 

Subject:   The Council’s Approach to the Pandemic – A Review 

Report of: The Chief Executive Officer 

Corporate Priorities: A Dynamic, Prudent and Progressive Council 

  

Purpose:  
To review the performance of the Council as it responded to the challenges 
presented by the pandemic and to highlight any lessons learnt which might help to 
shape our organisation in the future. 
 

 

Executive summary: 
The Council provides a wide range of public services and, when a crisis hits, there is 
an expectation from local businesses and residents that those services will continue 
to be delivered. Therefore managers faced the double challenge of continuing with 
the “day job” in the face of a pandemic whilst also dealing with additional workload 
caused by the crisis.  
 
Enquiries for advice and assistance increased dramatically across all service areas, 
putting additional pressure on staffing resources. Volumes of household waste 
continued to grow as people stayed in their homes, and littering became a major 
problem in public areas where residents were taking their daily exercise. A serious 
public health crisis inevitably increased the workload of the environmental health 
team. 
 
In addition to these challenges, the Government also asked all Councils to take on 
new burdens such as issuing grants to local businesses, providing Covid Marshals 
to patrol the Borough, setting up testing centres, delivering food parcels to 
vulnerable people in the local community and securing emergency accommodation 
for all rough sleepers in the borough. 
 
In simple terms, workload increased dramatically for all Council employees and the 
high volume of demand continued for a sustained period. 
 
The pandemic caused a major shock to the Council’s finances and there was a 
need for a significant call on reserves to ensure that services could be provided 
during the crisis. The financial impact will be evident in the Council’s budgets for the 
next few years. 

Page 231

Agenda Item 10(3)



 

 

 
A structure was put in place to manage the Council during the crisis and individual 
recovery plans were formulated covering the following areas: 
 

 Workforce Recovery 

 Democratic Recovery 

 Services Recovery 

 Public Spaces Recovery 

 Community Recovery 

 Economic Recovery 

 Financial Recovery 
 
The coronavirus pandemic had a significant impact on the effective operation of the 
Council over a sustained period and many lessons were learnt from dealing with the 
crisis. Those lessons are being captured as part of the review of our emergency 
planning procedures but will also be evident in proposals for new ways of working in 
the future. 
 
There is no doubt that the success of the Council’s response over the last 18 
months has been down to the commitment and hard work of a dedicated workforce 
who were determined to continue to provide critical services in the face of adversity.  
 
Effective partnerships also played a crucial role in the Council’s response including 
such bodies as the Local Resilience Forum, the Police, the voluntary sector, SLM, 
Fareham Shopping Centre owners, the County Council and neighbouring District 
Councils.  
 

 

Recommendations: 
It is recommended that the Executive agrees that: 
 

(a)  the following reviews are undertaken and presented to the Executive for 
decision: - 

 future ICT provision for elected members; 

 establishing clear protocols on virtual briefing meetings; 

 new ways of working for office-based employees including more 
flexible home working arrangements and the future requirements for 
office accommodation and ICT; 

 the future of the Cash Office; 

 the Council’s approach to seasonal planting in the light of the lessons 
learnt from the pandemic period; 

 future parking need in Fareham Town Centre; and 

 service level agreements with One Community and Fareham CAB to 
reflect the lessons learnt from responding to the pandemic. 

 
(b)  an Economic Development Strategy for the Borough be produced; and 

 
(c) the proposal that future deputations can also be made in writing, or by a 

video or audio clip, be approved. 
 

 

Page 232



 

 

Reason: 
To act on the lessons learnt from responding to the pandemic, to ensure resilience 
and preparedness for dealing with a similar emergency situation in the future. 
 

 

Cost of proposals: 
The known costs of responding to the pandemic are on record as part of the 
Council’s budget reporting process. These costs are likely to increase as we assess 
the long-term impact on income streams. 
 

 
   
Background papers: None 
  
    
Reference papers:  
 

Covid-19 Recovery Plan (Framework) – Executive 3 August 2020 
Covid-19 Public Spaces Recovery Plan – Executive 3 August 2020 
Covid-19 Community Recovery Plan – Executive 3 August 2020 
Covid-19 Economic Recovery Plan – Executive 7 September 2020 
Covid-19 Emergency Revised Budget and Financial recovery Plan – Executive 
7 September 2020 
Covid-19 Emergency Decisions and Democratic Services Recovery Plan – 
Council 22 October 2020 

 

Page 233



 

 
 

 

 
 

Executive Briefing Paper 
 

Date:   11 October 2021 

Subject:   The Council’s Approach to the Pandemic – A Review 

Briefing by:   The Chief Executive Officer 

Portfolio:   Policy and Resources 

 
 

INTRODUCTION 

1. In early March 2020, the Council started to put emergency planning arrangements in 
place as a response to the emerging pandemic caused by the Covid-19 virus. Those 
emergency planning arrangements effectively continued for a period of nearly 18 
months. 

2. The purpose of this report is to review the performance of the Council as it responded 
to the challenges presented by the pandemic and to highlight any lessons learnt 
which might help to shape our organisation in the future. 

OVERVIEW 

3. The Council provides a wide range of public services and, when a crisis hits, there is 
an expectation from local businesses and residents that those services will continue 
to be delivered. Therefore, managers faced the double challenge of continuing with 
the “day job” in the face of a pandemic whilst also dealing with additional workload 
caused by the crisis.  

4. Enquiries for advice and assistance increased dramatically across all service areas, 
putting additional pressure on staffing resources. Volumes of household waste 
continued to grow as people stayed in their homes, and littering became a major 
problem in public areas where residents were taking their daily exercise. A serious 
public health crisis inevitably increased the workload of the environmental health 
team. 

5. Support services such as ICT, Human Resources and the Facilities Team were 
inundated with requests from managers trying to provide employees with the right 
equipment, advice and guidance to allow them to continue to provide services to the 
public in a safe working environment. 

6. In addition to these challenges, the Government also asked all Councils to take on 
new burdens such as issuing grants to local businesses, providing Covid Marshals to 
patrol the Borough, setting up testing centres, delivering food parcels to vulnerable 

Page 234



 

 

people in the local community and securing emergency accommodation for all rough 
sleepers in the borough, in line with its “Everyone In” policy. 

7. In simple terms, workload increased dramatically for all Council employees and the 
high volume of demand continued for a sustained period. 

STRUCTURE 

8. When a crisis hits, it is important that the Council puts a clear decision-making 
structure in place. As such, emergency planning procedures were implemented in 
March 2020 with the establishment of a special crisis management group under the 
leadership of the Chief Executive Officer. The Response and Recovery Group met 
“virtually” via Microsoft Teams on a regular basis throughout the pandemic, following 
a set agenda which ensured that all aspects of crisis management were covered. 

9. A special intranet site was established to ensure that the team could share real time 
information, and a Covid-19 dashboard was also created to monitor infection levels in 
the Borough and amongst the workforce. 

10. Decisions need to be made at pace during a crisis, and the Chief Executive Officer 
was able to maintain regular telephone contact with the Executive Leader to discuss 
the key issues and challenges being addressed by the Response and Recovery 
Group. This allowed timely decisions to be made whilst maintaining a democratic 
overview. 

11. The Group established a set of objectives to assist the emergency planning process 
and these were reported to a virtual meeting of the Council’s Executive on 3 August 
2020. The objectives are set out below: - 

Response Phase Objectives  

 Maintain essential/critical services and decision making.  

 Protect and support employees.  

 Support our residents, particularly those who are vulnerable.  

 Support our business community.  

 Stabilise the Council’s operations during lockdown.  

 Re-establish Council’s operations wherever possible and practical  

 
Adjustment Phase Objectives  

 Prepare and plan for the repopulation of employees to Council buildings.  

 Prepare and plan for customer visits/appointments to the Civic Offices.  

 Consider appropriate PPE where relevant, plan accordingly.  

 Continue improvement to working from home functionality.  

 Continue improvement to workplace functionality.  

 Undertake necessary measures to allow democratic decisions to continue.  

 Fully understand and plan for peaks in work as we move into ‘Recovery’.  

 Further develop and refine the Council’s Recovery Plan.  

 
Recovery Phase Objectives  

 Seek to restore social, economic and political wellbeing.  

 Seek to restore access to public spaces.  

Page 235



 

 

 Assist the Borough’s communities and businesses to recover.  

 Appropriately recognise and address the trauma caused by the pandemic.  

 Appropriately recognise the positives that arose from the pandemic.  

 Develop a clear action plan on how the Council will address the financial impacts of 
Covid-19.  

 Establish environmental positives arising from the pandemic and what can be carried 
forward.  

 Learn from the incident, revisit Business Continuity and Emergency Plans.  

 Review the Council’s Corporate Strategy to take account of the post Covid-19 position 
(if required).  

 Keep the objectives and actions of the Covid-19 Recovery Plan under review in order 
to adapt to any further Covid-19 related issues that arise.  

 

12. A Recovery Plan Framework was also put in place, and individual recovery plans 
were presented to the Executive during the first six months of the pandemic. The 
Recovery Plan Framework is illustrated below: - 

 

 
 

13. These elements will be reviewed later in the report. 

14. It is considered that, overall, the emergency structure outlined above worked well, 
providing a robust framework for decision making and planning for the duration of the 
crisis. 

COMMUNICATION 

15. Good channels of communication are an essential part of the Council’s emergency 
planning framework. The nature of the Covid-19 crisis meant that many employees, 
councillors and residents were isolated at home and were unable to tap into their 

Page 236



 

 

usual communication networks. Understandably, they wanted to know what was 
happening or how they could help to contribute to the Council’s overall response. 

16. Internally, the main method of communicating the work of the Response and 
Recovery Group was the special coronavirus e-bulletin produced by the Chief 
Executive Officer on a weekly basis. An early decision was taken to also copy the 
bulletin to elected members avoiding the need for duplication by producing a special 
members’ newsletter. 

17. The Executive Leader also took the initiative to set up virtual on-line briefings for all 
councillors. This provided an opportunity for elected members to be briefed by the 
Executive Leader and Chief Executive Officer and to ask questions and raise issues. 
Following the first national lockdown, these changed to briefings on a political group 
basis. 

18. In addition, managers were encouraged to hold virtual team meetings with groups of 
employees, and individuals, on a regular basis to ensure that staff did not feel 
isolated and were well informed of developments taking place across the Council. 

19. Of course, there were many depot-based employees who could not undertake their 
duties from home, and they were able to have regular face to face briefings with their 
managers. 

20. From a public perspective, the Council’s website provided the main source of 
information and guidance on all issues related to Covid-19 and this was supported by 
an ongoing social media presence. The Council Connect stand in Fareham Shopping 
Centre, public noticeboards and the bus shelters located across the Borough proved 
to be valuable assets for the display of important poster information. 

DEMOCRATIC RECOVERY 
 

21. The Council is a democratically led public organisation, so it was important to set up 
a process to allow Councillors to meet and take decisions. Initially, this was achieved 
through the Executive Leader delegating individual decision-making powers to 
individual Executive members, but as soon as the technology was available this 
moved quickly to virtual meetings of the Executive and Full Council. 

22. Unlike other non-Executive Committees, the Planning Committee continued as did 
the planning system nationally, following advice received from the Government’s 
Chief Planning Officer in March 2020. The Planning Committee meeting held on the 
13 May 2020 was Fareham Borough Council’s first ever virtual committee meeting. 

23. There was less urgency to set up the Scrutiny Panels as they were not decision-
making bodies. The postponement of these Panels between March and September 
was of significant benefit to officers, who needed to focus on delivering services 
during the early stages of the pandemic. Arrangements were in place to set up a 
meeting of the Policy and Resources Scrutiny Panel should the need for a call-in 
arise.  

24. Guidance was issued to all councillors regarding their role and the need to operate in 
a Covid secure manner. This was regularly updated throughout the period of the 
pandemic. 

Page 237



 

 

25. As the pandemic progressed, it became clear that the technology being used by 
some elected members was struggling to cope with virtual meetings and a new way 
of working. A review of members’ ICT was therefore undertaken, and the results will 
be presented in a separate report to be presented to the Executive at a later date. 
This includes a proposal to move to paperless committee meetings given the success 
of virtual meetings. 

Action: Undertake a full review of ICT provision for elected members. 

 

26. There is no doubt that the availability of Microsoft Teams technology made a major 
contribution to the way that the Council could continue to operate during the 
pandemic. The technology enabled councillors to participate in public meetings from 
the safety of their home. Live streaming of meetings to the public also meant that the 
debates and decisions could be transparent, avoiding the need for the public to 
physically attend meetings. The decision to allow deputations to be made in writing, 
or by video or audio clip also proved to be popular and it is recommended that this 
facility be retained in the future. 

Action: It is recommended that deputations can be made in writing, or by video or 
audio clip in the future. 

 

27. There are environmental benefits to keeping officer/member briefings as virtual 
meetings in the future as these are clearly more efficient in terms of time 
management and they also reduce the need for car travel. Councillors will be asked 
how they wish to use virtual meetings in the future.  

Action: Undertake a review and establish clear protocols on virtual briefing 
meetings. 

 
28. The other major challenge faced by both officers and members under the heading of 

“democratic recovery” was the need to organise local elections during a pandemic. 
Members will be fully aware of the constraints that they faced in campaigning for the 
elections. Similarly, Officers had to be as agile as possible in delivering a safe, 
transparent, and fair election process helped by a virtual army of paid volunteers. The 
combined efforts of many people fortunately led to a successful set of elections in 
May 2021. 

WORKFORCE RECOVERY 

29. The Council employs over 400 people in a variety of different roles. It was important 
from the outset to provide clear direction and guidance on safe working practices. 
Detailed risk assessments were undertaken by individual managers and the results 
were brought together in corporate “Covid Secure” guidance documents. These 
documents were regularly amended and updated to reflect new Government 
announcements. 

30. Working relationships with the Trade Unions remained positive throughout the period 
of the pandemic and this allowed timely decisions to be made regarding staff welfare 

Page 238



 

 

and safe working practices because of the good levels of trust that have been 
established on both sides. 

31. The HR Team placed a heavy emphasis on supporting the mental well-being of our 
employees, particularly those who were clinically vulnerable or had family members 
in that category. By working together to understand personal circumstances, HR 
Officers were able to provide tailored and supportive measures. Effectively, we 
sought to maximise the capacity and performance of our workforce at a time when 
we needed them most. 

32. Inevitably, we learnt a great deal from managing the crisis. Whilst many front-line 
employees were unable to work from home they did not complain. They 
demonstrated a clear loyalty and commitment to the Council and were determined to 
maintain public services such as bin collections, building control inspections, housing 
repairs, sheltered housing visits, cleansing and grounds maintenance throughout the 
crisis. The enforcement officers took on extra responsibilities as Covid Marshals to 
help provide support and reassurance to local people.  

33. The fact that these services are all provided by “in house” teams is worthy of note. 
They all demonstrated flexibility and were prepared to undertake a range of different 
duties to help the Council provide services throughout the crisis. Anecdotal evidence 
suggests that some of those Councils who contract out most of their front-line 
services struggled to achieve such flexibility as the new duties required were “not part 
of the contract”. 

34. The crisis also helped to identify a set of “core staff” required to keep the Civic 
Offices open. This was an important learning point which will be built into future 
business continuity plans. Future plans also need to recognise that our tenants 
require access to the building during a crisis. 

35. The majority of our employees were asked to work from home. Initially this placed 
enormous strains on the technology required to support home working. ICT 
equipment was in short supply and many struggled with adequate network 
connections. However, gradually, all employees were furnished with the right ICT 
equipment, connectivity and furniture to undertake their duties from home.  

36. As the pandemic progressed, it became clear that it was possible to still provide a full 
range of Council services with a mixture of home and office working. Employees also 
recognised that such an arrangement was a positive experience in terms of work/life 
balance. The Deputy Chief Executive Officer was therefore asked to lead a corporate 
group to look into the future options for more flexible working arrangements. The 
group was also tasked to look at the Council’s future requirements for office space 
and ICT equipment.  

Action: To undertake a review into “new ways of working” for office-based 
employees including more flexible home working arrangements and the future 
requirements for office accommodation and ICT. 

  

37. The results of the review are presented in a separate report on this agenda. 

 

Page 239



 

 

SERVICE RECOVERY 

38. The Council continued to deliver a wide range of services throughout the period of 
the pandemic although some adjustments needed to be made to comply with 
Government guidance. For example, Leisure Centres, the Museum and Community 
Centres were required to close. There were also some limitations placed on outdoor 
play areas, sports pitches and outdoor gyms, all at the request of the Government. 

39. In the early stages of the pandemic, it became clear that managers needed to 
prioritise services to ensure that resources could be used on critical services. A good 
example of this was the need to suspend the garden waste collection service for a 
few weeks to enable a concentrated effort on dealing with very large volumes of 
household waste. It was also necessary to deploy staff to different areas of the 
Council to assist with excessive workload, such as the issuing of emergency grants 
to local businesses. 

40. This prioritisation was carried out by the Chief Executive’s Management Team at an 
early stage when it became clear that our business continuity plans were not fit for 
purpose to deal with this particular crisis. A major learning point from the last year is 
that managers need to review and amend these business continuity plans in the light 
of their recent experience. 

Action: Review and rewrite all of the Council’s business continuity plans. 

 

41. The prioritisation process has proved useful in highlighting those critical services with 
high community impact, as well as those services which are nice to have but not 
essential. The latter will be reviewed over the coming months to determine whether 
there are opportunities to achieve future savings in these areas. 

42. For example, the cash office in the Civic Offices was closed for many months, and 
customers reverted to paying their bills on-line or by telephone. Since reopening the 
Civic Offices the number of transactions through the cash office has been very low, 
so it is proposed to undertake a full review into the possibility of closing the facility in 
the future. 

Action: Review the future of the Cash Office. 

 

PUBLIC SPACES RECOVERY 

43. A Public Spaces Recovery Plan was presented to the Executive on 3 August 2020. 
The report focused on the impact of the pandemic on urban and green spaces in the 
Borough.  

44. The plan recognised that public spaces form an important part of our Borough’s 
infrastructure and that they could be affected as a result of the pandemic, due to: - 

 Public concerns that the areas are crowded and likely to increase the risk of virus 
transmission;  

Page 240



 

 

 public concerns with the cleanliness of public spaces;  

 a lack of public toilet facilities could prevent people from using public spaces; and  

 a reduction in the use of facilities such as public car parks would result in low 
footfall for retail outlets and a loss of income for the Council.  
 

45. Working with partners such as Fareham Shopping Centre and Network Rail, actions 
were taken to manage the risks, including signage and improved cleaning regimes. 

46. Generally, the plan proved to be successful. Excessive littering of public spaces was 
a problem, but this was down to sheer volume of usage rather than the lack of bins or 
an adequate cleaning regime. The closure of skate parks also proved to be 
problematic as the users continued to pull down perimeter fencing erected by the 
Council.  

47. New seasonal planting arrangements were put in place as a temporary measure 
because of the difficulties in sourcing planting material. The new approach appears 
to be more sustainable and environmentally friendly and the Streetscene Team will 
continue to review whether the changes should be implemented on a more 
permanent basis. 

Action: Review the Council’s approach to seasonal planting in the light of the 
lessons learnt from the pandemic period. 

 

48. There is no doubt that the pandemic has had a major impact on the usage of public 
car parks in Fareham Town Centre. Usage has started to increase over recent 
months but is nowhere near pre-pandemic levels. It will therefore be necessary to 
undertake a review of the future parking need required in Fareham Town Centre. 

Action: Review future parking need in Fareham Town Centre. 

 

COMMUNITY RECOVERY PLAN 

49. The Council’s strong working relationship with the voluntary sector proved to be 
invaluable during the pandemic. Established organisations such as One Community 
and the Citizens Advice Bureau provided an essential safety net for local residents 
struggling with the impact of the national lockdown. Other voluntary organisations, 
such as Acts of Kindness, Portchester Community Association and Waypoint Church 
came forward to help with shopping and food delivery to vulnerable people in the 
local community. They were supported by hundreds of local residents volunteering 
their time to help during the crisis. 

50. This voluntary network was coordinated by the Council’s Leisure and Community 
Team and proved to be a very resilient and successful model. Those residents who 
needed support, or wished to volunteer, contacted the Council and were then 
signposted to the relevant voluntary agency who were happy to provide effective 
support. The lessons learnt from the crisis will be built into future Service Level 
Agreements with relevant community organisations. 

Page 241



 

 

Action: Review Service Level Agreements with One Community and Fareham CAB 
to reflect the lessons learnt from responding to the pandemic. 

 

51. The Executive Leader and the Mayor sent letters to hundreds of volunteers in 
recognition of their services to the local community, and the Council has also 
introduced a Covid hero award scheme for 2021. 

52. Leisure and community venues were severely affected by the crisis. The Government 
required leisure centres, theatres, museums, gyms, sports pavilions and community 
centres to close for a long period of time. This threatened the financial viability of 
those venues but, fortunately, the Council was able to provide support through the 
distribution of local and national grants. In the case of the two leisure centres in the 
Borough, the Council needed to renegotiate the terms of the contract with SLM to 
ensure the future financial stability of the venues. 

Action taken: A report was presented to the Executive outlining the new terms of the 
contract with SLM to operate Fareham Leisure Centre and Holly Hill Leisure Centre. 

 

53. The future viability of the new arts and entertainment venue “Fareham Live” needed 
urgent consideration and a report was presented to the Executive suggesting that the 
project was put on hold for a few months to assess the impact of the pandemic on the 
theatre industry. New terms have been negotiated with BH Live, the proposed 
operator of the new venue, to help spread the level of risk in the future. A report was 
presented to the Executive in September 2021 giving the project the green light to 
move forward.  

Action taken: A report was presented to the Executive reviewing the viability of the 
“Fareham Live” project and the contract terms with BH Live, the proposed operator. 

 

54. The Council also recognised the impact that the pandemic had on small community 
groups in the Borough. As a result, we introduced a new Fareham Lottery as well as 
a special small community grant scheme to help groups to get back on their feet. 

55. We can all recognise that one of the lessons learnt from the pandemic is the 
importance of access to a network of local leisure and community facilities. People 
need places to socialise as well as exercise and the sudden closure of these facilities 
had a significant impact on the lives of many local residents.  

ECONOMIC RECOVERY PLAN 

56. Clearly, the pandemic has had a major impact on the UK’s economy. The impact on 
the Borough’s economy will take time to measure but the obvious signs can already 
be seen in Fareham Town Centre with the permanent closure of a number of retail 
and restaurant units. The High Street was facing a number of challenges prior to the 
pandemic and it appears that the crisis has accelerated some of the changes that we 
expected to see over a much longer time period. The emerging Local Plan 
recognises the need for the regeneration of Fareham Town Centre.  

Page 242



 

 

57. One positive story from the pandemic has been the growth of Fareham’s Monday 
Market. Some forms of outdoor trading were allowed under lockdown rules and this 
emphasised the importance of the open market in Fareham Town Centre. The 
Council was able to offer incentives to market traders through the payment of grants 
and this resulted in a greater variety of produce which has proved to be popular with 
local residents. 

58. A report was presented to the Executive on 7 September 2020 setting out the 
Council’s Economic Recovery Plan. The Plan was informed by a detailed data and 
baseline analysis review of the Borough’s economy and set out recommendations on 
actions required to guide the economic recovery of the Borough over the short term 
(12-18 months). 

59. The Plan is the first of a two staged economic development programme for the 
Borough. The second stage will be a more detailed Economic Development Strategy 
for Fareham, which will set out a long-term vision for jobs, investment and 
sustainable growth. 

Action: Produce an Economic Development Strategy for the Borough. 

 

60. The purpose of this report is not to repeat the actions set out in the short-term 
Economic Recovery Plan but it is worth noting that, in response to the pandemic, the 
Council has created a new post of Economic Development Officer within the Planning 
Strategy Team. This post will support the Head of Service in developing and 
delivering the Economic Recovery Plan and Economic Development Strategy for the 
Borough. 

FINANCIAL RECOVERY PLAN 

61. An Emergency Revised Budget and Financial Recovery Plan was presented to the 
Executive on 7 September 2020. As well as recognising the extraordinary costs that 
were incurred to enable Council services to continue to operate effectively, the Plan 
also highlighted the widespread disruption to those services which generated 
significant income streams. These included, for example, car parks, trade waste, and 
commercial property. The costs associated with the leisure centre contracts were 
significant, and treasury investment income was affected by adverse cash flows and 
reduced interest rates. 

62. The impact of measures taken to support individuals and businesses were also 
evident in the Council’s cash flow position, with relaxed payment terms, immediate 
payment to suppliers, suspended debt collection activities etc, all reducing the net 
cash available on a daily basis. 

63. In recognition of the potential scale of the impact, the financial management and 
governance arrangements were strengthened, particularly in relation to  

 Cashflow monitoring 

 Service financial performance 

 Covid-19 response expenditure 

Page 243



 

 

 Income collection and arrears performance 

 Government funding opportunities 

64. Weekly monitoring and reporting to the S151 Officer were instigated, together with 
regular reporting to the corporate Covid-19 Response and Recovery Group. These 
measures ensured a high degree of awareness and enabled the corporate team to 
closely manage the financial risks. 

Action taken: Financial Management and Governance arrangements were 
strengthened to closely manage financial risks. 

 

65. In addition to managing the enormous shock to the Council’s finances, the Finance 
Team were also required to administer Government grants to local businesses as a 
matter of urgency. This put a great deal of pressure on the team and staffing 
resources were redeployed from other areas of the Council to help deal with the large 
volume of work. 

66. It also became apparent that the different funding streams being offered by the 
Government required a significant level of officer resource to apply for the funding, 
spend the money quickly to ensure that it benefited the local economy, and monitor 
the outcomes. Whilst this was managed effectively, a lesson learnt from the crisis 
was that, in future, we should allocate a named individual to take responsibility for 
each funding stream to ensure that we have the right controls in place.  

Action: In future emergencies, allocate special funding streams to named 
individuals. 

 

67. The impact of the pandemic on the Council’s finances were subsequently reported 
through the normal budget setting process and end of year accounts, so will not be 
repeated in this report. In summary, the crisis put massive pressure on the Council’s 
budgets and financial management processes requiring a heavy call on financial 
reserves. Finance staff were under enormous pressure to deliver grant funding 
according to Government guidelines but successfully managed to juggle their day job 
with additional duties for a sustained period of time. 

CONCLUSION  

68. As can be seen above, the coronavirus pandemic had a significant impact on the 
effective operation of the Council over a sustained period and many lessons were 
learnt from dealing with the crisis.  

69. Those lessons are being captured as part of the review of our emergency planning 
procedures but will also be evident in proposals for new ways of working in the future. 

70. There is no doubt that the success of the Council’s response over the last 18 months 
has been down to the commitment and hard work of a dedicated workforce who were 
determined to continue to provide critical services in the face of adversity. 
Councillors, quite rightly, have acknowledged the efforts of the workforce on a 

Page 244



 

 

number of occasions and demonstrated their support by allocating additional leave to 
all employees.  

71. Effective partnerships also played a crucial role in the Council’s response including 
such bodies as the Local Resilience Forum, the Police, the voluntary sector, SLM, 
Fareham Shopping Centre owners, the County Council and neighbouring District 
Councils.  

 

 

 

For further information on this report please contact Peter Grimwood (Ext 4300) 
  

Page 245




	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	8(1) Local Authority Delivery Phase 2 (LAD2) Funding scheme for energy efficiency measures to Council homes
	8(2) Draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy - Consultation
	Appendix A - Draft Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Strategy 2022-2025
	Appendix B - Draft Delivery Plan
	Appendix C - Review of Homelessness in Fareham

	9(1) Sustainable In-Bloom and Floral Displays
	10(1) Agency Staff Recruitment
	Agenct Staff Recruitment - Confidential Appendix

	10(2) Proposal for a new way of working
	Appendix B - FBC Remote Working Guidance

	10(3) The Council's Approach to the Pandemic - A Review

